University of Alberta

Analytical and Toxicological Characterization of Novel Nitrogen Containing Disinfection Byproducts

by

Jessica Marie Boyd

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Medical Sciences - Laboratory Medicine and Pathology

©Jessica Marie Boyd Fall 2012 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

ABSTRACT

Disinfection byproducts (DBPs) are an unwanted consequence of water disinfection. Consumption of chlorinated drinking water has been associated with an increased risk of bladder cancer; however, the DBP or DBPs responsible has not been identified. The N-nitrosamines are a class of DBPs that are known rodent carcinogens. They are more potent than the currently regulated DBPs and may be capable of causing health effects at low ng/L concentrations. Due to these possible health concerns, the study of nitrosamines in drinking water is warranted.

Gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GC-MS) is the main technique used for nitrosamine analysis, but cannot directly detect thermally unstable or non-volatile nitrosamines. A liquid chromatography tandem MS (LC-MS/MS) method was developed that is capable of detecting GC-detectable nitrosamines, such as N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA), and GC-non-detectable nitrosamines. Using this method, N-nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA), a thermally unstable nitrosamine, was detected as a DBP from an authentic drinking water sample. A survey of 38 North American drinking water systems using the LC-MS/MS method found that NDMA was the most commonly detected nitrosamine (28 of 38 systems) followed by NDPhA (6 of 38 systems).

A real-time cell electronic sensing (RT-CES) technique was developed and demonstrated as a useful tool for DBP toxicity testing. NDPhA was more cytotoxic than NDMA in four cell lines. Further mechanistic analysis determined that NDPhA induces cell cycle arrest, which is different than other nitrosamines such as NDMA. Studies on nitrosamine formation showed the important role of source water. Disinfectant type alone was not sufficient to determine which nitrosamines are formed. Additional studies determined that diphenylamine (DPhA) can form NDPhA, particularly in the presence of monochloramine. This reaction also formed phenazine and N-chlorophenazine. Further investigation determined that phenazine containing natural products produced by bacteria are also precursors for the phenazine containing DBPs.

These results suggest that the currently monitored nitrosamines are not widespread enough to be solely responsible for the observed increase in bladder cancer risk. However, there are several locations where elevated nitrosamine concentrations are a concern. Until the DBP cancer culprit is identified, reduction of overall DBP formation through source water management and careful monitoring of the disinfection process is the best practice to manage cancer risks posed by DBPs.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are many people to whom I am indebted to for their help and support during my Ph.D. program.

Firstly I would like to thank my family for their love and support over the past 6 years. I could not have done this without you.

To my supervisor, Dr. Xing-Fang Li, thank you for your support, guidance, and encouragement. Your confidence in me pushed me to do things that I would not have done on my own.

My doctoral supervisory committee, Dr. X. Chris Le, Dr. Jonathan Martin, and Dr. Elaine Leslie, has provided excellent advice and suggestions during my program. Thank you for all your help and support.

To Dr. Steve Hrudey, who gave me my first science job as a summer student in this lab: Thank you for your continued support and for always reminding me to keep my eye on the bigger picture.

To Dr. Jeffrey Charrois, who supervised me the first summer I was a research student (and whose advice about grad school being a black hole was naively ignored): Thank you for providing me with a firm foundation in how to be a research scientist. Your continued mentorship and friendship are greatly appreciated.

I have been privileged to work in a department with helpful, friendly and knowledgeable support staff. To Ms. Cheryl Titus, your knowledge about all things related to grad school made my life so much less stressful. Your support of students is greatly appreciated. To Ms. Dianne Sergy, thank you for all your hard work, your sense of humor, and your willingness to bandage up my fingers on occasion. And to Ms. Katerina Carastathis, thank you for all your help over the years. In particular, thank you for your support with the Safety Committee over the past year, which I could not have done without you.

I have been so lucky to work with such a large group of people as part of the AET Division. I would like to thank Dr. Yuan-Yuan Zhao, Dr. Feng Qin, Ms. Li Xie, Dr. Yanming Liu, Ms. Kerry Wong, Dr. Janna Anichina, Dr. Wenjun Zhou, Ms. Li Huang, Dr. Rupasri Mandal, Dr. Xiumei Han, Ms. Xiufen Lu, and Dr. Yuli Zhao for their help with my research. I have made so many friends here, but I would like to particularly thank Emily, Camille, Tony, Birget, Megan, and Kim. You guys made the hard days bearable and have completely ruined chocolate timbits for me.

Thank you to all our collaborators for the work presented in this thesis: Dr. Susan Richardson, Dr. Patrick Levallois, Dr. Christelle Legay, Mr. Matt Woodbeck, Dr.

Robert Andrews, Dr. Andre Schreiber, Mr. Allan Baier, and Dr. Gian Jhangri. Also, thank you to our funding sources: NSERC, Alberta Innovates, Alberta Health and Wellness, the Canadian Water Network, the University of Alberta, and the Water Research Foundation. In particular I would like to thank the Government of Canada and NSERC for funding my research through the Vanier Canada Graduate Scholarship.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>1</u> Int	roduction	<u> </u>
1.1	Importance of safe drinking water	1
1.2	Disinfection Byproducts (DBPs)	1
1.2.	1 Discovery of DBPs	1
1.2.2	2 Identification of new DBPs	3
1.2.	3 Human health concerns surrounding DBPs	3
1.3	Searching for the DBP cancer culprit	4
1.3.	1 THMs and HAAs	4
1.3.2	2 Searching for a more plausible DBP bladder cancer culprit	5
1.4	N-nitrosamines as DBPs	7
1.4.	1 Identification of N-nitrosamines as DBPs	7
1.4.2	2 Toxicity of N-nitrosamines	7
1.4.	3 Regulatory response to N-nitrosamines	9
1.5	Rationale and scope of thesis	10
1.6	References	13

Development of an SPE-LC-MS/MS method to detect N-<u>2</u> nitrosamines in drinking water 18 Introduction 18 2.1 Materials and Methods 23 2.2 2.2.1 General reagents _____ 23 2.2.2 Nine nitrosamine method _____ 24 Method specific reagents_____ 24 2.2.2.1 Standard solutions _____ 24 2.2.2.2 Extraction of Water Samples_____ 25 2.2.2.3 Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-2.2.2.4 MS/MS) analysis _____ 26 2.2.2.5 Collection and analysis of authentic water samples 28 Results and Discussion _____ 28 2.3

2.3.1	Development of the nine nitrosamine method	28
2.3.2	Identification of new nitrosamine DBPs in drinking water _	34

2.3	3.3	Quantification of nitrosamines in water	38
2.3	8.4	Distribution of four nitrosamine DBPs in a drinking water distribution system	39
2.4	C	conclusions	41
2.5	R	leferences	42

<u>3</u>	<u>Occ</u> wat	<u>surrence of nine N-nitrosamines in thirty-eight drinking</u> er systems in Canada and the U.S.A.	44
	3.1	Introduction	44
	3.2	Materials and Methods	48
	3.2.1	Reagents	48
	3.2.2	2 Sample collection	50
	3.2.3	Nitrosamine extraction	54
	3.2.4	Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry analysis	55
	3.3	Results and Discussion	56
	3.4	References	66

4 **RT-CES** method development and application to toxicity testing for emerging nitrosamine DBPs <u>69</u> Introduction 69 4.1 4.2 Experimental 72 4.2.1 Materials and cell culture conditions. 72 4.2.2 RT-CES cytotoxicity testing 73 Alternative determination of IC₅₀ 76 4.2.3 Cell enumeration, cell death, and cell cycle analysis. 76 4.2.4 4.2.5 Statistics 77 Results and Discussion 77 4.3 4.3.1 Method design_____ 77 4.3.2 Continuous monitoring of cellular response to NDMA exposure 79 4.3.3 Profiling cytotoxicity of different nitrosamines 83

4.3.4	Effects of nitrosamines on cell viability and cell cycle	86
4.4 R	References	93

<u>5</u>	Inves	<u>stigation of formation of N-nitrosamines during drinki</u>	ng
	wate	<u>r treatment</u>	<u>98</u>
	5.1 I	ntroduction	_ 98
	5.1.1	N-nitrosamine formation during water treatment	_ 98
	5.1.	.1.1 Nitrosamine formation from chlorine and chloramine	_ 99
	5.1.	.1.2 Nitrosamine formation from alternative disinfectants	100
	5.1.	.1.3 Research questions regarding nitrosamine formation	101
	5.2 N	Materials and Methods	104
	5.2.1	Formation of nine nitrosamines during disinfection of seven differ source waters	rent 104
	5.2.	1.1 Chemicals and materials	104
	5.2.	.1.2 Source water collection and characterization	104
	5.2.	.1.3 Disinfection treatments	105
	5	5.2.1.3.1 Disinfectant dosing	106
	5.2.	.1.4 Disinfection protocols	107
	5	5.2.1.4.1 Chlorine (OCl ⁻), chloramine (NH ₂ Cl) and chlorine dioxi (ClO_2)	de 107
	5	5.2.1.4.2 Ozone (O_3) and ozone followed by chlorine $(O_3/OCl^2)_{-}$	108
	5 5	5.2.1.4.3 Ultraviolet (UV) treatments	109
	5.2	1.5 Sample extraction, analysis and quantification	110
	5.2.2	Investigation of NDPhA formation	112
	5.2	.2.1 SPE method	112
	5.2.	.2.2 LC-MS/MS analysis	113
	5.2.	.2.3 Preparation of chloramine solutions	114
	5.2.	.2.4 NDPhA formation reactions	114
4	5.3 F	Results and Discussion	115
	5.3.1	Nitrosamine formation from disinfection of seven source waters w 11 different disinfection treatments	vith 115
	5.3.2	OCI^{-} , NH_2Cl and ClO_2	119
	5.3.3	O ₃ and O ₃ /OCl ⁻	120
	5.3.4	Ultraviolet (UV)	122
	535	Advanced oxidative processes (AOP)	123
	536	Investigation of NDPhA formation	124
	5.5.0	6.1 NDPhA method development	12-
	537	Identification of DPhA as a precursor of NDPhA	123
	5.5.1		120

5.5	5 F	References	145
5.4	(Conclusions	142
4	5.3.12	Identification of new DBPs	136
4	5.3.11	Effect of pH on chloramination DBPs	134
4	5.3.10	Effect of chloramine speciation on NDPhA formation	132
4	5.3.9	Effect of initial DPhA and chloramine concentrations on NDPhA formation	129
4	5.3.8	NDPhA formation from DPhA during chloramination	127

6 Disinfection byproduct formation from bacterial precursors 148

6.1 I	Introduction
6.2 N	Materials and Methods
6.2.1	Chemicals and standards
6.2.2	Growth and isolation of <i>P. fluorescens</i>
6.2.3	Preparation of disinfectant solutions
6.2.4	Disinfection of bacteria
6.2.5	Sample extraction
6.2.6	Sample Analysis
6.3 I	Results and Discussion
6.3.1	Formation of N-chlorophenazine from chloramination of <i>P</i> . <i>fluorescens</i>
6.3.2	Factors influencing N-chlorophenazine formation during chloramination of <i>P. fluorescens</i>
6.3	.2.1 Effect of P. fluorescens concentration
6.3	.2.2 Effect of chloramine concentration
6.3	.2.3 Effect of contact time length
6.3.3	DBP formation from chlorination of Pseudomonas fluorescens
6.4 (Conclusions
6.5 I	References
U IJ I	
Con	clusions and Synthesis

<u>/ C(</u>	onclusions and Synthesis	<u> </u>
7.1	Introduction	168
7.2	Advancements in Knowledge	169

7.2.1	Chapter 2: Development of an SPE-LC-MS/MS method to detect nine N-nitrosamines in drinking water	169
7.2.2	Chapter 3: Occurrence of nine N-nitrosamines in thirty-eight drint water systems in Canada and the U.S.A.	king 170
7.2.3	Chapter 4: RT-CES method development and application to toxic testing for emerging nitrosamine DBPs	ity 171
7.2.4	Chapter 5: Investigation of the formation of N-nitrosamines durin water treatment	g 172
7.2.5	Chapter 6: Formation of N-DBPs from bacterial precursors	173
7.3 0	Conclusions	174
7.4 F	uture Research	175
7.5 R	References	178

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1:	Lifetime cancer risk estimates and target organs of the 7 identified nitrosamine DBPs	8
Table 2.1:	Structures and solubilities of the nine nitrosamines included in this study	20
Table 2.2:	Compound dependent parameters for the nine-nitrosamine method_	27
Table 2.3:	Relative response factors (RRF), recovery and method detection limit (MDL) of the nine N-nitrosamines and the surrogate standard NDMA d6	t 4- 39
Table 2.4:	Concentrations of NDMA, NPyr, NPip and NDPhA in a water distribution system.	40
Table 3.1:	Structures of the nine nitrosamines investigated in this study	49
Table 3.2:	Water source, population served and raw water quality parameters of the 38 water systems studied	f 52
Table 3.3:	N-nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA) and N-nitrosomorpholine (NMor) concentrations detected in 6 of 38 drinking water systems) 57
Table 3.4:	N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) concentrations detected in sample collected from 38 drinking water systems using chloramination, chlorination or combinations of chlorine and ozone for disinfection.	s 59
Table 4.1:	Chemical structures and purity of the four nitrosamines used in this study	72
Table 4.2:	P450 expression in A549 and HepG2 cell lines	91
Table 5.1:	Structures of the nine nitrosamines included in this study 1	.03
Table 5.2:	Source water quality from seven different locations 1	.05

Table 5.3: OCl⁻, NH₂Cl and ClO₂ doses applied to each of the seven source waters

Table 5.4:	MRM ion pairs, method detection limits and limit of quantification the nine nitrosamine method	for 111
Table 5.5:	MS parameters, limits of detection (LODs) and solid phase extraction recoveries for the NDPhA/DPhA specific method	on 113
Table 6.1:	Structure, MRM transition and charged monoisotopic mass for phenazine, N-chlorophenazine, NDPhA and NDPhA-d6	149
Table 6.2:	Instrument dependent parameters for triple quadrupole MS and time of-flight MS analysis in this study	- 153
Table 6.3:	Compound dependent parameters for the 4000 QTrap MRM method	ł 154

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	: Schematic of disinfection byproduct formation during water treatmen	nt. 2
Figure 2.1	: MS/MS spectra of the nine nitrosamines showing their parent ion and characteristic product ion.	d 30
Figure 2.2	: MRM chromatograms of a standard spiked Optima water extract and drinking water sample showing the separation of NDPA and NDPhA from background interference.	l a 32
Figure 2.3	: Chromatograms of the nine nitrosamines obtained from an Optima water sample spiked with the nine standards and two internal standards under the optimized conditions.	ds 33
Figure 2.4	: Detection of NDMA, NPip, NPyr and NDPhA in a treated drinking water sample collected from a drinking water distribution system :	35
Figure 2.5	: Determination of NDPhA in (A) blank, (B) source water, (C) treated water sample collected from the water treatment plant, (D) treated water sample collected from a location in the distribution system, and (E) NDPhA standard.	l 37
Figure 3.1	: NDMA concentrations detected in water samples collected from System 1 between 2003 and 2007.	62
Figure 3.2	: Effect of free chlorine contact time on NDMA concentrations produced by chloramine disinfection.	63
Figure 4.1	: RT-CES curves and linear relationship between cell index (CI) and initial number of seeded cells.	75
Figure 4.2	: Typical RT-CES traces showing the effect of NDMA on the four cel lines.	1 82
Figure 4.3	: IC_{50} values obtained after the cells were incubated with the four nitrosamines for 24 h.	84

Figure 4.4	: Relative numbers of CHO-K1 cells after 24 h of incubation with the nitrosamine compared to the control without nitrosamine. 86
Figure 4.5	: Effect of nitrosamine exposure on cell death and the cell cycle 88
Figure 5.1	: Proposed mechanism for the formation of NDMA from DMA and dichloramine 100
Figure 5.2	: Schematic of disinfection treatment processes used in this study. 106
Figure 5.3	: NDMA concentrations detected in 6 of 7 different source water samples treated with (A) OCl ⁻ , NH ₂ Cl and ClO ₂ and (B) with O ₃ and O_3/OCl^- 117
Figure 5.4	: NDMA concentrations detected in 5 of 7 different source water samples treated with LPUV, LPUV/OCI ⁻ , MPUV, MPUV/OCI ⁻ , AOP and AOP/OCI ⁻ . 118
Figure 5.5	: LC-MS/MS analysis of DPhA and NDPhA in standards, raw water, and chloraminated water 127
Figure 5.6	: Time course of NDPhA formation from the reaction of 1.0 µM DPhA with 1.0 mM chloramines 128
Figure 5.7	: Effect of initial DPhA concentration on NDPhA formation and residual DPhA concentration 129
Figure 5.8	: Effect of initial chloramine concentration on NDPhA formation from DPhA 131
Figure 5.9	: Effect of Cl:N ratio on NDPhA formation from DPhA (0.1µM) after 12 h 134
Figure 5.1	0: Effect of pH on NDPhA formation and residual DPhA concentration. 135
Eiguro 5 1	1. I.C. MS total ion abromatogram of a ablaraminated DDh A systematic

Figure 5.11: LC-MS total ion chromatogram of a chloraminated DPhA extract (pH 7). _____ 137

Figure 5.12: MRM chromatograms of Peaks A and B and NDPhA produced at p 6–9 1)Н 39
Figure 5.13: MRM chromatograms of NDPhA, Peak A (phenazine), and Peak B (N-chlorophenazine) in chloraminated raw water 1	41
Figure 5.14: Putative pathways for the formation of NDPhA and other N-DBPs from chloramination of water containing DPhA1	42
Figure 6.1: MRM (217/181) traces of chloraminated or chlorinated <i>Pseudomona fluorescens</i> 1	ıs 56
Figure 6.2: Accurate mass analysis of suspected N-chlorophenazine peak in a chloraminated <i>Pseudomonas fluorescens</i> sample1	57
Figure 6.3: Effect of <i>Pseudomonas fluorescens</i> cell number on formation of N- chlorophenazine during chloramination 1	58
Figure 6.4: Effect of chloramine dosing concentration on the formation of N- chlorophenazine from <i>Pseudomonas fluorescens</i> 1	59
Figure 6.5: Chlorination of phenazine 1	61
Figure 6.6: TripleTOF analysis of chlorinated <i>P. fluorescens</i> extracts 1	63
Figure 6.7: TOF-MS extraction of the accurate masses identified from the 5 pear observed in chlorinated <i>Pseudomonas fluorescens</i> samples (Figure 6.6a)1	ks 64

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

μg/L	Microgram per litre
AOP	Advanced oxidative processes
APCI	Atmospheric pressure chemical ionization
CAS#	Chemical Abstracts Service number
CCL-3	Candidate Contaminant List (3 rd version)
CE	Collision energy
CI	Cell Index
Cl-UDMH	Chlorinated unsymmetrical dimethylhydrazine
СХР	Cell exit potential
DBP	Disinfection byproduct
DMA	Dimethylamine
DP	Declustering potential
DPD	N,N-diethyl-p-phenylenediamine
DPhA	Diphenylamine
DPhA-d6	[6-H ²] Diphenylamine
EMS	Enhanced mass spectrometry
ESI	Electrospray ionization
GC	Gas chromatography
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
НАА	Haloacetic acid
IC ₅₀	In vitro cytotoxicity at 50%
IV or ISV	Ionspray voltage

K _{OW}	Octanol/Water coefficient
LC	Liquid chromatography
LD ₅₀	Lethal dose at 50%
LLE	Liquid-liquid extraction
LPUV	Low pressure ultraviolet
MAC	Maximum allowable concentration
MDL	Method detection limit
МеОН	Methanol
mg/L	Milligram per litre
MPUV	Medium pressure ultraviolet
MRL	Method reporting limit
MRM	Multiple reaction monitoring
MS	Mass spectrometry
MS/MS	Tandem mass spectrometry
NCI	National Cancer Institute
ND	Not detected
NDBA	N-nitrosodibutylamine
NDEA	N-nitrosodiethylamine
NDMA	N-nitrosodimethylamine
NDMA-d6	[6-H ²] N-nitrosodimethylamine
NDPA	N-nitrosodipropylamine
NDPA-d6	[14-H ²] N-nitrosodi-n-propylamine
NDPhA	N-nitrosodiphenylamine

NDPhA-d6	[6-H ²] N-nitrosodiphenylamine
ng/L	Nanogram per litre
NH ₂ Cl	Monochloramine
NIST	National Institute of Standards and Technology
NMEA	N-nitrosomethylethylamine
NMor	N-nitrosomorpholine
NOM	Natural organic matter
NPip	N-nitrosopiperidine
NPyr	N-nitrosopyrrolidine
NRU	Neutral red uptake
O ₃	Ozone
OCI	Chlorine
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PTFE	Polytetrafluoroethylene
QSTR	Quantitative structure toxicity relationship
RRF	Relative response factor
RT-CES	Real time cell-electronic sensing
SD	Standard deviation
SDWA	Safe Drinking Water Act
SIM	Selective ion monitoring
SPE	Solid phase extraction
SPME	Solid phase microextraction
SUVA	Specific ultraviolet absorbance

THM	Trihalomethane
TIC	Total ion chromatogram
TN	Total nitrogen
TOC	Total organic carbon
TOF	Time-of-flight
TON	Total organic nitrogen
TOX	Total organic halogen
U.S. EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
UCMR-2	Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring Rule-2
UDMH	Unsymmetrical dimethylhydrazine
UV	Ultraviolet
WTP	Water treatment plant
XIC	Extracted ion chromatogram

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Importance of safe drinking water

Provision of clean drinking water is still an important issue around the world. In 2010, an estimated 780 million people did not have access to clean drinking water [1] and 2.2 million people die every year from waterborne diarrheal diseases [2]. Waterborne disease outbreaks also occur in developed nations [3]. In Canada, it is difficult to forget the disaster in Walkerton, Ontario in 2000, when 7 people died and over 2500 became ill after pathogenic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 made its way into their tap water [4]. These statistics are troubling considering that it has been known for over 100 years that disinfection of drinking water with chlorine is effective in reducing the spread of waterborne disease. Introduction of chemical disinfection has played a significant role in reducing the incidence of diseases such as cholera and typhoid. Given the acute risk posed by microbiological agents, disinfection of drinking water is essential to maintain public health.

1.2 Disinfection Byproducts (DBPs)

1.2.1 Discovery of DBPs

Water disinfection can also lead to the formation of disinfection byproducts (DBPs), chemicals that form from the reaction of the disinfectant with natural organic matter (NOM) present in raw water (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1: Schematic of disinfection byproduct formation during water treatment.

Chloroform, bromodichloromethane, dibromochloromethane, and bromoform [all trihalomethanes (THMs)] were the first DBPs identified independently by both Rook [5] and Bellar [6]. This discovery was aided by advances in analytical chemistry, specifically sample extraction techniques and instrument sensitivities [7]. In 1975, an occurrence study of THMs performed as part of the U.S. Safe Water Drinking Act (SWDA) found the presence of THMs in drinking water to be widespread [8]. In 1976, the National Cancer Institute (NCI) published the results of a two year rat cancer bioassay showing chloroform to be a carcinogen [9]. This led to the removal of chloroform from many consumer products. Epidemiological investigations into links between THM exposure and cancer risk in humans started appearing. In 1978, Canada set a guideline of 350 µg/L for total THMs (chloroform, bromoform, dibromochloromethane, bromodichloromethane), becoming the first country to set a THM guideline. In 1979 the U.S. followed suit, setting a total THM guideline of $100 \ \mu g/L$ as a running annual average [10]. The research and regulatory interest in DBPs in drinking water has been sustained until the present.

1.2.2 Identification of new DBPs

Since 1974, over 600 DBPs have been identified [11]. THMs make up the largest constituent of DBPs in chlorinated water, followed by haloacetic acids (HAAs). Many other classes of DBPs have been identified including other chlorinated DBPs and, more recently, nitrogen containing DBPs (N-DBPs). Despite such a large number of DBPs having been identified, these identified DBPs only take up a small portion of the overall composition of DBPs in drinking water. Analysis of drinking water has suggested that up to 60% of total organic carbon (TOC) and total organic halide (TOX) are still unidentified [12]. This suggests that there are a great number of DBPs forming during water disinfection that remain unknown.

1.2.3 Human health concerns surrounding DBPs

The human health risks posed by DBPs are uncertain. The effect of longterm, low-level exposure to these chemicals in drinking water is unknown. A number of epidemiology studies have been performed investigating associations between consumption of chlorinated drinking water and certain adverse health effects, including bladder cancer, colon cancer, spontaneous abortion and other adverse reproductive outcomes. These studies and the weight of evidence for each of these health outcomes has been reviewed by S.E. Hrudey [13, 14]. The accumulated evidence suggests that the strongest and most consistent association is between consumption of chlorinated drinking water and bladder cancer;

however, there is still uncertainty regarding the strength of this relationship. Several meta-analyses have been performed to try and increase the power of the already published studies, which have generally determined risk estimates above 1 which supports the association between consumption of chlorinated drinking water and bladder cancer. No DBP epidemiology study has found an odds ratio or rate ratio above 2.

Epidemiology studies involving DBPs have many challenges. Because DBPs are suspected to be toxic to humans, they cannot be directly given to human study participants like in a clinical trial. This then forces the use of less powerful epidemiology study designs such as cohort or retrospective studies, in which determining the epsoure of study participants to DBPs is much more difficult. In addition, many epidemiology studies also use THM or HAA data to calculate DBP exposure because it is the main DBP monitoring data available. However, THMs and HAAs are not themselves responsible for the increased bladder cancer risk, and there is no evidence that they are good surrogates for other DBPs present in tap water. These, and other challenges [14], may be affecting the ability of epidemiology studies to find a stronger association between DBPs and human health outcomes.

1.3 Searching for the DBP cancer culprit

1.3.1 THMs and HAAs

Identification of the DBP or DBPs that are responsible for the increase in bladder cancer risk observed in epidemiology studies has been a top research goal for nearly 40 years. Originally, it was believed that the THMs were the likely

culprit as they are typically the largest proportion of DBPs in chlorinated drinking water and because the 1976 NCI chloroform carcinogenesis bioassay [9] (Section 1.2.1) suggested that chloroform was a carcinogen. In 1986, studies showed that continuous dosing of chloroform in water to rats did not produce the carcinogenic effect observed in the NCI study [15]. The NCI study used corn oil as a delivery vehicle instead of water and later studies determined that the combination of chloroform dosed in corn oil causes cell death. The subsequent cell proliferation is what resulted in the tumorogenesis observed in the NCI study [16, 17]. It is now recognized that chloroform alone is not a DNA mutagen [18].

It has become clear that the two largest constituents of DBPs in chlorinated drinking water, THMs and HAAs, are not sufficiently toxic to be responsible for the health effects observed in epidemiology studies. Despite having known this for 10 years, THMs and HAAs remain the most commonly regulated DBPs and many research papers are published every year studying THM and HAA occurrence and formation and many water treatment plant operators still believe that THMs and HAAs will give you cancer. This misconception is what led the water treatment plant operators in Walkerton to stop dosing chlorine properly in an effort to reduce the concentrations of these DBPs [4].

1.3.2 <u>Searching for a more plausible DBP bladder cancer culprit</u>

If THMs and HAAs are not responsible for the observed increase in bladder cancer risk, then another DBP may be responsible. However, with over 600 DBPs already identified and many more identified every year, there are many

possibilities from which to choose from. Hampering this search is the lack of any toxicity information for many of these DBPs, making research prioritization extremely difficult.

Several strategies have been proposed to prioritize future DBP research. The first involves identifying as many DBPs in drinking water as possible, in an attempt to reduce the amount of unknown total organic halogen (TOX) and total organic carbon (TOC) in drinking water samples. Some of this comes from identification of new unknown peaks observed in samples already being tested for DBPs using chlorine and bromine isotopic patterns to narrow down the search. Some researchers advocate selecting putative DBPs that are likely to form based on the structure of NOM and other precursors [19]. With the development of more sensitive analytical instrumentation, there is no doubt that more and more DBPs will be detected at lower and lower concentrations. However, this begs the question, whether identification of all DBPs is an important or necessary goal.

Toxicological modeling using quantitative structure toxicity relationships (QSTR) has also been used to prioritize DBP research. Bull et al. (2006) used QSTR to predict DBP classes with sufficient potency to cause health effects at the low concentrations at which DBPs are typically detected [20]. Six groups were identified as having sufficient potency to cause health effects at the concentrations found in drinking water: halobenzoquinones, halocyclopentenoic acids, organic N-haloamines, halonitriles, haloamides, nitrosamides, and the N-nitrosamines.

1.4 N-nitrosamines as DBPs

1.4.1 Identification of N-nitrosamines as DBPs

In 1989, N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) was detected in treated drinking water in Ohsweken, Ontario [21]. Subsequent experiments indicated it was a result of water disinfection making NDMA the first nitrosamine identified as a DBP. In 1998, NDMA was detected in treated drinking water in California [22]. Initially this was determined to be a result of contamination by rocket fuel, which contains an NDMA precursor. However, this sparked a state-wide survey for NDMA and several other locations were determined to have NDMA, but only as a result of water disinfection. Since then, nitrosamines have been detected in several other locations [23, 24], including Alberta [25-27], Japan [28], China [29], and the UK [30]. To date, a total of seven nitrosamines have been identified as DBPs: NDMA, N-nitrosopyrrolidine (NPyr), N-nitrosomorpholine (NMor), Nnitrosopiperidine (NPip), N-nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA), Nnitrosodibutylamine (NDBA), and N-nitrosodiethylamine (NDEA) (See Table 2.1 for structures).

1.4.2 Toxicity of N-nitrosamines

The toxicity of nitrosamines has been well studied as they have been detected historically in a wide range of foods (smoked meats, cheeses), beverages (beer) and consumer products (cigarettes, cosmetics) [31]. The nitrosamines are known rodent carcinogens and suspected human carcinogens [31]. As a class they are recognized to cause cancer in every major tissue in laboratory animals [32]. Nitrosamines also display tissue selectivity, listed in Table 1.1.

Nitrosamines are not direct acting carcinogens. Inside the body they are bioactivated by P450 enzymes via alpha hydroxylation formung a hydroxyl radical that methylates macromolecules such as DNA [33]. Failure to repair these methylated DNA bases may lead to carcinogenesis.

Nitrosamine	Abbrev.	10 ⁻⁶ upperbound lifetime cancer risk from drinking water consumption [34]	Target Organ [Ref]
N-nitrosodimethylamine	NDMA	0.7 ng/L	Liver [35]
N-nitrosopyrrolidine	NPyr	20 ng/L	Liver [36]
N-nitrosopiperidine	NPip	NA	Liver, esophagus, Jaw [36]
N-nitrosodiphenylamine	NDPhA	7000 ng/L	Bladder [37]
N-nitrosomorpholine	NMor	NA	Liver [38]
N-nitrosodibutylamine	NDBA	6 ng/L	Bladder, esophagus [39]
N-nitrosodiethylamine	NDEA	0.2 ng/L	Liver [35]

 Table 1.1: Lifetime cancer risk estimates and target organs of the 7 identified nitrosamine DBPs

NA=Not available

The potency of nitrosamines is reflected in their upperbound one-in-amillion lifetime cancer risk estimates from consumption of nitrosamines in drinking water, which are typically in the low ng/L range (Table 1.1). This means that they may be able to cause health effects even if they are present in drinking water at low ng/L concentrations. And more importantly for DBP research, it means that nitrosamines are much more potent compared to THMs and HAAs.

1.4.3 <u>Regulatory response to N-nitrosamines</u>

The regulatory response to nitrosamines in drinking water has varied depending on the jurisdiction. In North America, the Province of Ontario set a Maximum Allowable Concentration (MAC) for NDMA of 9 ng/L [40] and continues to routinely monitor NDMA in provincial drinking water. The Sate of California set Notification Levels for NDMA, N-nitrosodiethylamine (NDEA) and N-nitrosodipropylamine (NDPA) of 10 ng/L in response to the discovery of NDMA in some of its drinking water supplies [41]. The State of Massachusetts Office of Research and Standards has set a guideline of 10 ng/L for NDMA in drinking water [42]. Federally, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) included six nitrosamines [NDMA, NDEA, NDPA, NPyr, Nnitrosomethylethylamine (NMEA), and N-nitrosodibutylamine (NDBA)] on the Unregulated Contaminants Monitoring Rule-2 (UCMR-2) which required monitoring of these six nitrosamines in U.S. drinking water systems between 2007 and 2010 [43]. Five nitrosamines (NDMA, NDEA, NDPA, NPyr and NDPhA) were also added to the 3rd version of the Candidate Contaminant List which proposes water contaminants for possible future regulation [44]. On March 22, 2010, the U.S. EPA Administrator announced that nitrosamines were among a set of drinking water contaminants being considered for regulation as a group. In 2010, Health Canada proposed a MAC for NDMA in drinking water of 40 ng/L

[45]. The Australian National Health and Medical Research Council is currently considering an NDMA guideline of 100 ng/L in drinking water [46]. The World Health Organization has also set a guideline value for NDMA of 100 ng/L [47].

1.5 Rationale and scope of thesis

Removal or inactivation of microbial elements in drinking water is essential to protect the public from disease. Although disinfection practices may produce unwanted DBPs, the long-term effects of DBP exposure are much lower than the acute risk posed by waterborne pathogens. However, this is not to say that health risks posed by DBPs cannot be managed using proper risk management principles.

In the almost 40 years since the discovery of THMs as DBPs, it has become clear that neither the THMs nor HAAs are responsible for the adverse health effects cited by epidemiology studies. In the search for more plausible culprits, several promising DBP classes have been identified but it takes years to generate the requisite toxicological, occurrence and formation data necessary to characterize each class.

The discovery of the N-nitrosamines provided a unique opportunity in DBP research, as significant toxicological research had already been performed on this class. From this wealth of data, we know that nitrosamines are rodent carcinogens and probable human carcinogens, and are more potent than the currently regulated DBPs (THMs and HAAs). At the start of my Ph.D. studies, general interest in nitrosamines as DBPs was growing steadily. Some formation studies had been published, but occurrence data was lacking which limited

understanding how widespread nitrosamines might be in tap water. In addition, analytical methodology for nitrosamine detection was firmly based on gas chromatography (GC), which restricted research to the eight GC-detectable nitrosamines. While GC is a workhorse for DBP and other environmental contaminant analysis, the emergence of liquid chromatography (LC) and sensitive tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) techniques was opening the door for detection of a wider range of DBPs at lower concentrations. This is particularly important considering most studies only looked at NDMA and did not consider the formation of other nitrosamines that might also be important.

My research objectives for this thesis were to:

- Develop a sensitive solid phase extraction liquid chromatography– tandem mass spectrometry (SPE-LC-MS/MS) method to analyze for both GC-detectable and GC-non-detectable nitrosamines in treated drinking water (Chapter 2);
- Use the newly developed SPE-LC-MS/MS method to determine the occurrence of both GC-detectable and GC-non-detectable nitrosamines in 38 North American drinking water distribution systems (Chapter 3);
- Investigate the use of a real-time, *in vitro*, high throughput, label-free testing platform (real-time cell electronic sensing) to rapidly assess cytotoxicity of newly identified nitrosamine DBPs (Chapter 4);
- 4. Investigate nitrosamine formation by treating the same source water with different disinfectants (Chapter 5);

- 5. Investigate formation of new nitrosamine DBPs through chloramination of suspected precursors (Chapter 5); and
- Investigate novel precursors for newly identified nitrogen containing DBPs (Chapter 6)

Finally, I will present the conclusions and implications of my research and suggest future research objectives regarding DBP research (Chapter 7).

1.6 References

- 1. World Health Organization; UNICEF. *Progress on Sanitation and Drinking-Water: 2012 Update,* New York, NY, 2012.
- 2. World Health Organization. Water-related diseases. <u>http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/diseases/diarrhoea/en/index.h</u> <u>tml</u> Accessed: April 9, 2012.
- 3. Hrudey, S. E.; Hrudey, E. J. *Safe Drinking Water: Lessons from Recent Outbreaks in Affluent Nations*; IWA Publishing: Cornwall, 2004; p 486.
- 4. O'Connor, D. R. *Report of the Walkerton Inquiry Part 1: The Events of May 2000 and Related Issues*; 2002; p 499.
- 5. Rook, J. J. Formation of haloforms during chlorination of natural waters. *Water Treat. Exam* **1974**, *23*, (2), 234-243.
- Bellar, T. A.; Lichtenberg, J. J.; Kroner, R. C. Occurrence of organohalides in chlorinated drinking waters. J. - Am. Water Works Assoc. 1974, 66, (12), 703-706.
- 7. Kristiana, I.; Charrois, J. W. A.; Hrudey, S. E. Research overview, regulatory history and current worldwide status of DBP regulations and guidelines. In *Disinfection By-Products and Human Health*, Hrudey, S. E.; Charrois, J. W. A., Eds. IWA Publishing: London, U.K., 2012; pp 11-39.
- 8. Symons, J. M. *National Organics Reconnaissance Survey*; Washington, D.C., 1975; pp 12-100.
- 9. National Cancer Institute. *Carcinogenesis Bioassay of Chloroform*; Bethesda, MD, 1976.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Contaminants regulated under the Safe Drinking Water Act. <u>http://water.epa.gov/drink/contaminants/upload/2003_05_27_contaminant</u> <u>s_contam_timeline.pdf</u> Accessed: March 26, 2012.
- Richardson, S. D. Drinking water disinfection by-products. In *The Encyclopedia of Environmental Analysis and Remediation*, Meyers, R. A., Ed. Wiley: New York, 1998; Vol. 3, p 1398.
- 12. Richardson, S. D. Disinfection by-products and other emerging contaminants in drinking water. *Trends Anal. Chem.* **2003**, *22*, (10), 666-684.

- 13. Hrudey, S. E. Chlorination disinfection by-products, public health risk tradeoffs and me. *Water Res.* **2009**, *43*, (8), 2057-2092.
- Hrudey, S. E. Epidemiological inference and evidence on DBPs and human health. In *Disinfection By-products and Human Health*, Hrudey, S. E.; Charrois, J. W. A., Eds. IWA Publishing: London, U.K., 2012.
- Bull, R. J.; Brown, J. M.; Meierhenry, E. A.; Jorgenson, T. A.; Robinson, M.; Stober, J. A. Enhancement of the hepatotoxicity of chloroform in B6C3F1 mice by corn-oil - Implications for chloroform carcinogenesis. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 1986, 69, 49-58.
- Larson, J. L.; Wolf, D. C.; Butterworth, B. E. Induced cytotoxicity and cell-proliferation in the hepatocarcinogenicity of chloroform in female B6C3F1 mice - Comparison of administration by gavage in corn-oil vs adlibitum in drinking-water. *Fundam. Appl. Toxicol.* **1994**, *22*, (1), 90-102.
- Larson, J. L.; Wolf, D. C.; Mery, S.; Morgan, K. T.; Butterworth, B. E. Toxicity and Cell-Proliferation in the Liver, Kidneys and Nasal Passages of Female F344 Rats, Induced by Chloroform Administered by Gavage. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **1995**, *33*, (6), 443-456.
- Golden, R. J.; Holm, S. E.; Robinson, D. E.; Julkunen, P. H.; Reese, E. A. Chloroform mode of action: Implications for cancer risk assessment. *Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol.* **1997**, *26*, (2), 142-155.
- Mitch, W. A. Nitrogenous DBPs, formation, control and new frontiers. In Disinfection By-Products and Human Health, Hrudey, S. E.; Charrois, J. W. A., Eds. IWA Publishing: London, U.K., 2012; pp 73-81.
- 20. Bull, R. J.; Reckhow, D. A.; Rotello, V.; Bull, O. M.; Kim, J. Use of Toxicological and Chemical Models to Prioritize DBP Research; AwwaRF 2867; Denver, CO, 2006.
- Taguchi, V.; Jenkins, S. D. W.; Wang, D. T.; Palmentier, J. P. F. P.; Reiner, E. J. Determination of N-nitrosodimethylamine by isotopedilution, high-resolution mass-spectrometry. *Can. J. Appl. Spectroscopy* 1994, *39*, (3), 87-93.
- 22. Mitch, W. A.; Sharp, J. O.; Trussell, R. R.; Valentine, R. L.; Alvarez-Cohen, L.; Sedlak, D. L. N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) as a drinking water contaminant: A review. *Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2003**, *20*, (5), 389-404.
- 23. Barrett, S.; Hwang, C.; Guo, Y.; Andrews, S. A.; Valentine, R. L. Occurrence of NDMA in drinking water: A North American Survey, 2001-2002. *Proceedings of the American Water Works Association Annual Conference*, Anaheim, CA, 2003.

- 24. Boyd, J. M.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. F.; Richardson, S. D. Solid-phase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatography mass spectrometry analysis of nitrosamines in treated drinking water and wastewater. *Trends Anal. Chem.* **2011**, *30*, (9), 1410-1421.
- 25. Charrois, J. W. A.; Arend, M. W.; Froese, K. L.; Hrudey, S. E. Detecting *N*-nitrosamines in drinking water at nanogram per liter levels using ammonia positive chemical ionization. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, (18), 4835-4841.
- 26. Charrois, J. W. A.; Boyd, J. M.; Froese, K. L.; Hrudey, S. E. Occurrence of N-nitrosamines in Alberta public drinking-water distribution systems. *J. Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2007**, *6*, 103-114.
- 27. Zhao, Y. Y.; Boyd, J.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. F. Characterization of new nitrosamines in drinking water using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, (24), 7636-7641.
- 28. Asami, M.; Oya, M.; Kosaka, K. A nationwide survey of NDMA in raw and drinking water in Japan. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2009**, *407*, (11), 3540-3545.
- 29. Wang, W. F.; Hu, J. Y.; Yu, J. W.; Yang, M. Determination of Nnitrosodimethylamine in drinking water by UPLC-MS/MS. *J. Environ. Sci. (China)* **2010**, *22*, (10), 1508-1512.
- 30. Templeton, M. R.; Chen, Z. NDMA and seven other nitrosamines in selected UK drinking water supply systems. *J. Water Supply: Res. Technicol.--AQUA* **2010**, *59*, (4), 277-283.
- 31. World Health Organization; International Agency for Research on Cancer. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans: Some N-nitroso Compounds, Lyon, France, 1978.
- 32. Magee, P. N.; Barnes, J. M. Carcinogenic Nitroso Compounds. In *Advances in Cancer Research*, Haddow, A.; Weinhouse, S., Eds. Academic Press: 1967; pp 163-246.
- 33. Liteplo, R. G.; Meek, M. E.; Windle, W. *N-nitrosodimethylamine*; Concise International Chemical Assessment Document 38; Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft: Stuttgart, Germany, 2002.
- 34. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Integrated Risk Information System. <u>http://www.epa.gov/iris/</u> Accessed: April 15, 2009.

- 35. Peto, R.; Gray, R.; Brantom, P.; Grasso, P. Effects on 4080 rats of chronic ingestion of N-nitrosodiethylamine or N-nitrosodimethylamine a detailed dose-response study. *Cancer Res.* **1991**, *51*, (23), 6415-6451.
- 36. Gray, R.; Peto, R.; Brantom, P.; Grasso, P. Chronic nitrosamine ingestion in 1040 rodents: The effect of the choice of nitrosamine, the species studied, and the age of starting exposure. *Cancer Res.* **1991**, *51*, (23), 6470-6491.
- Cardy, R. H.; Lijinsky, W.; Hildebrandt, P. K. Neoplastic and nonneoplastic urinary bladder lesions induced in Fischer 344 rats and B6C3F1 hybrid mice by *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safe.* 1979, *3*, (1), 29-35.
- 38. Lijinsky, W.; Kovatch, R. M.; Riggs, C. W.; Walters, P. T. Dose response study with N-nitrosomorpholine in drinking water of F-344 rats. *Cancer Res.* **1988**, *48*, (8), 2089-2095.
- 39. Okada, M.; Ishidate, M. Metabolic fate of N-n-butyl-N-(4-hydroxybutyl)nitrosamine and its analogues: Selective induction of urinary bladder tumours in the rat. *Xenobiotica* **1977**, *7*, (1-2), 11-24.
- 40. Safe Drinking Water Act. Ontario Regulation 169/03, Schedule 2, 2002.
- 41. California Department of Public Health. NDMA and other nitrosamines -Drinking water issues. <u>http://www.cdph.ca.gov/CERTLIC/DRINKINGWATER/Pages/NDMA.as</u> <u>px</u> Accessed: May 4, 2010.
- 42. Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection. Current regulatory limit: N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA). <u>http://www.mass.gov/dep/water/drinking/standards/ndma.htm</u> Accessed: August 18, 2009.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Basic Information Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring Rule-2. <u>http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/rulesregs/sdwa/ucmr/ucmr2/basicinformatio</u> <u>n.cfm</u> Accessed: July 21, 2011.
- 44. Contaminant Candidate List 3 Final. *Fed. Regist.* **2009,** *74*, 51850-51862.
- 45. Federal-Provincial-Territorial Committee on Drinking Water. *Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) in drinking water.* Health Canada: Ottawa, ON, 2010; pp 43.

- 46. *Australian Drinking Water Guidelines*. National Health and Medical Research Council, National Resource Management Ministerial Council: Canberra, Australia, 2009; pp 42.
- 47. World Health Organization. *N-nitrosodimethylamine in Drinking-Water*, Geneva, Switzerland, 2008.
2 <u>DEVELOPMENT OF AN SPE-LC-MS/MS METHOD TO</u> <u>DETECT N-NITROSAMINES IN DRINKING WATER^{*}</u>

2.1 Introduction

Several techniques have been developed for nitrosamine analysis in various matrices including beer, smoked meats, cheeses, milk, tobacco, rubber products and cosmetics [1, 2]. Analysis for nitrosamines present as disinfection byproducts (DBPs) in drinking water has focused on nine nitrosamines present in the U.S. EPA's Method 521 standard mix [3]: N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA), N-nitrosodiethylamine (NDEA), N-nitrosomethylethylamine (NMEA), Nnitrosodipropylamine (NDPA), N-nitrosomorpholine (NMor), N-nitrosopiperidine (NPip), N-nitrosopyrrolidine (NPyr), N-nitrosodibutylamine (NDBA), and Nnitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA) (Table 2.1). Analysis of these nitrosamines as DBPs in drinking water presents several analytical challenges in that they are polar and water soluble (see Table 2.1 for water solubilities), low in molecular weight (<200 Da) and are present at low ng/L concentrations, demanding highly sensitive analytical techniques to detect them. Historically, analysis of nitrosamines in drinking water has been performed using gas chromatographymass spectrometry (GC-MS) methods combined with liquid-liquid extraction

^{*} Parts of this chapter have been published

^{1.} Reprinted with permission from Zhao, Y.Y., Boyd, J., Hrudey, S.E., Li, X.-F. (2006). Characterization of new nitrosamines in drinking water using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 40: 7636-7641. Copyright 2008 American Chemical Society

Reprinted from *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 30/9, J.M. Boyd, S.E. Hrudey, X.-F. Li, S.D. Richardson, Solid-phase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatography mass spectrometry analysis of nitrosamines in treated drinking water and wastewater, 1410-1421, Copyright (2011), with permission from Elsevier

(LLE), solid phase extraction (SPE) or solid phase microextraction (SPME) for sample preconcentration.

Gas chromatography (GC) based techniques are commonly used for nitrosamine analysis both in water research labs and for regulatory analysis. Nitrosamine analysis methods using GC coupled with mass spectrometry (MS) [3-10], nitrogen-phosphorous detectors [7, 8] and flame ionization detectors [11] have been developed. The popularity of GC-MS is mainly due to the high sensitivity and selectivity offered by the selective ion monitoring (SIM) capability of the MS detector and the ruggedness needed to routinely detect nitrosamines below the guideline concentrations [11]. It still remains the methodology of choice for many routine analysis programs including the Ontario Ministry of the Environment's Drinking Water Surveillance Program [4] and the U.S. EPA's UCMR-2 program [12]. GC-MS analysis has shown itself to be an excellent method for detection of semi-volatile and thermally stable nitrosamines in drinking water. This focus has been narrowed even more to the eight semi-volatile nitrosamines present in the standard mix used for the U.S. EPA's nitrosamine analysis method (Method 521).

Nitrosamine	Abbrev.	Molecular formula	CAS #	Structure	Log octanol/water coefficient (Log Kow) [ref]	Water solubility (g/100 mL) [13]
N-nitrosodimethylamine	NDMA	$C_2H_6N_2O$	62-75-9	N-N N-N	-0.57 [14]	œ
N-nitrosopyrrolidine	NPyr	$C_4H_8N_2O$	930-55-2	N-N ^O	-0.19 [14]	∞
N-nitrosopiperidine	NPip	C ₅ H ₁₀ N ₂ O	100-75-4	N-N'O	0.63 [14]	7.7
N-nitrosodiphenylamine	NDPhA	C ₁₂ H ₁₀ N ₂ O	86-30-6		3.13 [15]	0.003
N-nitrosodiethylamine	NDEA	C ₄ H ₁₀ N ₂ O	55-18-5		0.48 [14]	10.6

Table 2.1: Structures and solubilities of the nine nitrosamines included in this study

N- nitrosomethylethylamine	NMEA	$C_3H_8N_2O$	10595-95-6		0.08 [16]	0.12
N-nitrosodipropylamine	NDPA	$C_6H_{14}N_2O$	621-64-7	N-N N-N	1.36 [14]	0.98
N-nitrosomorpholine	NMor	C ₄ H ₆ N ₂ O	59-89-2	O N-N O	-0.44 [14]	∞
N-nitrosodibutylamine	NDBA	C ₈ H ₁₈ N ₂ O	924-16-3		1.92 [14]	0.12

However, use of GC precludes the direct analysis of thermally unstable or non-volatile nitrosamines. With the majority of total organic nitrogen (TON) from disinfected drinking water currently unidentified [17], it is likely that some nitrosamines may be undetectable by GC because they are thermally unstable or non-volatile. While GC is an excellent technique for semi-volatile nitrosamines such as NDMA, new methodologies are required to obtain a more global understanding of nitrosamine composition in drinking water. A good example of this is N-nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA) which is included in the U.S. EPA Method 521 standard mix but is not included in the GC-MS method because it is thermally unstable and decomposes in the GC injector.

Liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry (LC-MS) is a technique gaining prominence in environmental analysis [18]. LC-MS can determine a wider range of analytes compared to GC-MS due to the liquid phase separation at room temperature and electrospray ionization (ESI) for MS detection. This is of particular interest, as it is suspected that non-volatile, thermally unstable, and/or higher molecular weight nitrosamines are formed during water disinfection that are not directly detectable by GC. In order for LC-based methods to be considered comparable with GC methods, they must be robust and sensitive to detect nitrosamines at low ng/L concentrations. This must be accomplished despite LC having a lower resolving capability than GC, a possible increase in matrix effects due to ESI, and the higher cost especially when combined with MS/MS instruments. However, LC-MS methods may be the key to providing a more complete picture of the speciation and concentration of nitrosamines in drinking

water, which is important considering the toxicological potency of nitrosamines (Chapter 1).

In order to characterize nitrosamine DBPs in drinking water, we developed a method combining SPE preconcentration and micro-column LC separation with tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) using multiple reaction monitoring (MRM). To ensure the method was comprehensive for both GCdetectable and undetectable nitrosamines, we included the nine nitrosamines of the U.S. EPA Method 521 mix which includes both GC-detectable (NDMA, NDEA, NMEA, NDPA, NMor, NPyr, NPip, NDBA) and one thermally unstable nitrosamine (NDPhA) which is not directly detectable by GC. As no previous LC-MS/MS based methods had been developed for analysis of nitrosamine DBPs in drinking water, it was important to include nitrosamines like NDMA, NMor and NPip to show that the method could detect already identified nitrosamine DBPs at relevant concentrations. NDPhA was selected as the example non-volatile nitrosamine for method development it was already part of the standard mix.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 General reagents

Methanol (AnalR grade) and dichloromethane (Omni-Solv grade) were purchased from VWR International (Mississauga, ON, Canada). Ammonium acetate (ACS reagent grade) and L-ascorbic acid (analytical grade) were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada). All other chemicals were of analytical grade and obtained from Fisher Scientific (Nepean, ON, Canada) unless otherwise indicated.

2.2.2 <u>Nine nitrosamine method</u>

2.2.2.1 Method specific reagents

A standard solution (10 μ g/mL each) containing the nine nitrosamines,

NDMA, NMEA, NPyr, NPip, NMor, NDEA, NDPA, NDBA, and NDPhA, was purchased from Supelco (Oakville, ON, Canada). The structures, cancer risk and solubilities of the nine nitrosamines are shown in Table 2.1. Isotope-labeled standards ([6-H²] N-nitrosodimethylamine, NDMA-d6, and [14-H²] N-nitrosodin-propylamine, NDPA-d14) (98%) were obtained from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories (Andover, MA, U.S.A.). The SPE packing materials, Ambersorb 572 (Rohm & Hass, Philadelphia, PA, U.S.A.) and LiChrolut EN (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), were obtained from Supelco and VWR International, respectively.

2.2.2.2 Standard solutions

A stock solution (1 μ g/mL) containing the nine N-nitrosamines was prepared in methanol and stored at 4 °C. Working solutions (5–200 μ g/L) were prepared with 1:1 methanol/water. Each working solution contained the surrogate standard NDMA-d6 (50 μ g/L) and the internal standard NDPA-d14 (50 μ g/L). All working solutions were freshly prepared prior to LC-MS/MS analysis.

The purity and stability of NDMA-d6 were determined by repeated analyses of NDMA-free water spiked with 40 ng/L of NDMA-d6. No NDMA (non-labeled) was detected using the SPE-LC-MS/MS (MRM) method described below. This confirmed that the NDMA determined was found only in the samples.

2.2.2.3 Extraction of Water Samples

Nitrosamines were extracted from water samples using a previously published method [5]. Briefly, the glass 6 mL SPE cartridges, fitted with a glass 'c' frit were packed with 350 mg of LiChrolut EN (bottom layer), 500 mg of Ambersorb 572 (middle), and glass wool (top). Ten packed SPE cartridges were loaded onto the top of a Visiprep Manifold (Supelco) and rinsed with 15 mL each of hexane and dichloromethane, and the residual organic solvents were removed under vacuum. The SPE cartridges were then conditioned with 15 mL each of methanol and water.

The pH of each 500 mL water sample was adjusted to pH 8 by the addition of 1 g of sodium bicarbonate. NDMA-d6 (100 μ L of 200 μ g/L) was then spiked into the sample (final concentration of 40 ng/L). The sample was passed through the SPE cartridge at a flow rate of 3–5 mL/min. The analytes absorbed on the SPE cartridge were eluted using 15 mL of dichloromethane. The organic eluent was collected and concentrated down to 200 μ L under a high purity nitrogen stream in a 40 °C water bath. After concentration, the internal standard NDPA-d14 (100 μ L of 200 μ g/L) was added to the extract (final concentration of 40 ng/L) prior to LC-MS/MS analysis. The extracts were stored at 4 °C and analyzed using LC-MS/MS within a week. Nitrosamine-free water blanks were extracted in each set to ensure all reagents were nitrosamine-free. Samples of 10 or 40 ng/L spiked water were also included in each extraction set to ensure accuracy. The surrogate standard, NDMA-d6, was used to determine recovery; the internal standard, NDPA-d14, was used for quantification.

The effect of dichloromethane and methanol on analyte elution from the SPE cartridges was also examined when a water (Optima grade) sample spiked with 40 ng/L of NDMA-d6 was analyzed. NDMA-d6 recovery was 75% when dichloromethane was used as the solvent, whereas recovery of NDMA-d6 was only 40% with methanol. Therefore, dichloromethane was used to elute the analytes from the SPE cartridge.

2.2.2.4 Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analysis

Analysis was performed using an Agilent 1100 capillary liquid chromatograph (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, U.S.A.) coupled directly to an API 4000 QTrap mass spectrometer (ABSciex, Concord, ON, Canada) with an ionspray ionization source. Analyst software for API 4000 QTrap was used for data acquisition and analysis. A Luna C₈ (2) capillary column (150 × 0.32 mm i.d., 5 μ m) (Phenomenex, Torrance, CA, U.S.A.) was used for separation. The mobile phase was composed of solvent A [10 mM ammonium acetate and 0.01% acetic acid in water (Optima grade)] and solvent B (100% methanol). The solvent gradient program consisted of 60% of solvent B for 1 min, increasing solvent B from 60% to 90% over 5 min, and returning back to 60% of solvent B over 0.1 min, followed by a 13-min re-equilibration prior to the next sample injection. The flow rate was 6 μ L/min. The sample injection volume was 1.2 μ L.

Both electrospray ionization (ESI) and atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) were examined for ionization of the target nitrosamines. ESI produced characteristic ions of the parent compounds and product ions for all nitrosamines, whereas APCI could not generate the parent ion for the thermally unstable nitrosamine NDPhA. The detection of both the parent and product ions is important for specific determination of nitrosamines at trace concentrations in water. Therefore, ESI was used to interface the LC with the mass spectrometer.

Positive ESI combined with the multiple-reaction monitoring (MRM) mode was used. The optimization of MS conditions was performed by infusing a mixture of N-nitrosamines (1 μ g/mL each in 10 mM ammonium acetate in 90% MeOH: 10% water) using a syringe pump. The optimal ionspray parameters were: curtain gas (N₂) at 10, ion-source gas 1 at 13, and ionspray voltage at 4500 V. The declustering potential (DP), collision energy (CE), and cell exit potential (CXP) were optimized for individual analytes (Table 2.2).

Nitrosamines	MRM transition	Declustering potential (DP)	Collision Energy (CE)	Cell exit potential (CXP)
NDMA	75/43	56	25	6
NDMA-d6	81/46	56	25	6
NMEA	89/61	51	17	8
NPyr	101/55	51	25	8
NDEA	103/75	46	17	12
NPip	115/69	56	23	10
NMor	117/87	51	17	14
NDPA	131/89	46	15	14
NDPA-d14	145/97	46	15	14
NDBA	159/103	51	23	8
NDPhA	199/169	51	17	10

 Table 2.2: Compound dependent parameters for the nine-nitrosamine method

Standard solutions of 5 to 200 μ g/L with NDPA-d14 (internal standard, 50 μ g/L) and NDMA-d6 (surrogate standard, 50 μ g/L) were analyzed. The relative response factors (RRFs) for the nine target nitrosamines and NDMA-d6 were

calculated based on the ratio of the relative peak area of the individual analytes to that of NDPA-d14. The reproducibility of RRFs was also determined. Routine quality control measures included the injection of a blank solution consisting of mobile phase to check for carry over after each sample, and a set of standard solutions of 5–200 μ g/L to calculate the RRFs of each compound before and after a set of authentic drinking water samples.

2.2.2.5 Collection and analysis of authentic water samples

Water samples were collected from four locations within one distribution system, in which surface water was treated by a combination of chloramination and UV. Samples were collected in 1 L amber bottles that had been previously solvent washed with dichloromethane and baked at 180 °C overnight. The caps were lined with PTFE. Prior to sample collection, taps were allowed to run for at least 5 min to flush the pipes. Then the bottles and caps were rinsed four times with tap water after which the sample was collected with zero headspace. Twenty mg/L L-ascorbic acid was added to quench the disinfectant residual. Bottles were stored on ice and transferred to 4 °C once they reached the laboratory. Trip blanks were prepared and analyzed along with the drinking water samples.

2.3 Results and Discussion

2.3.1 Development of the nine nitrosamine method

Analysis of nitrosamines in drinking water requires high sensitivity and specificity in order to detect these DBPs at the low ng/L concentrations at which they are typically found in drinking water. To achieve this, a SPE preconcentration step was combined with LC separation, and specific detection by MS/MS using MRM mode. To obtain the parent–product ion pairs for MRM detection, we first characterized the fragmentation behavior of the nine nitrosamines under MS/MS conditions (Figure 2.1). One major product ion was observed for each nitrosamine, which was used to generate an MRM transition for each nitrosamine.



Figure 2.1: MS/MS spectra of the nine nitrosamines showing their parent ion and characteristic product ion.

The specificity of MRM detection for each nitrosamine was further improved using LC separation, which allowed separation of interference molecules that could have the same MRM transition as the analyte of interest. Figure 2.2 shows the MRM chromatograms of NDPA (131/89) and NDPhA (199/169), when the extracts of a spiked pure water sample and an authentic drinking water sample were analyzed. In the spiked pure water sample, NDPA was detected at a retention time of 6.87 min. Analysis of the same MRM transition of the authentic water sample showed a peak at a retention time of 5.56 min. Spiking the standard into the sample extract confirmed that the peak at 5.56 min was not NDPA.

Similarly, the NDPhA standard (MRM transition 199/169) spiked in pure water was detected at retention time 7.94 min. However, MRM monitoring of transition 199/169 detected two peaks at 5.83 and 7.96 min in the authentic water sample extract. The peak at 7.96 min was identified as NDPhA based on the ion pair monitoring and retention time data. The other peak at 5.83 min was clearly separated from NDPhA, confirming that it is not NDPhA. These results demonstrate the importance and usefulness of the combination of LC separation with MS detection. Although the LC provides only partial separation of these nitrosamines, the retention times provide useful complementary information to MRM monitoring for identification of the analytes in the samples.



Figure 2.2: MRM chromatograms of a standard spiked Optima water extract and a drinking water sample showing the separation of NDPA and NDPhA from background interference. The standard concentration in the spiked Optima water sample was 5 ng/L of each nitrosamine.

The LC-MS/MS (MRM) method was further combined with SPE

preconcentration to determine trace levels of nitrosamines in drinking water. To test the developed method, 40 ng/L of both GC-detectable (NDMA, NMEA, NDEA, NMor, NPyr, NPip, NDPA, and NDBA) and GC-undetectable (NDPhA) nitrosamines were spiked into water samples and then analyzed using the SPE-LC-MS/MS method (Figure 2.3). All nine nitrosamines, plus the surrogate (NDMA-d6) and internal standard (NDPA-d14) were clearly visualized in the MRM chromatograms. Identification and quantification was achieved using the MRM transitions of each nitrosamine. The SPE method was successfully integrated with the LC-MS/MS detection, enabling ultra–sensitive determination of these nitrosamines.



Figure 2.3: Chromatograms of the nine nitrosamines obtained from an Optima water sample spiked with the nine standards and two internal standards under the optimized conditions.

2.3.2 Identification of new nitrosamine DBPs in drinking water

The optimized SPE-LC-MS/MS was used to identify nitrosamines in drinking water samples. Both source water and treated water samples from a water treatment plant were analyzed using the SPE-LC-MS/MS (MRM) method. Four of the nine nitrosamines, NDMA, NPyr, NPip, and NDPhA, were detected in the treated water samples but not in the source water samples. The other five nitrosamines were not detected in either the source water or the treated water samples. Figure 2.4 shows the chromatograms obtained by monitoring the MRM transitions of NDMA (75/43), NPyr (101/55), NPip (115/69), and NDPhA (199/169) from the analysis of a treated water sample.



Figure 2.4: Detection of NDMA, NPip, NPyr and NDPhA in a treated drinking water sample collected from a drinking water distribution system.

Based on the retention times and the mass-to-charge (m/z) ratios of the ions, these peaks were identified as NDMA (75/43), NPyr (101/55), NPip

(115/69), and NDPhA (199/169). The identification of these peaks was initially confirmed by analysis of spiked samples showing the same retention time match of the standards with the target analytes and by product ion mass spectral analysis. NDMA, NPyr, and NPip were also confirmed using the established GC-MS method [5]. GC-MS is not able to analyze NDPhA directly due to thermal decomposition of this nitrosamine in the GC injector. The presence of NDPhA as a consequence of the water disinfection process was confirmed by analyzing pure water blanks, source water, and treated water samples, and comparing them with the standard (Figure 2.5). NDPhA was detected only in treated water collected from the distribution system but not in the blanks and the source water. This confirms NDPhA as a product of disinfection. Similar results were also obtained for NDMA, NPyr, and NPip. The results suggest that NDPhA, NDMA, NPyr, and NPip resulted from disinfection processes.



Figure 2.5: Determination of NDPhA in (A) blank, (B) source water, (C) treated water sample collected from the water treatment plant, (D) treated water sample collected from a location in the distribution system, and (E) NDPhA standard.

2.3.3 Quantification of nitrosamines in water

The key analytical parameters for quantification, including recoveries, method detection limits (MDLs), and relative response factors (RRFs) for the nine nitrosamines, are summarized in Table 2.4. The recoveries of the nine nitrosamines were obtained from triplicate analyses, when spiked samples containing 10 and 40 ng/L (each) of the nine standards in Optima water were extracted by SPE and analyzed by LC-MS/MS. The average recoveries ranged from 64.6% for NMor to 111% for NDPhA at 40 ng/L and from 41% for NPyr to 96% for NDBA at 10 ng/L. The recovery of NDMA-d6 at spiked concentration as low as 10 ng/L was 63% with a standard deviation of 6%. The MDLs of the nine compounds by the SPE-LC-MS/MS method were 0.2–3.1 ng/L (except 10.6 ng/L for NDEA), obtained from duplicate extractions of samples containing 10 ng/L and triplicate LC-MS/MS analyses of each extracts. These results are comparable with those obtained by GC-MS [5]. The excellent method detection limits make the ultra-trace analysis of nitrosamines possible.

uu					
Nitrosamine	MRM transition	RRF ^a (mean + SD)	Recove (mean	MDL ^c	
	ti ansition	(incan'± SD)	40 ng/L	10 ng/L	- (IIg/L)
NDMA-d6	81/46	0.23 ± 0.02	77 ± 5	63 ± 6	N.A.
NDMA	75/43	0.17 ± 0.01	78 ± 6	42 ± 10	3.1
NMEA	89/61	0.67 ± 0.04	75 ± 2	77 ± 8	2.4
NPyr	101/55	2.49 ± 0.28	82 ± 7	41 ± 7	2.1
NDEA	103/75	0.39 ± 0.01	93 ± 1	<mdl< td=""><td>10.6^d</td></mdl<>	10.6 ^d
NPip	115/69	3.50 ± 0.11	105 ± 9	81 ± 3	0.9
NMor	117/87	1.10 ± 0.10	65 ± 7	69 ± 7	0.2
NDPA	131/89	1.61 ± 0.12	82 ± 6	65 ± 6	0.2
NDBA	159/103	0.88 ± 0.07	76 ± 9	96 ± 6	3.1
NDPhA	199/169	4.75 ± 0.28	111 ± 3	56 ± 5	0.1

Table 2.3: Relative response factors (RRF), recovery and method detection limit (MDL) of the nine N-nitrosamines and the surrogate standard NDMAd6

N.A. = Not Applicable

<MDL = Below the method detection limit

^a The RRF is the average of six values obtained from different concentrations ranging from 5 to 200 μ g/L.

^b Recovery values were the mean of the triplicate analyses of spiked water samples containing either 40 or 10 ng/L.

^c MDL was obtained from duplicate SPE extractions of water samples containing 10 ng/L nitrosamines and triplicate LC-MS/MS analysis of each SPE extract.

^d MDL for NDEA was estimated from the analysis of a water sample spiked with 40 ng/L NDEA.

2.3.4 <u>Distribution of four nitrosamine DBPs in a drinking water distribution</u> <u>system</u>

Having detected four nitrosamines in the treated water samples, we further

investigated the distribution of these nitrosamines in this distribution system.

Water samples were collected from the water treatment plant and three other

locations within the same distribution system (Distribution 1 to 3). The locations

are numbered in order of increasing distance from the water plant. Being the

furthest away from the water plant, Distribution 3 represents the longest residence

time in this distribution system. Table 2.5 shows the concentrations of NDMA,

NPyr, NPip, and NDPhA in water samples collected at the four locations.

Locations	Concentration (ng/L) (mean ± SD)						
	NDMA	NPyr	NPip	NDPhA			
Water treatment plant	<mdl< td=""><td>18.0 ± 1.1</td><td>33.1 ± 0.3</td><td><mdl< td=""></mdl<></td></mdl<>	18.0 ± 1.1	33.1 ± 0.3	<mdl< td=""></mdl<>			
Distribution 1	51.7 ± 4.7	47.2 ± 1.5	59.8 ± 1.1	0.65 ± 0.05			
Distribution 2	65.0 ± 2.7	43.9 ± 3.2	59.8 ± 5.6	1.86 ± 0.13			
Distribution 3	108.2 ± 11.7	70.5 ± 5.1	117.8 ± 6.2	0.85 ± 0.01			

Table 2.4: Concentrations of NDMA, NPyr, NPip and NDPhA in a water distribution system.

Note: Distribution 1–3 are increasing distance from the water treatment plant. <MDL = Below the method detection limit

In general, their concentrations increase with the distance from the water plant. This is probably because these nitrosamines are produced both during the initial water treatment at the plant and within the distribution system. Water treatment systems are required to maintain a disinfectant residual within the distribution system. Because of the presence of the residual disinfectant and natural organic matter in the water, DBPs may continue to form in the distribution system. Therefore, the concentrations of the observed nitrosamines increase initially with the distance from the water plant. This increase reaches a maximum because both formation and decomposition of DBPs take place. As is observed in Table 2.4, the concentration of NDPhA initially increases from the Water Treatment Plant to Distribution 1 and 2 and then decreases when it reaches Distribution 3.

2.4 Conclusions

The developed MRM-LC-MS/MS method provides high sensitivity, specificity, and the capability of detecting both GC-detectable and non-detectable nitrosamines. Using this method, four nitrosamine DBPs were detected (NDMA, NPyr, NPip, and NDPhA). NPip and NDPhA have not been previously reported as DBPs. Our laboratory had previously detected NDMA in this water system, and we observed NMor and NPyr in the treated water samples at levels close to the limit of detection by the GC-MS method [5]. We have clearly demonstrated that LC-MS/MS is comparable with GC-MS techniques for GC-detectable nitrosamines like NDMA. In addition, the detection of NDPhA shows that a wider range of nitrosamines can also be detected using LC-MS/MS, demonstrating that it is a powerful tool for the analysis of nitrosamines in drinking water.

2.5 References

- 1. Shah, K. A.; Karnes, H. T. A review of the analysis of tobacco-specific nitrosamines in biological matrices. *Crit. Rev. Toxicol.* **2010**, *40*, (4), 305-327.
- 2. Crews, C. The determination of N-nitrosamines in food. *Qual. Assur. Saf. Crops Foods* **2010**, *2*, (1), 2-12.
- 3. Munch, J. W.; Bassett, M. V. Determination of nitrosamines in drinking water by solid phase extraction and capillary column gas chromatography with large volume injection and chemical ionization tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS). Method 521, Version 1; National Exposure Research Laboratory, Office of Research and Development, United States Environmental Protection Agency: Cincinnati, OH, 2004; pp 47.
- 4. Taguchi, V.; Jenkins, S. D. W.; Wang, D. T.; Palmentier, J. P. F. P.; Reiner, E. J. Determination of N-nitrosodimethylamine by isotopedilution, high-resolution mass-spectrometry. *Can. J. Appl. Spectroscopy* **1994**, *39*, (3), 87-93.
- 5. Charrois, J. W. A.; Arend, M. W.; Froese, K. L.; Hrudey, S. E. Detecting *N*-nitrosamines in drinking water at nanogram per liter levels using ammonia positive chemical ionization. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, (18), 4835-4841.
- 6. Raksit, A.; Johri, S. Determination of N-nitrosodimethylamine in environmental aqueous samples by isotope-dilution GC/MS-SIM. *J. AOAC Int.* **2001**, *84*, (5), 1413-1419.
- Wilczak, A.; Assadi-Rad, A.; Lai, H. H.; Hoover, L. L.; Smith, J. F.; Berger, R.; Rodigari, F.; Beland, J. W.; Lazzelle, L. J.; Kinicannon, E. G.; Baker, H.; Heaney, C. T. Formation of NDMA in chloraminated water coagulated with DADMAC cationic polymer. *J. - Am. Water Works Assoc.* 2003, 95, (9), 94-106.
- 8. Cheng, R. C.; Hwang, C. J.; Andrews-Tate, C.; Guo, Y. B.; Carr, S.; Suffet, I. H. Alternative methods for the analysis of NDMA and other nitrosamines in water. *J. - Am. Water Works Assoc.* **2006**, *98*, (12), 82-96.
- 9. Mitch, W. A.; Gerecke, A. C.; Sedlak, D. L. A N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) precursor analysis for chlorination of water and wastewater. *Water Res.* **2003**, *37*, (15), 3733-3741.
- 10. Choi, J.; Valentine, R. L. A kinetic model of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation during water chlorination/chloramination. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2002**, *46*, (3), 65-71.

- 11. Jurado-Sánchez, B.; Ballesteros, E.; Gallego, M. Comparison of the sensitivities of seven N-nitrosamines in pre-screened waters using an automated preconcentration system and gas chromatography with different detectors. *J. Chromatogr. A* **2007**, *1154*, (1-2), 66-73.
- 12. Unregulated contaminant monitoring regulation (UCMR) for public water systems revisions. *Fed. Regist.* **2005,** *70*, (161), 49094-49138.
- Druckrey, H.; Preussman, R.; Ivankovi, S.; Schmahl, D.; Afkham, J.; Blum, G.; Mennel, H. D.; Muller, M.; Petropou, P.; Schneide, H. Organotrope carcinogene wirkungen bei 65 verschiedenen N-nitrosoverbindungen an BD-ratten. Z. Krebsforsch. 1967, 69, (2), 103-201.
- 14. Singer, G. M.; Taylor, H. W.; Lijinsky, W. Liposolubility as an aspect of nitrosamine carcinogenicity: Quantitative correlations and qualitative observations. *Chem.-Biol. Interact.* **1977**, *19*, (2), 133-142.
- 15. Banerjee, S.; Yalkowsky, S. H.; Valvani, C. Water solubility and octanol/water partition coefficients of organics. Limitations of the solubility-partition coefficient correlation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1980**, *14*, (10), 1227-1229.
- 16. Vera, A.; Montes, M.; Usero, J. L.; Casado, J. Quantitative structure activity relationship study of the biophysicochemical behavior of nitrosamine. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **1992**, *81*, 791-796.
- Kulshrestha, P.; McKinstry, K. C.; Fernandez, B. O.; Feelisch, M.; Mitch, W. A. Application of an optimized total N-nitrosamine (TONO) assay to pools: Placing N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) determinations into perspective. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2010, 44, (9), 3369-3375.
- 18. Richardson, S. D. Environmental mass spectrometry: Emerging contaminants and current issues. *Anal. Chem.* **2012**, *84*, (2), 747-778.

3 OCCURRENCE OF NINE N-NITROSAMINES IN THIRTY-EIGHT DRINKING WATER SYSTEMS IN CANADA AND THE U.S.A.^{*}

3.1 Introduction

For a DBP to be a candidate for the increased bladder cancer risk observed in epidemiology studies, its occurrence must be widespread enough to expose large numbers of people. In most parts of the world, consumers receive their water from a relatively local source that is treated at a local water treatment plant. Every source water is slightly different in terms of water quality and precursor composition. Similarly, every water treatment plant uses different combinations of treatment processes to produce tap water. This results in every tap water having slightly different composition and concentration of DBPs. This was clearly demonstrated when treated water from two water treatment plants (WTPs) using the same source water was tested [1] for the presence of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA). NDMA concentrations detected in the distribution system from one plant averaged around 100 ng/L over a period of two years, but were always below 5 ng/L in the treated water from the second plant. This shows the importance of monitoring of individual water systems and the need for occurrence studies to determine the population exposure to certain DBPs.

^{*} Parts of this chapter have been published

Boyd, J.M., Zhao, Y.Y., Wagner, M, Qin, F., Levallois, P., Legay, C., Charrois, J.W.A., Richardson, S.D., Hrudey, S.E., Li, X.F. Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry determination of N-nitrosodiphenylamine and N-nitrosodimethylamine in thirty-eight drinking water systems. Proceedings of the International Water Association's Biannual Water Congress, Montreal, Quebec Sept 2010.

Reprinted from *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 30/9, J.M. Boyd, S.E. Hrudey, X.-F. Li, S.D. Richardson, Solid-phase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatography mass spectrometry analysis of nitrosamines in treated drinking water and wastewater, 1410-1421, Copyright (2011), with permission from Elsevier

Although NDMA was first identified as a DBP in Ontario in 1989 [2], it was not until it was identified again in California in 1998 [3] that interest in nitrosamines as DBPs became widespread. However, outside of Ontario (which instituted an NDMA monitoring program in 1988), it was not known how common NDMA was in drinking water, or if any other nitrosamines formed as DBPs. In 2001, a North American survey of NDMA in drinking water found that a majority of systems tested had NDMA concentrations below 2 ng/L [4]. However, certain systems had elevated NDMA concentrations, particularly in the distribution systems. In 2004, Charrois et al. detected NDMA in a drinking water system in Alberta, Canada, at 180 ng/L, which at that time was the highest NDMA concentration ever detected in drinking water not contaminated with rocket fuel [5]. In addition, two new nitrosamines (NPyr and NMor) were also detected in the same drinking water system at low ng/L concentrations. A followup survey of Alberta drinking water in 2006 [6] found that NDMA was the most commonly detected nitrosamine; however, NMor was also detected, signaling the formation of nitrosamines other than NDMA. Ontario and California both have drinking water surveillance programs for NDMA based on provincial and state regulations, but these programs provide data for limited geographical areas. Overall, most nitrosamine occurrence studies have measured only NDMA concentrations. Only some looked at the other GC-detectable nitrosamines included in the U.S. EPA Method 521. It is uncertain whether these studies adequately describe the exposure of consumers to nitrosamines in tap water.

There are several reasons why determining the occurrence of nitrosamines in drinking water is potentially important. Firstly, nitrosamines are much more potent carcinogens than currently regulated DBPs such as THMs and HAAs. Therefore they may be capable of causing health effects at very low concentrations, possibly at the concentrations at which they are typically found in drinking water. For example, the U.S. EPA has set its 1 in 1,000,000 upperbound lifetime cancer risk estimate at 0.7 ng/L of NDMA in drinking water [7] (Table 1.1). Therefore, even low ng/L concentrations may be important. Secondly, it is suspected that nitrosamine concentrations, particularly in U.S. drinking water, may be increasing due to 20-30% of U.S. water treatment plants switching from chlorine to chloramine for disinfection. This switch has come as WTPs try to comply with the U.S. EPA's Stage 2 Disinfectants and DBP Rule which sets maximum contaminant levels for four trihalomethanes (THM4) and five haloacetic acids (HAA5) [8]. Changing disinfection from chlorine to chloramine has been shown to be effective in reducing the concentrations of THMs and HAAs which are regulated under the Stage 2 rule. However, chloramination has been associated with producing higher concentrations of certain groups of DBPs, such as nitrosamines [9] and iodo-DBPs [10], that are more toxic than the currently regulated DBPs. Therefore the reduction of regulated DBPs may result in higher concentrations of more toxic DBPs being produced, which provides an additional challenge for risk assessment.

Based on the Charrois *et al.* study [6], it is possible that NDMA will comprise a large part of nitrosamine exposure from drinking water. However, it is

uncertain how many other nitrosamines also form during water disinfection. A few have been identified, but the focus has remained squarely on the nine nitrosamines in U.S. EPA Method 521, although justification for the selection of these nine nitrosamines is missing and uncertain. With the development of new high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) methods, including the one described in Chapter 2, other thermally unstable nitrosamines can now be detected [11]. Using these methods, Nnitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA), a thermally unstable nitrosamine, has been detected in a drinking water distribution system in Alberta; however, no information is available on the extent of NDPhA occurrence in drinking water. Other nitrosamines, including ones that have not yet been identified, may also be toxicologically relevant when considering total nitrosamine exposure from drinking water, but very little is known about the occurrence of nitrosamines other than NDMA.

In the present study we investigated the concentrations of nine *N*nitrosamines in 38 drinking water systems in Canada and the U.S.A. In particular, we determined NDPhA concentrations in drinking water systems in order to better understand human exposure and potential health concerns. In addition, we examined whether there were any differences in nitrosamine formation due to different treatment processes based on the water treatment plants studied.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Reagents

A standard solution containing nine nitrosamines (NDMA, NDEA,

NMEA, NDPA, NMor, NPip, NPyr, NDBA and NDPhA) (Table 3.1) was obtained from Supelco (Oakville, ON, Canada). Isotopically labeled standards ([6-H²] N-nitrosodimethylamine, NDMA-d6, and [14-H²] N-nitrosodi-npropylamine, NDPA-d14 (98%) were obtained from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories (Andover, MA, U.S.A.). The solid phase extraction (SPE) packing materials, Ambersorb 572 (Rohm & Haas, Philadelphia, PA, U.S.A.) and LiChrolut EN (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), were obtained from Supelco and VWR International (Mississauga, ON, Canada), respectively. Methanol (AnalR grade) and dichloromethane (Omni-Solv grade) were purchased from VWR International. Ammonium acetate (ACS reagent grade) was supplied by Sigma Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada). All other chemicals were of analytical grade and were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Nepean, ON, Canada) unless otherwise indicated.

Nitrosamine	Abbrev.	Molecular formula	Structure
N-nitrosodimethylamine	NDMA	$C_2H_6N_2O$	N-N N-N
N-nitrosopyrrolidine	NPyr	$C_4H_8N_2O$	
N-nitrosopiperidine	NPip	$C_{5}H_{10}N_{2}O$	N-N'O
N-nitrosodiphenylamine	NDPhA	$C_{12}H_{10}N_2O$	
N-nitrosodiethylamine	NDEA	$C_4H_{10}N_2O$	
N-nitrosomethylethylamine	NMEA	$C_3H_8N_2O$	
N-nitrosodipropylamine	NDPA	$C_6H_{14}N_2O$	
N-nitrosomorpholine	NMor	$C_4H_6N_2O$	
N-nitrosodibutylamine	NDBA	C ₈ H ₁₈ N ₂ O	

 Table 3.1: Structures of the nine nitrosamines investigated in this study

3.2.2 <u>Sample collection</u>

Water samples (237 total) were collected from 38 drinking water systems in Canada and the U.S.A. between May 2006 and August 2007. Water systems were primarily chosen for sampling based on their use of chloramine as a disinfectant, as chloramination potentially increases nitrosamine formation and is commonly used. Systems using chlorination and combinations of chlorine and ozone were included for comparison. Also included in the study were systems that have previously had high nitrosamine concentrations to allow for temporal evaluation, as well as some systems that had not been previously tested for nitrosamines. In addition, systems were only included if willing to participate in the study. Some systems were simultaneously sampled for an iodo-DBP occurrence study [12].

In addition to the treated drinking water samples, several controls were also analyzed, including 32 pure water (Optima Grade) samples, 32 spiking controls, and 25 filter and trip blanks. Sample types collected included raw water, treated water at the WTP and at one or two points within the distribution system. Each system was sampled once within the study period. Specifically, samples of the raw water (source water), treated water at the WTP and from one or two locations within the distribution system were collected from 12 systems (1, 13, 25, 27, 30, 31, 32, 34, 35, 36, 37, and 38). Samples of raw water and treated water at the WTP were obtained from 16 systems (2, 3, 4, 6, 8, 9, 10, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 22, 24, and 28). Samples of raw water and treated water at one distribution point were obtained from 6 locations (7, 11, 19, 20, 21, and 23). Samples from one distribution point were obtained from 4 systems (5, 26, 29, and 33).

The raw water samples collected from 34 out of 38 systems were used to assess raw water quality parameters including pH, turbidity, total organic carbon (TOC), UV absorbance at 254 nm (UV A254), specific UV absorbance (SUVA), and total nitrogen (TN) according to standard methods [13]. Table 3.2 summarizes the raw water quality results, water source, and the population served for each system.

System Number	Population served	Water Source	TOC (mg/L)	TN (µg/L)	UV A254 (cm ⁻¹)	SUVA (L/mg-m)	pН	
Chloramine disinfection								
1	5000-50,000	Surface	17.4	1490	NA	NA	NA	
2	5000-50,000	Surface	5.3	NA	0.188	3.5	8.5	
3	5000-50,000	Surface	3.3	NA	0.097	2.9	8.1	
4	>50,000	Surface	5.6	NA	0.234	4.1	7.7	
5	5000-50,000	Surface	NA	NA	NA	NA	7.1	
6	>50,000	Surface	5.1	NA	0.174	3.4	8.1	
7	>50,000	Surface	5.1	NA	0.123	2.4	7.9	
8	>50,000	Ground	NA	NA	0.621	NA	7.5	
9	>50,000	Surface	5.2	NA	0.123	2.3	7.5	
10	>50,000	Surface	3.3	NA	0.100	3.0	8.0	
11	>50,000	Surface	16.1	NA	0.625	3.9	7.4	
12	>50,000	Surface	5.1	NA	0.177	3.5	7.0	
13	>50,000	Surface	3.4	NA	0.110	3.2	7.7	
14	>50,000	Surface	3.9	NA	0.085	2.2	8.1	
15	5000-50,000	Surface	4.2	NA	0.203	4.9	8.4	
16	>50,000	Surface	2.9	NA	0.119	4.1	8.0	
17	5000-50,000	Ground	5.0	NA	0.174	3.5	8.2	
18	>50,000	Ground	6.1	NA	0.252	4.2	7.4	
19	>50,000	Surface	3.2	NA	0.114	3.6	7.7	
20	>50,000	Surface	0.7	NA	0.011	1.6	7.9	
21	>50,000	Surface	4.2	NA	0.203	4.9	8.4	

Table 3.2: Water source, population served and raw water quality parameters of the 38 water systems studied

22	>50,000	Surface	3.2	NA	0.111	3.4	7.8	
23	>50,000	Ground	1.4	NA	0.062	4.6	7.0	
24	>50,000	Surface	2.6	NA	0.074	2.9	7.7	
Chlorine disinfection								
25	5000-50,000	Surface	5.6	366	0.566	NA	8.2	
26	5000-50,000	Ground	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	
27	5000-50,000	Surface	4.0	326	0.514	NA	8.2	
28	>50,000	Surface	3.5	NA	0.044	1.3	8.3	
29	<5000	Ground	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	
30	>50,000	Surface	3.6	133	0.610	NA	7.0	
31	>50,000	Surface	8.2	331	NA	NA	NA	
32	5000-50,000	Surface	4.9	169	0.858	NA	7.4	
33	<5000	Ground	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	
Chlorine then a	zone disinfection							
34	5000-50,000	Surface	7.4	719	1.255	NA	7.9	
35	5000-50,000	Surface	4.1	312	0.533	NA	8.3	
Ozone then chlorine disinfection								
36	>50,000	Surface	5.1	464	1.066	NA	7.3	
37	>50,000	Surface	5.1	176	1.08	NA	7.0	
38	>50,000	Surface	4.0	300	0.521	NA	8.1	

NA = data not available.
Water samples for nitrosamine analysis were collected in 1-L amber glass bottles with PTFE lined caps. Prior to sample collection all bottles were washed, then rinsed with dichloromethane and baked at 180 °C overnight. Bottles were rinsed with tap water before being filled completely with zero headspace. Most samples had 0.1 g ascorbic acid added to quench the disinfectant residual. Samples were placed on ice until they reached the laboratory after which they were stored at 4 °C until extraction. Some samples did not have ascorbic acid added after collection as they were collected as part of a larger study [12]. These samples were shipped overnight on ice to the laboratory and extracted the following day. Samples that had ascorbic acid added to them were also extracted as soon as possible after their arrival. Sample analysis using LC-MS/MS occurred within one month of extraction for most samples. A few were analyzed within two months due to a large number of samples collected at the same time and to instrument maintenance.

3.2.3 <u>Nitrosamine extraction</u>

Raw water samples were filtered through pre-baked glass microfibre filters (G/F, Whatman, particle retention >0.7 μ m) to remove particulates that may clog the SPE materials. Extraction [5] and LC analysis [11] methods have been previously described in detail. Briefly, glass SPE cartridges were handpacked with a layer of Lichrolut EN (350 mg) underneath a layer of Ambersorb 572 (500 mg) and capped by a glass wool plug. Five hundred mL of each water sample was spiked with the first internal standard (100 μ L of 40 μ g/mL NDMAd6) and then was passed through an SPE cartridge. The first internal standard was

used to assess recovery of NDMA and as quality control for each set of extractions. Once the water had completely passed through, the cartridge was air dried and the nitrosamines eluted using 15 mL of dichloromethane. The eluant was concentrated under a stream of high purity nitrogen gas in a 40 °C water bath using a Turbovap II evaporation system (Caliper Life Sciences, Hopkinton, MA, U.S.A.) to approximately 200 μ L (avoiding dryness), after which the second internal standard was spiked in (100 μ L of 40 μ g/mL NDPA-d14). The second internal standard was used to correct for instrument response. The extract was stored in a glass insert (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, U.S.A.) inside a 2 mL amber vial with a PTFE lined cap (Agilent Technologies) at 4 °C until analysis. Pure water blanks (Omni-Solv grade water) and nitrosamine spiked samples were extracted along with authentic water samples for each set of extractions.

3.2.4 Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry analysis

An Agilent 1100 capillary liquid chromatograph (Agilent Technologies) coupled with an API 4000 QTrap mass spectrometer (ABSciex, Concord, ON, Canada) was used to analyze nitrosamines using the conditions that were developed in Chapter 2 [11]. The method detection limits (MDLs) for the nine nitrosamines were determined using a previously published method [14]. The MDLs were calculated to be: NDMA = 2.4 ng/L (standard deviation (SD) = 0.9), NDPhA = 0.11 ng/L (SD = 0.2 ng/L) and NMor = 0.07 ng/L (SD = 0.03). A separate NDMA MDL was calculated for Systems 1, 5, 26, 29, 31, and 33 as the MDL calculated for this set of samples was different from the rest of the survey

(NDMA = 5.2 ± 2.1 ng/L). NDMA-d6 was used to assess NDMA recovery for quality control of each set of extractions. The average NDMA-d6 recovery was 80 \pm 6% (n=9). NDPhA recovery was assessed by the analysis of a series of spiked samples ranging in concentration from 2.5–250 µg/L. The average NDPhA extraction efficiency was determined to be 61 ± 3 % (n=9).

3.3 **Results and Discussion**

The raw water and treated water at different points within the distribution systems were collected wherever allowed. The concentrations of nitrosamines in the raw water were compared to those at the WTP and in the distribution systems to assess the concentration variations in the distribution systems and to confirm that the nitrosamines detected were due to disinfection. Raw water samples were collected from 34 systems and their quality parameters, including pH, turbidity, total organic carbon (TOC), UV absorbance at 254 nm (UV A254), specific UV absorbance (SUVA), and total nitrogen (TN) were obtained. Table 3.2 summarizes general information on the types of source water (ground water and surface water), the population served, and the raw water quality parameters.

Investigation of samples from the 38 drinking water systems showed the presence of NMor and NDPhA in addition to NDMA. As shown in Table 3.3, NMor was detected at the WTP of system 20 with a concentration of 2.4 ng/L and NDPhA was quantified in Systems 1, 11, 23, 33 and 35 with concentrations ranging from 0.19 to 1.8 ng/L. The TOC of raw water from systems 1, 11, and 35 were 17.6, 16.1, and 4.1 mg/L respectively, which are generally higher than those of the other raw water samples, suggesting that higher TOC may partly contribute

to NDPhA formation. This is the first study demonstrating the occurrence of NDPhA in drinking water because NDPhA is thermally unstable and cannot be measured with existing GC-MS methods.

(111101) concentrations detected in 0 of 50 drinking water systems						
Water System Number	ater System Sampling Imber Location		$\frac{\text{NDPhA}}{(\text{ng/L} \pm \text{SD}^{a})}$			
Chloramine disinfection						
1	Distribution 1	< 0.07	0.26 ± 0.09^{d}			
1	Distribution 2 <0.07		1.8 ± 0.5^{d}			
11	WTP	$< 0.07^{b}$	0.30^{b}			
20	WTP	$2.2 \pm 0.35^{\circ}$	< 0.11 ^c			
23	WTP	$< 0.07^{\circ}$	$0.60 \pm 0.35^{\circ}$			
Chlorine disinfection						
33	Distribution	< 0.07	0.70 ± 0.05			
Chlorine then ozone disinfection						
35	Distribution	< 0.07	0.19 ± 0.06			

Table 3.3: N-nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA) and N-nitrosomorpholine(NMor) concentrations detected in 6 of 38 drinking water systems

Samples were extracted in triplicate unless otherwise indicated.

^aSD=standard deviation. Standard deviation indicates triplicate extraction of one sample.

^bSamples extracted once.

^cSamples extracted in duplicate.

^dTwo locations were sampled from the distribution system 1

WTP = Water treatment plant

Table 3.4 summarizes NDMA concentrations detected in raw source

water, finished drinking water samples collected at the WTPs, and finished

drinking water samples from the distribution systems. NDMA was detected in

several finished drinking water samples collected at the WTPs at concentrations

ranging from non-detectable to 29.0 ng/L, and in the distribution systems at

concentrations ranging from non-detectable to 130 ng/L (Table 3.4). Nine out of

38 systems (24%) had NDMA concentrations above the California Notification

Level of 10 ng/L [15]. The highest NDMA concentrations detected in this study were in the treated water samples from theWTP (29 ng/L) and distribution system (87.4 and 130 ng/L) taken from System 1. While these concentrations are up to 13 times the California Notification Level, they do not exceed California's Response Level for NDMA of 300 ng/L (30 times the notification level) [16]. The Response Level is the concentration at which the California Department of Public Health recommends taking the water source out of service. These results are comparable to two previous studies that found most water systems had NDMA below the 10 ng/L level, but there are a few water systems with elevated NDMA [4, 6]. NDMA was found in treated ground water. NDMA was detected in a few raw water samples (2, 9, 25, 27, 32 and 38), at concentrations of 2.9, 4.7, 9.4, 4.2, 4.2, and 4.7 ng/L, respectively.

	NDMA \pm SD (ng/L) ^{a,b,c}				
Location		Water			
Location	Source	Treatment	Distribution		
		Plant (WTP)			
Chloramine d	lisinfection				
1	$< 5.4^{d}$	29 + 5	87 ± 24^{e}		
1			$130 \pm 17^{\circ}$		
2	2.9 ⁶	$27.5 \pm 2.1^{\circ}$	NA		
3	<2.4°	$21.5 \pm 0.7^{\circ}$	NA		
4	<2.4°	$21.0 \pm 0^{\circ}$	NA		
5	NA	NA	19 ± 10		
6	<2.4	$14.0 \pm 1.4^{\circ}$	NA		
7	<2.4 ^b	NA	$9.6 \pm 0.6^{\circ}$		
8	<2.4 ^b	$9.5 \pm 2.1^{\circ}$	NA		
9	4.7 ^b	$8.8 \pm 1.8^{\circ}$	NA		
10	<2.4 ^b	$8.0 \pm 1.6^{\circ}$	NA		
11	<2.4 ^b	NA	$8.2 \pm 0.1^{\circ}$		
12	<2.4 ^b	$7.5 \pm 1.4^{\circ}$	NA		
13	<2.4 ^b	$7.3 \pm 0.8^{\circ}$	<2.4 ^c		
14	<2.4 ^b	$7.1 \pm 01.2^{\circ}$	NA		
15	NA	$5.8 \pm 1.2^{\circ}$	NA		
16	<2.4 ^b	$5.5 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$	NA		
17	<2.4 ^b	$5.4 \pm 1.4^{\circ}$	NA		
18	<2.4 ^b	$3.9 \pm 0.8^{\circ}$	NA		
19	<2.4 ^b	NA	4.9 ± 1.7^{c}		
20	<2.4 ^b	NA	$4.8 \pm 2.3^{\circ}$		
21	<2.4 ^b	NA	<2.4 ^c		
22	<2.4 ^b	<2.4 ^c	NA		
23	<2.4 ^b	NA	<2.4 ^c		
24	<2.4 ^b	<2.4 ^c	NA		
Chlorine disinfection					
25	0.1 ± 8.2	17 ± 2	20 ± 4^{e}		
25	9.4 ± 0.2	17 ± 2	13 ± 2^{e}		
26	NA	NA	17 ± 1		
27	4.2 ± 2.8	$4.7 \pm 2.1^{\circ}$	$6.3 \pm 5.8^{\circ}$ $5.2^{b,e}$		
28	<2.4 ^b	$5.5 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$	NA		
29	NA	NA	<5.4 ^d		
30	4.2 ± 3.7	<2.4	<2.4 ^e <2.4 ^e		

Table 3.4: N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) concentrations detected in samples collected from 38 drinking water systems using chloramination, chlorination or combinations of chlorine and ozone for disinfection.

31	<5.4 ^{c,e}	<5.4 ^e	<5.4 ^d		
32	<2.4	3.2 ± 4.5	<2.4 ^e <2.4 ^{b,e}		
33	NA	NA	<5.4 ^d		
Chlorine then Ozone disinfection					
34	<2.4	<2.4	<2.4 ^e		
54	<u>\</u> ∠. \	`2.7	<2.4 ^e		
35	<2.4	4</td <td><2.4^e</td>	<2.4 ^e		
55	-2.1	·2.1	<2.4 ^e		
Ozone then Chlorine disinfection					
36	<2.4	<2.4 ^d	$\frac{12.1 \pm 4.2^{c,e}}{< 2.4^{b,e}}$		
37	<2.4	3.5 ± 3.3	6.3 ± 1.1^{e} <2.4 ^e		
38	4.7 ± 4.1	2.5 ± 4.3	<2.4 ^{b,e} <2.4; 4.0 ^{c,e}		

^aStandard deviation indicates triplicate extraction of one sample. Samples are in triplicate extraction unless otherwise indicated.

^bIndicates single extraction

^cIndicates duplicate extraction

^dSamples were collected from two locations within the distribution system. The sampling location closest to the WTP is listed first.

^eThe method detection limit for systems 1, 5, 26, 29, and 31–33 was 5.4 versus 2.4 for the other systems.

NA= samples from these locations were not available.

Concentration variations within distribution systems were further

examined in systems in which samples were collected from both the WTP and the

distribution system (12 of 38 systems). In systems where two locations within the

distribution system were sampled, the samples are ordered so that the location

closest to the WTP is listed first (Table 3.4). The relative distance represents

relative residence time in the distribution system. NDMA concentrations

increased with the increase of the relative distance from the WTP in System 1

(Table 3.4), which is consistent with our previous observations of this system [5,

17]. Decreases in NDMA concentrations in the distribution system were observed in Systems 13 and 32. The NDMA concentrations detected in the distribution system samples of Systems 25 and 37 were different depending on the sampling location. These findings indicate that NDMA concentrations can change dramatically in the distribution system, indicating that nitrosamine concentrations at the WTPs are inadequate to estimate the exposure of consumers to NDMA in tap water. Therefore, it is necessary to sample different points within the distribution systems for exposure assessment.

Figure 3.1 summarizes NDMA concentrations in the WTP and distribution system obtained from three separate studies of System 1 conducted from 2003 to 2007 [1, 5, 6, 11]. These measurements consistently show 5 to 6 times higher NDMA in the distribution system than at the WTP, confirming the need to sample both WTP and distribution water for NDMA exposure assessment. The highest concentration of NDMA in a distribution system ever reported was from a water sample collected from this system in July 2003 (180 ng/L) [5]. Since then, NDMA concentrations have been reduced after modification of several water treatment processes.



Figure 3.1: NDMA concentrations detected in water samples collected from System 1 between 2003 and 2007. Distribution 2 is farther away than Distribution 1 from the water treatment plant.

The type of disinfectant used has been shown to be an important determinant for nitrosamine formation. Chloramines typically produce more nitrosamines than other treatments [9], but this varies depending on the quality of the source water [17]. In the present study of 38 systems, 24 WTPs used chloramination, nine used chlorination, and five used a combination of chlorine and ozone for disinfection. The highest NDMA concentrations were detected in chloramine disinfected drinking water (Systems 1, 2, 3 and 4); however, we recognize that our sample population was selected to emphasize chloraminating systems.

Nitrosamine concentrations from systems using chloramine disinfection were further examined by taking into account the free chlorine contact time prior to the addition of ammonia. In general, increasing the free chlorine contact time resulted in decreased levels of NDMA formed (Figure 3.2). This finding supports previous bench-scale experiments [1, 18]. This is important because decreasing free chlorine contact time is one strategy currently used for decreasing the formation of regulated DBPs; however, pursuing this strategy may increase NDMA formation. However, our results agree with previous studies [18] that demonstrate that increasing free chlorine contact time to >1 min or using preformed monochloramine can significantly reduce NDMA without complicated modifications to the treatment equipment.



Figure 3.2: Effect of free chlorine contact time on NDMA concentrations produced by chloramine disinfection. NDMA concentrations are from treated water samples collected at the water treatment plant. The line indicates a trend.

In the time since this study was performed, the U.S. EPA has finished collecting nitrosamine occurrence data from across the U.S.A. as part of the Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring Rule-2 (UCMR-2) [19]. Six *N*-nitrosamines (NDMA, NDEA, NDPA, NPyr, NDBA, and NMEA) were included as part of the

UCMR-2. As a result, all U.S. water treatment plants serving a population over 100,000 people and a selection of 320 plants serving 10,001 to 100,000 people are required to monitor for these six nitrosamines during a 12-month period between January 2008 and December 2010 [20]. The finalized data set was not yet available at the time of writing (March 2012); however, an interim data set had been published online. The results support what had been observed in our study and in those by Charrois *et* al [6]. A summary of the interim results appeared in Boyd et al. [21]. NDMA was the most commonly detected nitrosamine out of the six tested, being detected at least once in 324/1198 systems. Only 10.2% of the samples analyzed had concentrations above the method reporting limit (MRL) of 2 ng/L (1841 detections above MRL out of 18040 analyses). NDEA, NDBA, NMEA and NPyr were also detected at least once in the study, although at much lower rates (0.02–0.26% of samples with nitrosamine concentrations above the MRL). NDPA was not detected above the MRL in any samples tested. Unfortunately, NDPhA was not included on the UCMR-2 testing list, so it is unknown whethe NDPhA occurrence across the U.S. reflects what was determined in our study.

In summary, this study provides some new findings that are useful for future design of population studies, regulatory considerations, and disinfection practices in utilities in order to meet current DBP regulations. NDPhA, a thermally unstable nitrosamine, is formed in chloraminated drinking water, noticeably in cases where the TOC of the raw water is high (4–18 mg/L). There is some evidence linking NDPhA to higher incidence of bladder cancer in rats [22]

indicating that its presence in drinking water deserves attention. NDMA is the most frequently detected nitrosamine, but only 24% of the systems studied have NDMA above the California Notification Level (10 ng/L). This study demonstrates that nitrosamine concentrations tend to be elevated in systems using chloramination with shorter free Cl₂ contact times or that use chloramination when disinfecting water with high TOC. These results suggest that disinfection processes can be optimized to reduce nitrosamine concentrations. Nitrosamine concentrations change between the WTP and distribution system, indicating that consumer exposure assessments of nitrosamines in drinking water should include samples from multiple locations within the drinking water system. This information will be useful for regulators and water treatment plant operators currently involved in the UCMR-2 or those considering a switch from chlorine to chloramine disinfection to reduce regulated DBP concentrations.

3.4 References

- 1. Charrois, J. W. A.; Hrudey, S. E. Breakpoint chlorination and freechlorine contact time: Implications for drinking water Nnitrosodimethylamine concentrations. *Water Res.* **2007**, *41*, (3), 674-682.
- Taguchi, V.; Jenkins, S. D. W.; Wang, D. T.; Palmentier, J. P. F. P.; Reiner, E. J. Determination of N-nitrosodimethylamine by isotopedilution, high-resolution mass-spectrometry. *Can. J. Appl. Spectroscopy* 1994, 39, (3), 87-93.
- California Department of Public Health. A brief history of NDMA findings in drinking water. <u>http://www.cdph.ca.gov/certlic/drinkingwater/Pages/NDMAhistory.aspx</u> Accessed: November 12, 2007.
- 4. Barrett, S.; Hwang, C.; Guo, Y.; Andrews, S. A.; Valentine, R. L. Occurrence of NDMA in drinking water: A North American Survey, 2001-2002. *Proceedings of the American Water Works Association Annual Conference*, Anaheim, CA, 2003.
- 5. Charrois, J. W. A.; Arend, M. W.; Froese, K. L.; Hrudey, S. E. Detecting *N*-nitrosamines in drinking water at nanogram per liter levels using ammonia positive chemical ionization. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, (18), 4835-4841.
- 6. Charrois, J. W. A.; Boyd, J. M.; Froese, K. L.; Hrudey, S. E. Occurrence of N-nitrosamines in Alberta public drinking-water distribution systems. *J. Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2007**, *6*, 103-114.
- 7. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Integrated Risk Information System. <u>http://www.epa.gov/iris/</u> Accessed: April 15, 2009.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Stage 2 Disinfectants and Disinfection Byproduct Rule. <u>www.epa.gov/OGWDW/disinfection/stage2/index.html</u> Accessed: September 21, 2008.
- 9. Choi, J.; Valentine, R. L. A kinetic model of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation during water chlorination/chloramination. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2002**, *46*, (3), 65-71.
- Plewa, M. J.; Wagner, E. D.; Richardson, S. D.; Thruston, A. D.; Woo, Y. T.; McKague, A. B. Chemical and biological characterization of newly discovered iodoacid drinking water disinfection byproducts. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2004, *38*, (18), 4713-4722.

- 11. Zhao, Y. Y.; Boyd, J.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. F. Characterization of new nitrosamines in drinking water using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, (24), 7636-7641.
- Richardson, S. D.; Fasano, F.; Ellington, J. J.; Crumley, F. G.; Buettner, K. M.; Evans, J. J.; Blount, B. C.; Silva, L. K.; Waite, T. J.; Luther, G. W.; McKague, A. B.; Miltner, R. J.; Wagner, E. D.; Plewa, M. J. Occurrence and mammalian cell toxicity of iodinated disinfection byproducts in drinking water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2008, *42*, (22), 8330-8338.
- 13. American Public Health Association; American Water Works Association; World Environmental Federation. *Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 20th Edition.* Washington, D.C., 1998.
- 14. Glaser, J. A.; Foerst, D. L.; McKee, G. D.; Quave, S. A.; Budde, W. L. Trace analyses for wastewaters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1981**, *15*, (12), 1426-1435.
- California Department of Public Health. NDMA and other nitrosamines -Drinking water issues. <u>http://www.cdph.ca.gov/CERTLIC/DRINKINGWATER/Pages/NDMA.as</u> <u>px</u> Accessed: May 4, 2010.
- 16. California Department of Public Health Drinking Water Program. Drinking water Notification Levels and Response Levels: An overview. <u>http://ww2.cdph.ca.gov/certlic/drinkingwater/Documents/Notificationlevel</u> <u>s/NotificationLevels.pdf</u> Accessed: July 17, 2008.
- Zhao, Y. Y.; Boyd, J. M.; Woodbeck, M.; Andrews, R.; Qin, F.; Hrudey, S.; Li, X. F. Formation of N-nitrosamines during treatments of surface waters using eleven different disinfection methods. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2008, 42, (13), 4857-4862.
- 18. Schreiber, I. M.; Mitch, W. A. Influence of the order of reagent addition on NDMA formation during chloramination. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *39*, (10), 3811-3818.
- 19. Unregulated contaminant monitoring regulation (UCMR) for public water systems revisions. *Fed. Regist.* **2005,** *70*, (161), 49094-49138.
- 20. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. UCMR 2 (2008-2010) Occurrence Data. <u>http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/rulesregs/sdwa/ucmr/data.cfm</u> Accessed: June 13, 2011.
- 21. Boyd, J. M.; Charrois, J. W. A.; Hofmann, R.; Hrudey, S. E. NDMA and other nitrosamines health risk assessment and management. In

Disinfection By-Products and Human Health, Hrudey, S. E.; Charrois, J. W. A., Eds. IWA Publishing: London, U.K., 2012; pp 125-144.

22. Cardy, R. H.; Lijinsky, W.; Hildebrandt, P. K. Neoplastic and nonneoplastic urinary bladder lesions induced in Fischer 344 rats and B6C3F1 hybrid mice by *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safe.* **1979**, *3*, (1), 29-35.

4 <u>**RT-CES METHOD DEVELOPMENT AND APPLICATION TO TOXICITY TESTING FOR EMERGING NITROSAMINE</u> <u>DBPs**^{*}</u></u>

4.1 Introduction

As described in Chapter 1, over 600 disinfection byproducts (DBPs) have been identified [1] and more are reported in the literature every year. For most of these newly identified DBPs, little or no toxicity information is available. Even for DBPs that have been identified for several years, key toxicological information may be lacking, which greatly impedes research and regulatory prioritization.

This lack of toxicity data is not limited to DBPs or even just environmental chemicals. Of the thousands of chemicals under the jurisdiction of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA), only some have undergone toxicity testing [2]. For decades, rodent toxicity studies have been an integral component for toxicity testing and risk assessment determinations. However, animal testing is time consuming, laborious and expensive and it is not a feasible way to test the hundreds of DBPs that have not yet been tested. More and more emphasis is being placed on *in silico* (computer based) and *in vitro* testing to quickly and inexpensively screen new DBPs and other chemicals for research prioritization. In 2007, the U.S. National Research Council published "Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century: A Vision and a Strategy" [3], which

^{*}Parts of this chapter have been published

Reprinted from *Analytica Chimica Acta* 615/1 Boyd, J.M., Huang, L., Xie, L., Moe, B., Gabos, S., Li, X.F. A cell-microelectronic sensing technique for profiling cytotoxicity of chemicals. 80-87., Copyright (2008) with permission from Elsevier

outlines the movement towards *in vitro* based toxicity testing for chemicals with the eventual aim of reducing or eliminating animal testing, reducing the time and cost to screen chemicals and increasing our knowledge of how chemicals exert their toxicity by analysis of multiple toxicity endpoints. The goals outlined in this report have been embraced by several regulatory agencies including the U.S. EPA, the National Institutes of Health, and the National Toxicology Program [4] and have lead to the establishment of *in vitro* screening programs such as ToxCast [5].

In recent years a number of techniques utilizing cellular impedance biosensors have been developed to provide real-time, label-free toxicity testing [6-12]. One of the most recently developed biosensor technologies is Real-Time – Cell Electronic Sensing (RT-CES) which has been demonstrated to provide sensitive monitoring of cellular responses in a real-time continuous manner [10, 11, 13]. This technique utilizes a series of microwells, the bottoms of which are 80% covered with microelectrodes to provide an advance in sensitivity in cell sensing compared to previous techniques. RT-CES measures cell viability by monitoring cell proliferation and morphology [10, 11, 13] using a dimensionless unit called the cell index (CI) which is based on the impedance changes caused by cells interacting with the microelectrodes. The CI values can then be used to generate *in vitro* cytotoxicity values (IC_{50}) which can be used similarly to *in vivo* LD₅₀ values for toxicological ranking of chemicals. The results obtained using RT-CES have been shown to be comparable to more traditional cytotoxicity assays such as the MTT, neutral red uptake, lactose dehydrogenase and acid

phosphatase tests [10, 11, 14] and have been used to screen a number of chemicals including drugs and environmental metal contaminants [10, 11, 13]. RT-CES was included as one of nine *in vitro* assays used in phase 1 (2007–2009) of the ToxCast program [15].

In vitro toxicity testing of emerging DBPs has been primarily performed with microplate assays using both bacterial [16, 17] and mammalian cells [17-19]. No DBP toxicity data has been generated using cell electronic sensing based methods. However, there are definite advantages to being able to use these types of systems. To test the applicability of this system for DBP toxicity testing, we developed a method to assess the cytotoxicity of the four nitrosamines detected in treated drinking water [20] in Chapter 2: N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA), Nnitrosopyrrolidine (NPyr), N-nitrosopiperidine (NPip) and Nnitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA) (Table 4.1). The toxicity of nitrosamines has been studied extensively after these chemicals were detected in a number of foods and consumer products in the 1970s [21]. NDMA, NPyr and NDPhA are classified as probable human carcinogens [22] and NPip is considered a possible human carcinogen [21]. The available toxicity data concerning NDMA, NPyr and NPip will help to validate the results of the RT-CES method. As less information is available about NDPhA toxicity, the RT-CES results will help improve our understanding of the toxicity of this particular nitrosamine.

Compound	Molecular formula	CAS #	Standard Purity	Structure
NDMA	C ₂ H ₆ N ₂ O	62-75-9	99 %	
NPyr	C ₄ H ₈ N ₂ O	930-55-2	99 %	N-N N-N
NPip	C ₅ H ₁₀ N ₂ O	100-75-4	99.8 %	N-N
NDPhA	$C_{12}H_{10}N_2O$	86-30-6	99.9 %	N O

 Table 4.1: Chemical structures and purity of the four nitrosamines used in this study

The purpose of this study is to develop an RT-CES method for profiling the toxicity of chemicals with similar structures and properties. The continuous sensing and quantitative measurements of the RT-CES system combined with use of multiple cell lines will produce a panel of cytotoxicity profiles that will allow differentiation among similar chemicals such as nitrosamines.

4.2 Experimental

4.2.1 <u>Materials and cell culture conditions.</u>

Standards of NDMA, NDPhA, NPip, NPyr were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada) (Table 4.1). Methanol and water (HPLC grade) were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Nepean, ON, Canada). A549 (Human type II pneumocyte derived adenocarcinoma) cells were cultured in RPMI 1640. T24 (human bladder carcinoma) cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Manassas, VA, U.S.A.) and were cultured in McCoy's 5A modified medium (ATCC). CHO-K1 (Chinese hamster ovary) cells were obtained from Dr. Tom Hobman (Department of Cell Biology, University of Alberta) and cultured in (1:1) Dulbecco's Modified Eagle medium (DMEM):Ham's F12 containing L-glutamine and HEPES buffer (Gibco Co., Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada). HepG2 (human liver carcinoma) cells were cultured in DMEM containing high glucose, L-glutamine and sodium pyruvate. All cells were cultured in their respective medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Sigma Aldrich) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (Invitrogen) at 37°C with 5.5% CO₂.

4.2.2 <u>RT-CES cytotoxicity testing</u>

Cytotoxicity testing was performed using the real-time cell electronic sensing (RT-CES) 16X system (ACEA Biosciences Inc., San Diego, CA, U.S.A.). This system utilizes a 16X plate station, which can simultaneously monitor up to six 16-well E-plates. The 16X plate station is kept inside a CO₂ incubator at the conditions described above. The cytotoxic effect of the four nitrosamines was evaluated using four cell lines (A549, T24, CHO-K1, HepG2). Cell calibration on the RT-CES system was performed to determine the optimal cell seeding number for each cell line (Figure 4.1). The initial number of cells seeded into the microwells for each cell line was selected based on the cells reaching a CI of 1 at approximately 24 h and remaining within the log growth phase (linear dynamic

range) at 48 h (or at 24 h after addition of nitrosamines) when the IC₅₀ was determined (Figure 4.1). The number of cells seeded for each cell line was: CHO-K1, 5000; A549, 5000; T24, 4000; HepG2, 15000. HepG2 cells do not form a perfect monolayer on the bottom of the microwells, which has been observed previously [23]. They grow slightly upwards, forming a small bump in the monolayer in the middle of the microwell, which resulted in lower CI values recorded for this cell line. The other three cell lines formed a monolayer on the bottom of the microwells.



Figure 4.1: RT-CES curves and linear relationship between cell index (CI) and initial number of seeded cells. The linear relationships between RT-CES CI and the number of seeding cells are found during the log phase.

Nitrosamines were added to the cultures 24 h after cell seeding. NDMA,

NPip, and NPyr were dissolved in the appropriate medium for each cell line

before being added to the wells. Because NDPhA does not completely dissolve in culture medium, it was dissolved in methanol first, and then diluted with the culture medium before being introduced to the cultures in the microwells. NDPhA was dissolved in methanol at a proportion of 0.5% methanol per 2.5 mM of NDPhA. Methanol controls were performed along with the NDPhA experiments to ensure that any observed cytotoxic effects were due to NDPhA and not methanol.

CI was measured automatically by the RT-CES system once per hour until the end of the experiment. A range of nitrosamine concentrations (0.2 to 300 mM) was separately tested, with at least five different concentrations tested per nitrosamine on each cell line. Each concentration was repeated at minimum in triplicate.

4.2.3 <u>Alternative determination of IC₅₀</u>

To validate IC_{50} obtained from the RT-CES method, the IC_{50} of NDMA was also tested using a microplate cytotoxicity assay that has been previously described [18]. The only modification made to this method was the addition of NDMA after the cells were allowed to grow for 24 h to maintain consistency between the microplate cytotoxicity assay and the RT-CES assay. The IC_{50} was determined after 24 h of NDMA exposure.

4.2.4 <u>Cell enumeration, cell death, and cell cycle analysis.</u>

CHO-K1 cells were grown in tissue culture dishes until they reached 60% confluence, at which point they were treated with the following nitrosamine concentrations: NDMA, 35 mM; NPyr, 30 mM; NPip, 10 mM; and NDPhA, 1.25

mM. These concentrations were approximately the IC₅₀ concentrations obtained from the RT-CES experiments. The cells grew in the presence of nitrosamines for 24 h before harvesting. For enumeration of viable and dead cells, the harvested cells were diluted with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (Gibco Co.), resuspended, and mixed. A 20 μ L aliquot of the cell suspension was mixed with 50 μ L of trypan blue (Gibco Co.) and 30 μ L of PBS and incubated for 5 min. The number of dead cells and total cells was counted using a hemocytometer. Flow cytometric analysis of the harvested cells was performed as described previously [24]. Cell cycle analysis was performed using a Becton and Dickinson FACScanTM (Mountain View, CA, U.S.A.). QuestTM software (Becton and Dickinson) was used for data analysis.

4.2.5 <u>Statistics</u>

In vitro cytotoxicity at 50% (IC₅₀) was defined as the concentration that was required to reduce the CI measurement by 50% compared to the control after 24 h of nitrosamine exposure. IC₅₀ values and 95% confidence intervals were calculated using Prism 4 (Graph Pad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, U.S.A.). Two-sided Mann Whitney tests were performed to compare between treatments and the control for cell cycle and cell death analysis. The confidence level was set at 95%.

4.3 **Results and Discussion**

4.3.1 Method design

The RT-CES system has been previously described in detail [10, 11, 13]. Briefly, the RT-CES 16X system used in this study utilizes electronic microchips

with 16 microwells on each E-plate. The bottom of each microwell has an approximate area of 20 mm² and approximately 80% of this area is covered by microelectrodes. The microelectrodes measure changes in impedance between the electrode and the solution. Cells attaching to the microelectrodes cause a change in electrical impedance compared to when no cells are bound to the microelectrode. Impedance is measured at three frequencies:10 kHz, 25 kHz and 50 kHz. The resistance (R) is then calculated from these measures of impedance (Z) using Equation 4.1:

$$Z = R + jX$$
 Equation 4.1

Where X indicates reactance and j is the square root of -1. The determined values of resistance are then converted into cell index (CI) via Equation 4.2:

$$CI = \max_{i=1,...,N} \left[\frac{\boldsymbol{R}_{cell}(\boldsymbol{f}_{i})}{\boldsymbol{R}_{b}(\boldsymbol{f}_{i})} - 1 \right]$$
 Equation 4.2

R_b indicates the frequency-dependent resistance of the microelectrode/solution interface with no cells attached, and R_{cell} indicates the frequency-dependent resistance of the microelectrode when cells are attached. Therefore, lower CI values indicate fewer cells are bound to the microelectrodes. Increases in CI can be attributed to increasing cell numbers (more cells attached to the microelectrodes); increased cell adhesion to microelectrodes; or cell spreading (increased cell/electrode contact area). In this study, the RT-CES system was used as a sensing technique for measuring cytotoxicity based on CI changes resulting from changes in cell number, morphology, and/or cell detachment from the microelectrodes. By measuring these chemical-induced changes in the cell population, this technique allows for high throughput cytotoxicity profiling of environmental contaminants including those with similar chemical and physical properties.

Cells are the living component of the cell-electronic sensors which provide dynamic information on chemical toxicity. A range of cell lines was used to develop this chemical toxicity profiling technique for a better understanding of the cytotoxicity of individual chemicals, because different cell lines have different susceptibilities to each chemical. This can be accomplished by taking advantage of the parallel screening abilities of the RT-CES system to monitor multiple concentrations and cell lines at one time. To demonstrate the proof of principle, four cell lines, namely CHO-K1, A549, T24, and HepG2, were used in this study because they have been used previously in cytotoxicity testing assays [9, 17-19, 25-28] and all are easily available. In addition, CHO-K1 (Chinese hamster ovary) cells are non-cancerous and have been previously utilized in a number of cytotoxicity studies of other DBPs [17-19], which may be useful for comparisons between data sets in the future.

 4.3.2 <u>Continuous monitoring of cellular response to NDMA exposure</u> NDMA was initially used to demonstrate the monitoring method because
 it is well characterized toxicologically and is the most commonly detected

nitrosamine drinking water DBP. Figure 4.2 shows characteristic RT-CES traces of the four cell lines exposed to various concentrations of NDMA. The RT-CES system automatically recorded the CI from each microwell once every hour during the experiment. Controls without NDMA treatment (blue traces) indicate normal cell growth in the electronic microwells, providing real-time control of cell status (growth and attachment to the microelectrodes). CI provides a quantitative measurement of the numbers of cells on the microelectrodes as shown in Figure 4.1. The four cell lines were simultaneously tested with five different concentrations of NDMA, although in Figure 4.2 only four are shown. Figure 4.2 shows typical RT-CES curves (CI vs. exposure time) of the four cell lines (CHO-K1, A549, T24, and HepG2) responding to NDMA treatment. These curves clearly demonstrate cell-dependent toxic responses. NDMA treatment decreased the measured CI in all four cell lines. With sufficient concentrations of NDMA, CI can be reduced to zero; however, the range of concentrations that cause CI to decrease is cell-line dependent. CI at zero means no viable cells are attached to the microelectrodes, indicating the highest cytotoxicity. T24 cells showed the most severe toxic response to NDMA treatment compared to the other three cell lines. In this study, the lowest tested NDMA concentration that reduced CI to 0 was 13 mM for T24, 40 mM for A549, 50 mM for CHO-K1, and 200 mM for HepG2. Figure 4.2 also shows that the lowest concentrations that produce a change in CI compared to the control in CHO-K1 and A549 cells are 40 mM and 30 mM, respectively. After a period of time however, the cells were able to continue growing with a slope similar to that of the control cells during their log

phase at approximately 50 h into the experiment (or 26 h after addition of NDMA). A possible explanation for this observation is that the administered NDMA dose did not kill all the cells in the well or cause permanent damage to prevent them from growing. Thus the surviving cells could continue growing after they adjust to the conditions or the NDMA concentration in the well decreases sufficiently through metabolism or breakdown. The insensitivity of HepG2 cells to NDMA may be partially explained due to the tendency of these cells to grow in clumps and in a multilayer rather than a monolayer [23]. In the present study, we observed that these cells can grow upwards in the microwells unlike the other cell lines which form a monolayer. The formation of a multilayer by HepG2 would result in a slight underestimation of CI as not all cells in the microwell would be directly attached to the electrodes. This in turn, would result in a slight overestimation of the toxicant dose necessary to cause cytotoxic effects.



Figure 4.2: Typical RT-CES traces showing the effect of NDMA on the four cell lines. Cells were allowed to grow for 24 h prior to the introduction of the nitrosamine to the culture. CI was recorded every hour. Each trace at each concentration was an average of 3 replicates.

4.3.3 <u>Profiling cytotoxicity of different nitrosamines</u>

To demonstrate the capability of this method to provide continuous, rapid, and simultaneous monitoring of different chemicals, the four nitrosamines (NDMA, NPyr, NPip, and NDPhA) were simultaneously tested in the four cell lines. RT-CES response curves similar to those in Figure 4.2 were obtained for the remaining three nitrosamines in all four cell lines and show the continuous and real-time change of cell status during exposure to these compounds (data not shown). The RT-CES curves were converted to the viability curves shown in Figure 4.3. The viability curves are cell viablity vs. log concentration of the nitrosamine. The viability was determined as the CI of the treated cells relative to CI of the control at a given time. These viability curves are comparable to the dose response curves of the four nitrosamines in the four cell lines and different cytotoxicity profiles are clearly shown. The IC_{50} values of the nitrosamines in the four cell lines were also determined and are listed in Figure 4.3. These results clearly show that NDPhA has the highest toxicity in each cell line, followed by NPip. NDMA and NPyr had very similar IC_{50} values in CHO-K1 and T24 cells. NDMA was much less potent in HepG2 cells compared to NPyr, and the opposite was found in A549 cells. The IC_{50} data also demonstrate the cell-specific toxicity of the four nitrosamines and that T24 cells are the most sensitive to the four nitrosamines in all the tests. The order of sensitivity of the four cell lines is T24>A549>CHO>HepG2.



Figure 4.3: IC₅₀ values obtained after the cells were incubated with the four nitrosamines for 24 h. Cells were grown for 24 h prior to treatment with nitrosamines. Each data point is the average of 3 replicates. Methanol was used as solvent for NDPhA.

Curves for methanol toxicity are also included in Figure 4.3 because methanol was used to dissolve NDPhA prior to introduction to the cell cultures. The methanol concentrations tested were the same concentrations used to dissolve the NDPhA doses used in this study. Methanol at the concentrations used had no significant impact on the cells, indicating that toxic effects observed in the NDPhA-treated cells was mainly due to NDPhA and not a solvent effect.

Previous studies have focused mainly on nitrosamine mutagenicity rather than overall cytotoxicity. Therefore there are few IC₅₀ values for these four nitrosamines in the literature to compare to our values. One study looked at the inhibition of RNA synthesis in HepG2 cells by NDMA, without the addition of an S9 fraction and found an IC₅₀ of 110 \pm 24 mM [25], which is similar to our IC₅₀ value of 95 mM (95% confidence interval = 77 to 118 mM) (Figure 4.3). However the RT-CES system has previously been shown to have similar sensitivity to more commonly used assays such as the MTT, neutral red uptake (NRU), lactose dehydrogenase [29] and acid phosphatase tests [30]. In particular, IC₅₀ values generated by the RT-CES systems were shown to be most similar to the NRU [10], which is the cell cytotoxicity assay recommended by the National Institues of Health and National Institutes of Environmental Health Sciences [31] thus supporting the RT-CES measurement of IC₅₀ as a valid cytotoxicity assay.

To validate the IC_{50} values obtained using the RT-CES system, we treated CHO-K1 cells with the IC_{50} concentration and looked for a 50% reduction in the number of cells compared to the control. Figure 4.4 shows that the treated groups had approximately 50% fewer cells than the concurrent controls. We also

determined an IC_{50} of 49 mM for NDMA in CHO-K1 cells using the microplate cell cytotoxicity method that was previously developed for screening DBP cytotoxicity [18]. This value obtained from the microplate cytotoxicity assay is comparable to the value of 31 mM obtained from the RT-CES test (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.4: Relative numbers of CHO-K1 cells after 24 h of incubation with the nitrosamine compared to the control without nitrosamine. After 24 h of growth, the cells were treated with approximately the IC₅₀ concentration of each nitrosamine as determined by the RT-CES experiments (the concentrations: NDMA, 35 mM; NPyr, 30 mM; NPip, 10 mM; NDPhA, 1.25 mM). After 24 h exposure the cells were harvested and counted using a hemocytometer. Bars represent the average of 4 replicates and error bars indicate the standard error. Asterisks indicate the mean of the nitrosamine treated cells is statistically lower compared to the mean of the control cells based on a two-sided Mann Whitney test with 95% confidence.

4.3.4 Effects of nitrosamines on cell viability and cell cycle

The higher cytotoxicity of NDPhA over NDMA (a potent carcinogen) is

observed for the first time in this study. Previous studies of NDPhA focused on

genotoxicity and mutagenesis and NDPhA was found to be non-mutagenic [32].

To explore the reasons behind the different nitrosamine cytotoxicities (or IC₅₀

values), particularly the high cytotoxicity of NDPhA, we examined the induction of cell death and cell cycle arrest by the four nitrosamines. Trypan blue staining results revealed that NPip and NDMA treatment resulted in a statistically significant increase in cell death compared to the control (Figure 4.5a) when the cells were treated separately with IC_{50} concentrations of NPip and NDMA. This suggests that these two nitrosamines cause a drop in CI by initiating cell death. This is consistent with previous research showing that NDMA and NPip induce apoptotic cell death in mammalian cells [33, 34]. NDPhA and NPyr treatment did not result in a statistically significant increase in cell death compared to the control, indicating that these two nitrosamines exert their toxicity through another mechanism other than cell death.



Figure 4.5: Effect of nitrosamine exposure on cell death and the cell cycle. (A). Trypan blue staining analysis of the percentage of cell death induced by the nitrosamine exposure related to the control. Bars represent the average of 4 replicates. Error bars indicate the standard error. (B). Flow cytometry analysis of cell cycle. Bars represent the average of 2 replicates. Error bars indicate the standard error. Asterisks indicate the mean of the nitrosamine treated cells is statistically higher compared to the mean of the control determined using a one-sided Mann Whitney test with 95% confidence.

Flow cytometry analysis was performed to evaluate the effects of the nitrosamines on the cell cycle. The results (Figure 4.5b) revealed that NDPhA treatment caused a higher percentage of cells to remain in G0/G1 and decreased the percentage of cells in S phase compared to the control (Figure 4.5b). This implies that NDPhA is likely inducing G0/G1 arrest which halts cell proliferation. Inhibition of cell proliferation by NDPhA would result in a lower CI value compared to the control because fewer cells would be available to attach to the microelectrodes. This is consistent with what was observed using the RT-CES system for the NDPhA treated cells. The effect of NDPhA on cell cycles has never been reported. NPyr induced decreases in CI were not adequately explained by either the cell death or cell cycle assays, suggesting that other mechanisms may be responsible. Further study is needed to elucidate the cellular effects of this nitrosamine.

The various profiles of nitrosamine-dependent and cell line dependent cytotoxicity that are detected by RT-CES may be related to different factors. For example, specific nitrosamines may require activation by specific P450 isozymes in order to cause toxic effects, and different types of cells may have different levels of P450 expression (Table 4.2) [32-40]. NDMA, NPyr and NPip are metabolized by P450 enzymes to form hydroxyl radical intermediates via αhydroxylation. These intermediates are capable of methylating macromolecules such as DNA [35, 36] and the resulting DNA adducts may result in carcinogenesis, especially in tissues where particular P450 enzymes are highly expressed. P450 2E1 is the major isozyme for NDMA bioactivation [37]. P450
2E1 and 2A6 are also important for NPyr bioactivation [38]. NPip is metabolized by P450 2E1, 2A6 and 1A1 [39]. The expression of P450 enzymes important for metabolism of NDMA, NPyr, and NPip in HepG2 and A549 cell lines is available in the literature [41-44]. CHO-K1 cells do not express P450 enzymes. No data on the P450 expression of T24 cells is available. In contrast, NDPhA (Table 4.1) does not undergo P450 mediated α -hydroxylation [32] and thus has a different mechanism of action than NDMA, NPip and NPyr. There is much less toxicological information regarding NDPhA compared to the other three nitrosamines. It has been reported that NDPhA is a poor mutagen [32, 40], but NDPhA has also been shown to cause DNA damage via a mechanism that may rely on P450 activation [45]. This study and others demonstrate that various mechanisms may be associated with cytotoxicity of different nitrosamines although they all have the same reactive group in the molecules. The RT-CES method can provide cytotoxicity profiles that can be useful for directing other studies into the mechanisms of action and toxicity.

Cell Line	Cell Type	P450 Isotype	Average mRNA levels (mean ± SD) [ref]	Derived tissue/cell line P450 expression ratio [ref]	Enzyme activity ^a (mean ± SD) [ref]
A549	Type II pneumocyte derived adenocarcinoma	1A1	0.40 ± 0.16^{b} [41]	16 [41]	NA
		2A6	0.09 ± 0.03 ^b [41]	1.4 [41]	NA
		2E1	<0.01 ^b [41]	>3500 [41]	NA
HepG2	Human liver carcinoma	1A1	$2.93 \pm 0.93^{\circ}$ [43]	13.71 [43]	0.17 ± 0.09 [42]
		2A6	<0.01 ^d [44]	>407 ^e	0.05 ± 0.04 [44]
		2E1	$0.38 \pm 0.11^{\circ}$ [43]	1464 [43]	ND [42]

Table 4.2: P450 expression in A549 and HepG2 cell lines

NA = Data not available

ND = Not detectable

^a 1A1: EROD (ethoxyresorufin *O*-deethylase) (pmol/(min mg protein))

2A6: coumarin 7-hydroxylase (pmol/(min mg protein))

2E1: Hydroxylation of *p*-nitrophenol

 $^{b}Expressed relative to <math display="inline">\beta$ -actin mRNA content as CYP mRNA/ β -actin mRNA) x 10^{4}

^cCalculated on the basis that 40 pg of total RNA corresponds to one cell

^dExpressed as (mRNA CYP molecules/ β -actin mRNA) x 10³

^eCalculated from data from reference [44]

In conclusion, this study has demonstrated an RT-CES method for cytotoxicity profiling of nitrosamines. The discovery of the unique toxicity of NDPhA demonstrates that an array of cellular response profiles on a panel of cell lines can provide more information about the toxicity of a chemical. The RT-CES technique is able to sensitively assess the cytotoxicity of compounds on a variety of cell lines concurrently in a rapid, label-free, automated and continuous manner. This *in vitro* assay may be useful for future toxicity profiling and assessments of chemicals in order to prioritize chemicals for regulation and to reduce animal use.

4.4 References

- Richardson, S. D. Drinking water disinfection by-products. In *The Encyclopedia of Environmental Analysis and Remediation*, Meyers, R. A., Ed. Wiley: New York, 1998; Vol. 3, p 1398.
- Judson, R.; Richard, A.; Dix, D. J.; Houck, K.; Martin, M.; Kavlock, R.; Dellarco, V.; Henry, T.; Holderman, T.; Sayre, P.; Tan, S.; Carpenter, T.; Smith, E. The toxicity data landscape for environmental chemicals. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 2009, *117*, (5), 685-695.
- Krewski, D.; Acosta, D.; Andersen, M.; Anderson, H.; Bailar, J. C.; Boekelheide, K.; Brent, R.; Charnley, G.; Cheung, V. G.; Green, S.; Kelsey, K. T.; Kerkvliet, N. I.; Li, A. A.; McCray, L.; Meyer, O.; Patterson, R. D.; Pennie, W.; Scala, R. A.; Solomon, G. M.; Stephens, M.; Yager, J.; Zeise, L. Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century: A Vision and a Strategy. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, Part B 2010, 13, (2-4), 51-138.
- 4. Firestone, M.; Kavlock, R.; Zenick, H.; Kramer, M. The US Environmental Protection Agency Strategic Plan for Evaluating the Toxicity of Chemicals. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, Part B* **2010,** *13*, (2-4), 139-162.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. ToxCast Screening chemicals to predict toxicity faster and better. <u>http://www.epa.gov/ncct/toxcast/</u> Accessed: March 7, 2012.
- 6. Asphahani, F.; Zhang, M. Cellular impedance biosensors for drug screening and toxin detection. *Analyst (Cambridge, UK)* **2007,** *132*, (9), 835-841.
- 7. Ceriotti, L.; Kob, A.; Drechsler, S.; Ponti, J.; Thedinga, E.; Colpo, P.; Ehret, R.; Rossi, F. Online monitoring of BALB/3T3 metabolism and adhesion with multiparametric chip-based system. *Anal. Biochem.* 2007, *371*, (1), 92-104.
- 8. Ceriotti, L.; Ponti, J.; Broggi, F.; Kob, A.; Drechsler, S.; Thedinga, E.; Colpo, P.; Sabbioni, E.; Ehret, R.; Rossi, F. Real-time assessment of cytotoxicity by impedance measurement on a 96-well plate. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2007**, *123*, (2), 769-778.
- 9. Yeon, J. H.; Park, J. K. Cytotoxicity test based on electrochemical impedance measurement of HepG2 cultured in microfabricated cell chip. *Anal. Biochem.* **2005**, *341*, (2), 308-315.

- Xing, J. Z.; Zhu, L.; Jackson, J. A.; Gabos, S.; Sun, X. J.; Wang, X. B.; Xu, X. Dynamic monitoring of cytotoxicity on microelectronic sensors. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 2005, 18, (2), 154-161.
- 11. Xing, J. Z.; Zhu, L.; Gabos, S.; Xie, L. Microelectronic cell sensor assay for detection of cytotoxicity and prediction of acute toxicity. *Toxicol. in Vitro* **2006**, *20*, (6), 995-1004.
- 12. Xiao, C.; Luong, J. H. T. Assessment of cytotoxicity by emerging impedance spectroscopy. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **2005**, *206*, (2), 102-112.
- Solly, K.; Wang, X.; Xu, X.; Strulovici, B.; Zheng, W. Application of realtime cell electronic sensing (RT-CES) technology to cell-based assays. *Assay Drug Dev. Technol.* 2004, 2, (4), 363-372.
- 14. Zhu, J.; Wang, X.; Xu, X.; Abassi, Y. A. Dynamic and label-free monitoring of natural killer cell cytotoxic activity using electronic cell sensor arrays. *J. Immunol. Methods* **2006**, *309*, (1-2), 25-33.
- Judson, R. S.; Houck, K. A.; Kavlock, R. J.; Knudsen, T. B.; Martin, M. T.; Mortensen, H. M.; Reif, D. M.; Rotroff, D. M.; Shah, I.; Richard, A. M.; Dix, D. J. *In vitro* screening of environmental chemicals for targeted testing prioritization: The ToxCast project. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 2010, *118*, (4), 485-492.
- Kargalioglu, Y.; McMillan, B. J.; Minear, R. A.; Plewa, M. J. Analysis of the cytotoxicity and mutagenicity of drinking water disinfection byproducts in *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Teratog., Carcinog., Mutagen.* 2002, 22, (2), 113-128.
- Plewa, M. J.; Wagner, E. D.; Richardson, S. D.; Thruston, A. D.; Woo, Y. T.; McKague, A. B. Chemical and biological characterization of newly discovered iodoacid drinking water disinfection byproducts. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2004, *38*, (18), 4713-4722.
- Plewa, M. J.; Wagner, E. D.; Jazwierska, P.; Richardson, S. D.; Chen, P. H.; McKague, A. B. Halonitromethane drinking water disinfection byproducts: Chemical characterization and mammalian cell cytotoxicity and genotoxicity. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2004, *38*, (1), 62-68.
- 19. Plewa, M. J.; Kargalioglu, Y.; Vankerk, D.; Minear, R. A.; Wagner, E. D. Mammalian cell cytotoxicity and genotoxicity analysis of drinking water disinfection by-products. *Environ. Mol. Mutagen.* **2002**, *40*, (2), 134-142.

- 20. Zhao, Y. Y.; Boyd, J.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. F. Characterization of new nitrosamines in drinking water using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, (24), 7636-7641.
- 21. World Health Organization; International Agency for Research on Cancer. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans: Some N-nitroso Compounds, Lyon, France, 1978.
- 22. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Integrated Risk Information System. <u>http://www.epa.gov/iris/</u> Accessed: April 15, 2009.
- McFadyen, M. C. E.; Rooney, P. H.; Melvin, W. T.; Murray, G. I. Quantitative analysis of the Ah receptor/cytochrome P450 CYP1B1/CYP1A1 signalling pathway. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 2003, 65, (10), 1663-1674.
- 24. Nicoletti, I.; Migliorati, G.; Pagliacci, M. C.; Grignani, F.; Riccardi, C. A rapid and simple method for measuring thymocyte apoptosis by propidium iodide staining and flow-cytometry. *J. Immunol. Methods* **1991**, *139*, (2), 271-279.
- 25. Valentin-Severin, I.; Le Hegarat, L.; Lhuguenot, J. C.; Le Bon, A. M.; Chagnon, M. C. Use of HepG2 cell line for direct or indirect mutagens screening: comparative investigation between comet and micronucleus assays. *Mutat. Res., Genet. Toxicol. Environ. Mutagen.* **2003**, *536*, (1-2), 79-90.
- 26. Bakand, S.; Winder, C.; Hayes, A. Comparative in vitro cytotoxicity assessment of selected gaseous compounds in human alveolar epithelial cells. *Toxicol. in Vitro* **2007**, *21*, (7), 1341-1347.
- Zhang, Z. Z.; Che, W. J.; Liang, Y.; Wu, M.; Li, N.; Shu, Y.; Liu, F.; Wu, D. S. Comparison of cytotoxicity and genotoxicity induced by the extracts of methanol and gasoline engine exhausts. *Toxicol. in Vitro* 2007, *21*, (6), 1058-1065.
- Wirger, A.; Perabo, F. G. E.; Burgemeister, S.; Haase, L.; Schmidt, D. H.; Doehn, C.; Mueller, S. C.; Jocham, D. Flavopiridol, an inhibitor of cyclindependent kinases, induces growth inhibition and apoptosis in bladder cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. *Anticancer Res.* 2005, 25, (6B), 4341-4347.
- 29. Atienza, J. M.; Zhu, J.; Wang, X.; Xu, X.; Abassi, Y. Dynamic monitoring of cell adhesion and spreading on microelectronic sensor arrays. *J. Biomol. Screen.* **2005**, *10*, (8), 795-805.

- 30. Huang, L.; Xie, L.; Boyd, J. M.; Li, X.-F. Cell-electronic sensing of particle-induced cellular responses. *Analyst (Cambridge, UK)* **2008**, *133*, 643-648.
- 31. National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences; National Institutes of Health; U. S. Public Health Service; Department of Health and Human Services. *Guidance Document on Using In Vitro Data to Estimate In Vivo Starting Doses for Acute Toxicity*; NIH Publication 01-4500; NIEHS: North Carolina, 2001.
- 32. McGregor, D. The genetic toxicology of *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine. *Mutat. Res., Rev. Genet. Toxicol.* **1994,** *317*, (3), 195-211.
- Lin, H. L.; Parsels, L. A.; Maybaum, J.; Hollenberg, P. F. Nnitrosodimethylamine-mediated cytotoxicity in a cell line expressing P450 2E1: Evidence for apoptotic cell death. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 1999, 157, (2), 117-124.
- 34. Garcia, A.; Morales, P.; Arranz, N.; Delgado, E.; Rafter, J.; Haza, A. I. Induction of apoptosis and reactive oxygen species production by Nnitrosopiperidine and N-nitrosodibutylamine in human leukemia cells. *J. Appl. Toxicol.* **2008**, *28*, (4), 455-465.
- Hecht, S. S.; McCoy, G. D.; Chen, C. B.; Hoffmann, D. The metabolism of cyclic nitrosamines. In *N-nitroso Compounds*, Scanlan, R. A.; Tannenbaum, S. R., Eds. American Chemical Society: Washington, D.C., 1981; Vol. 174, pp 49-75.
- Hecht, S. S. Approaches to cancer prevention based on an understanding of N-nitrosamine carcinogenesis. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 1997, 216, (2), 181-191.
- 37. Kushida, H.; Fujita, K.; Suzuki, A.; Yamada, M.; Endo, T.; Nohmi, T.; Kamataki, T. Metabolic activation of N-alkylnitrosamines in genetically engineered Salmonella typhimurium expressing CYP2E1 or CYP2A6 together with human NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase. *Carcinogenesis* 2000, 21, (6), 1227-1232.
- Flammang, A. M.; Gelboin, H. V.; Aoyama, T.; Gonzalez, F. J.; McCoy, G. D. N-nitrosopyrrolidine metabolism by cDNA-expressed human cytochrome-P-450s. *Biochem. Arch.* 1993, *9*, (3), 197-204.
- Garcia, A.; Haza, A. I.; Arranz, N.; Rafter, J.; Morales, P. Protective effects of isothiocyanates alone or in combination with vitamin C towards N-nitrosodibutylamine or N-nitrosopiperidine-induced oxidative DNA damage in the single-cell gel electrophoresis (SCGE)/HepG2 assay. J. Appl. Toxicol. 2008, 28, (2), 196-204.

- 40. Kuroki, T.; Drevon, C.; Montesano, R. Microsome-mediated mutagenesis in V79 Chinese hamster cells by various nitrosamines. *Cancer Res.* **1977**, *37*, (4), 1044-1050.
- 41. Castell, J. V.; Donato, M. T.; Gomez-Lechon, M. J. Metabolism and bioactivation of toxicants in the lung: The *in vitro* cellular approach. *Exp. Toxicol. Pathol.* **2005**, *57*, 189-204.
- 42. Majer, B. J.; Mersch-Sundermann, V.; Darroudi, F.; Laky, B.; de Wit, K.; Knasmuller, S. Genotoxic effects of dietary and lifestyle related carcinogens in human derived hepatoma (HepG2, Hep3B) cells. *Mutat. Res., Fundam. Mol. Mech. Mutagen.* **2004**, *551*, (1-2), 153-166.
- 43. Wilkening, S.; Stahl, F.; Bader, A. Comparison of primary human hepatocytes and hepatoma cell line HepG2 with regard to their biotransformation properties. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* **2003**, *31*, (8), 1035-1042.
- Rodriguez-Antona, C.; Donato, M. T.; Boobis, A.; Edwards, R. J.; Watts, P. S.; Castell, J. V.; Gomez-Lechon, M. J. Cytochrome P450 expression in human hepatocytes and hepatoma cell lines: molecular mechanisms that determine lower expression in cultured cells. *Xenobiotica* 2002, *32*, (6), 505-520.
- 45. Appel, K. E.; Gorsdorf, S.; Scheper, T.; Ruf, H. H.; Ruhl, C. S.; Hildebrandt, A. G. Metabolic denitrosation of diphenylnitrosamine - A possible bioactivation pathway. *J Cancer Res. Clin.* **1987**, *113*, (2), 131-136.

5 <u>INVESTIGATION OF FORMATION OF N-NITROSAMINES</u> <u>DURING DRINKING WATER TREATMENT^{*}</u>

5.1 Introduction

Understanding the formation of DBPs is necessary in order to reduce or prevent the formation of these chemicals during water treatment. However, DBP formation is a complicated process that is influenced by many variables including the pH, temperature, turbidity, natural organic matter (NOM) content and concentration in source water as well as the type and concentration of the disinfectants used and disinfectant contact time. For most DBPs, formation is not well understood except for the understanding that manipulation of one water treatment variable to reduce the formation of a particular group of DBPs will result in the promotion of formation of another group of DBPs. Thus, understanding DBP formation is central to a comprehensive risk management strategy to reduce health risks by all DBPs.

5.1.1 <u>N-nitrosamine formation during water treatment</u>

Following the identification of N-nitrosamines as DBPs, interest in how they formed from water disinfection was very high due to the potential health risks associated with consumption of these chemicals. N-nitrosamines are known to form from amines and nitrite at low pH via nitrosation [1]. While this pathway

^{*} Parts of this chapter have been published

Reprinted with permission from Zhao Y. Y., Boyd J. M., Woodbeck M., Andrews R. C., Qin F., Hrudey S. E. and Li X. F. (2008). Formation of N-nitrosamines from eleven disinfection treatments of seven different surface waters. Environ. Sci. Technol., 42, 4857–4862. Copyright 2008. American Chemical Society.

Reprinted with permission from Zhou W. J., Boyd J. M., Qin F., Hrudey S. E. and Li X. F. (2009). Formation of N-nitrosodiphenylamine and two new N-containing disinfection byproducts from chloramination of water containing diphenylamine. Environ. Sci. Technol., 43, 8443–8448. Copyright 2009. American Chemical Society.

is relevant for formation of nitrosamines in the stomach, it is likely not significant for water treatment where the majority of processes occur between pH 5 and 8. Several studies have investigated the effect of different disinfection treatments on nitrosamine formation. In general, these studies have focused only on NDMA formation, and have focused on the corresponding secondary amine dimethylamine (DMA) as the main NDMA precursor.

5.1.1.1 Nitrosamine formation from chlorine and chloramine

Of the disinfectants studied, chloramination alone or chlorination of water containing ammonia usually produce higher concentrations of NDMA, a finding that has been replicated in most occurrence studies (Chapter 3). Several studies have investigated NDMA formation from DMA and chloramines. Initial versions of the pathway suggested the reaction of DMA and monochloramine to form unsymmetrical dimethylhydrazine (UDMH), which then reacted with another molecule of monochloramine to form NDMA [2, 3]. However, there were several issues with this model. It did not match with kinetic models for UDMH production; addition of monochloramine to UDMH did not produce the expected yields of NDMA; and it did not explain the presence of oxygen in NDMA [4]. Two studies by Schreiber and Mitch revised this pathway (Figure 5.1) showing that dichloramine rather than monochloramine was the important disinfectant species that reacted with DMA, forming chlorinated unsymmetrical dimethylhydrazine (Cl-UDMH) as an intermediate [5, 6]. Cl-UDMH, in the presence of dissolved oxygen, is then oxidized to form NDMA.



Figure 5.1: Proposed mechanism for the formation of NDMA from DMA and dichloramine. From [5, 6].

Another pathway for NDMA formation from chlorination of nitrate containing water has been reported [7]. The yields from this reaction are significantly lower than formation of NDMA from chloramination of DMA (Figure 5.1), suggesting it is not as important for nitrosamine formation.

5.1.1.2 Nitrosamine formation from alternative disinfectants

The effect of alternative disinfectants on nitrosamine formation has also been investigated, although not to the same degree as chlorine or chloramines. Chlorine dioxide (ClO₂) and ozone (O₃) are able to produce nitrosamines, but usually at lower concentrations than chloramination [8, 9]. Schmidt and Brauch showed that, in the case of O₃, this is most likely due to a smaller range of precursors that will react with O₃ to form nitrosamines [10]. However, the same study showed certain precursors, specifically N,N-dimethylsulfamide, can be converted to NDMA during ozonation resulting in the detection of NDMA concentrations up to 390 ng/L in selected water treatment plants.

In contrast, ultraviolet (UV) and advanced oxidative processes (AOP) have both been investigated as possible strategies to decrease or eliminate nitrosamine concentrations in water [11-14]. UV is known to break the N-N bond in nitrosamines, and thus has been employed to degrade these chemicals in water.

AOP oxidizes precursors, in theory making them unable to act as nitrosamine precursors.

5.1.1.3 Research questions regarding nitrosamine formation

Although many studies have investigated nitrosamine formation during water treatment, several questions remain. Firstly, most formation studies have focused on NDMA. Thus very little is known on the formation of other nitrosamine DBPs. It is generally assumed that they form from similar precursors (i.e. secondary amines) via similar pathways; however, this has not been demonstrated.

Secondly, formation studies have focused mainly on one NDMA precursor: DMA. This is, of course, necessary when deriving a reaction pathway for formation (Figure 5.1). However, to understand DBP formation, the complexity of the starting source water must be addressed. DMA is available in source waters, but not at large concentrations. Studies have indicated that free DMA makes up only a small part of total NDMA precursors [15, 16]. This raises the question whether the mechanistic studies truly reflect NDMA formation in drinking water. In some cases, a DMA moiety is incorporated into a larger structure which can be released into the water to react with the disinfectant [17, 18]. Another complicating factor is that the mix of precursors available in source water changes between different source waters. This can be further affected if the source water is impacted by anthropogenic sources. Wastewater effluents in particular have been shown to greatly increase nitrosamine concentrations in some locations. Therefore, while DMA is an ideal precursor for modeling purposes, it

likely does not represent the vast number of reactions occurring during water disinfection that produce NDMA.

Thirdly, studies investigating nitrosamine formation tend to focus on one precursor or one disinfectant type. Therefore, we know that certain precursors will form nitrosamines from chloramination, but we do not know what the effect of other disinfectants on the same precursors might be. A good example of this is the study investigating NDMA formation from ozonation of N,N-dimethylsulfamide mentioned earlier [10].

To address some of these issues, we set out to investigate the changes in nitrosamine formation when the same source water is disinfected with 11 different disinfectant combinations in parallel. This will allow the evaluation of the effect of different disinfectants on nitrosamine formation while maintaining the same precursor composition. In addition, it will allow the evaluation of the formation of eight nitrosamines other than NDMA (Table 5.1) by using the liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method developed in Chapter 2. We are particularly interested in the formation of the newly identified nitrosamine DBP, N-nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA).

Nitrosamine	Abbrev.	Molecular formula	Structure
N-nitrosodimethylamine	NDMA	$C_2H_6N_2O$	
N-nitrosopyrrolidine	NPyr	$C_4H_8N_2O$	N-N'O
N-nitrosopiperidine	NPip	$C_5H_{10}N_2O$	N-N'O
N-nitrosodiphenylamine	NDPhA	$C_{12}H_{10}N_2O$	
N-nitrosodiethylamine	NDEA	$C_4H_{10}N_2O$	
N-nitrosomethylethylamine	NMEA	$C_3H_8N_2O$	
N-nitrosodipropylamine	NDPA	$C_6H_{14}N_2O$	N-N N-N
N-nitrosomorpholine	NMor	$C_4H_6N_2O$	ON-NO
N-nitrosodibutylamine	NDBA	$C_8H_{18}N_2O$	

 Table 5.1: Structures of the nine nitrosamines included in this study

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 <u>Formation of nine nitrosamines during disinfection of seven different</u> <u>source waters</u>

5.2.1.1 Chemicals and materials

A standard solution containing 10 µg/mL each of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA), N-nitrosomethylethylamine (NMEA), N-nitrosopyrrolidine (NPyr), Nnitrosopiperidine (NPip), N-nitrosomorpholine (NMor), N-nitrosodiethylamine (NDEA), N-nitrosodi-n-propylamine (NDPA), N-nitrosodi-n-butylamine (NDBA) and N-nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA) was purchased from Supelco (Oakville, ON, Canada). Isotopically labeled standards, [6-H²] N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA-d6, 98%) and [14-H²] N-nitrosodi-n-propylamine (NDPA-d14, 98%), were obtained from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories (Andover, MA, U.S.A.). Methanol (AnalR grade) and dichloromethane (Omni-Solv grade) were purchased from VWR International (Mississauga, ON, Canada). Ammonium acetate (ACS Reagent grade) was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada). All other chemicals were of analytical grade and obtained through Fisher Scientific (Nepean, ON, Canada) unless otherwise indicated. Optima grade water (Fisher Scientific) was used for all water blanks and spiking samples. The SPE packing materials, Ambersorb 572 (Rohm & Hass;, Philadelphia, PA, U.S.A.) and LiChrolut EN (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), were obtained from Supelco and VWR International, respectively.

5.2.1.2 Source water collection and characterization Source water was collected from seven locations in Canada and the United States between April and September 2006. Total organic carbon (TOC),

ultrafdviolet absorbance at 254 nm (UV A254), pH, turbidity, and color were measured (Table 5.2) for all source waters. TOC, turbidity and color analysis were performed according to standard methods [19]. Water samples were kept at 4 °C before and after disinfection treatment.

Location	Source water	TOC ^a (mg/L)	UV A254 ^b (cm ⁻¹)	pН	Turbidity (NTU ^c)	Color (TCU ^d)
1	River	2.0	0.039	8.3	1.8	14
2	Lake	5.7	0.329	7.3	6.1	118
3	River	5.7	0.275	8.3	25	210
4	River	5.9	0.127	8.0	0.75	18
5	River	7.3	0.223	7.7	0.84	35
6	Lake	15.9	0.464	8.8	30	230
7	River	23.9	0.933	7.4	4.68	235

Table 5.2: Source water quality from seven different locations.

^aTotal organic carbon ^bUV absorbance at 254 nm ^cNephelometric turbidity units ^dTrue color unit

5.2.1.3 Disinfection treatments

Eleven disinfection treatments were used in this study: chlorine (OCI),

chloramine (NH₂Cl), chlorine dioxide (ClO₂), ozone (O₃), ozone followed by

chlorine (O₃/OCl⁻), low pressure ultraviolet (LPUV), LPUV followed by chlorine

(LPUV/OCl⁻), medium pressure ultraviolet (MPUV), MPUV followed by chlorine

(MPUV/OCl⁻), advanced oxidative processes (AOP), which is a combination of

hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and MPUV, and AOP followed by chlorine

(AOP/OCl⁻) (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2: Schematic of disinfection treatment processes used in this study. ND: Not disinfected, OCI⁻: Chlorination, NH₂Cl: chloramination, ClO₂: Chlorine dioxide, O₃: ozone, O₃/OCI⁻: ozone followed by chlorine, LPUV: Low pressure ultraviolet; LPUV/OCI⁻: LPUV followed by chlorine, MPUV: medium pressure ultraviolet, MPUV/OCI⁻: MPUV followed by chlorine, AOP: Advanced oxidative processes, H₂O₂: hydrogen peroxide, AOP/OCI⁻: AOP followed by chlorine.

Only clean and disinfectant demand-free glassware was used for these experiments. The disinfection protocol was designed to represent adverse scenarios in drinking water treatment with no coagulation pretreatment, high disinfectant doses and long contact times.

5.2.1.3.1 Disinfectant dosing

Demand for chemical disinfectants varies greatly depending on source water quality, which in turn affects the actual dose of disinfectant applied to water. Therefore, OCl⁻, NH₂Cl and ClO₂ doses were based on maintaining a predetermined disinfectant residual concentration of 0.5 mg/L for OCl⁻, 2.0 mg/L for NH_2Cl and 0.5 mg/L for ClO_2 after 24 h contact time. The actual doses of these disinfectants applied to the source water are listed in Table 5.3.

Location	Disinfectant Dose (mg/L)				
(source water)	Cl ₂	NH ₂ Cl	ClO ₂		
1	2	3.5	2.5		
2	12	7.5	8.5		
3	9.5	3	8		
4	6	4.5	7		
5	8	3	6.5		
6	25	6	11		
7	33	10	20		

Table 5.3: OCF, NH₂Cl and ClO₂ doses applied to each of the seven source waters

Ozone, LPUV, MPUV and AOP do not leave disinfectant residuals and so were dosed the same for each of the source waters. The doses used were: O_3 : 10 mg•min/L, LPUV: 100 mJ/cm², MPUV: 1000 mJ.(cm²)⁻¹, AOP: MPUV, 1000 mJ.(cm²)⁻¹ and H₂O₂,10 mg/L. For O₃/OCl⁻, LPUV/OCl⁻, MPUV/OCl⁻ and AOP/OCl⁻ treatments, the same OCl⁻ dose was used as for OCl⁻ only (Table 5.3). Raw water from location 3 was treated with OCl⁻, NH₂Cl and ClO₂ only.

5.2.1.4 Disinfection protocols

5.2.1.4.1 Chlorine (OCl), chloramine (NH₂Cl) and chlorine dioxide (ClO₂)

For chlorination, a 40 ng/L stock solution of sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl)

was prepared. Disinfection was performed in clean, chlorine demand-free glassware (Fisher Scientific). Immediately following OCl⁻ addition to the water sample, the free and combined chlorine residuals were measured using the N,Ndiethyl-p-phenylenediamine (DPD) colorimetric standard method [19]. The sample was then allowed to sit for 24 h. The chlorine residuals were measured again and then quenched with 75 mg/L sodium thiosulfate.

For chloramination, NH₂Cl stock solution (1000 mg/L) was prepared by mixing solutions of ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl) and NaOCl in a carbonate buffer (pH 9.4). Residual chloramine concentrations were determined by subtracting the combined chlorine residual from the free chlorine residual as measured using standard methods [19].

ClO₂ was generated by pumping a 25% NaOCl solution into an 18 N sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄) solution. The resulting gas was collected and pumped through a 15% NaOCl solution and then collected into ice-cold Milli-Q water to produce a ClO₂ solution. The ClO₂ residual was measured using U.S. EPA Method 327.0 (lissamine green B) [20]. NH₂Cl and ClO₂ residuals were quenched using 75 mg/L sodium thiosulfate.

5.2.1.4.2 Ozone (O₃) and ozone followed by chlorine (O₃/OCl⁺) Ozone gas, produced by an ozone generator, was bubbled directly through sample water in a semi-batch reactor. Ozone residual concentrations were monitored in samples taken from the semi-batch reactor until the dose of approximately 10 mg*min/L. Ozone residuals were measured using the indigo colorimetric standard method [19]. The contact time was the length of time required for the desired dose (10 mg*min/L) to be achieved. The molar absorptivity was 20,000 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹. Residual ozone was displaced by bubbling oxygen through the sample water until the residual was confirmed to be below 0.05 mg/L. The O₃/OCl⁻ samples were further treated with OCl⁻, using the same

dose as for OCl⁻ only samples (Table 5.3). OCl⁻ was allowed to react for 24 h, and then the residual was measured [19]. The residual was quenched with sodium thiosulfate.

5.2.1.4.3 Ultraviolet (UV) treatments

These experiments, utilizing low pressure UV (LPUV), LPUV followed by chlorine (LPUV/OCI⁻), medium pressure UV (MPUV), and MPUV followed by chlorine (MPUV/OCI⁻), were conducted using a collimated beam apparatus (Calgon Carbon Corporation; Pittsburgh, PA, U.S.A.). Aliquots of 250 mL of source water were treated using the appropriate dose (LPUV, 100 mJ.(cm²)⁻¹; MPUV, 1000 mJ.(cm²)⁻¹). UV contact time was determined by the source water absorbance spectrum and system dosing factors. LPUV/OCI⁻ and MPUV/OCI⁻ samples were further treated with OCI⁻, using the dose applied to the OCI⁻ only samples (Table 5.3). OCI⁻ was allowed to react for 24 h. Then the residual was measured [19] and quenched with sodium thiosulfate.

5.2.1.4.4 Advanced oxidative processes (AOP)

AOP disinfection consisted of a combination of MPUV with hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) pretreatment. Ten mg/L H_2O_2 was added to each sample and the initial concentration measured using the I_3^- method [21]. The samples were irradiated using the MPUV procedure described above. The final H_2O_2 concentration was measured and 0.2 mg/L bovine catalase was added to quench residual H_2O_2 [22]. AOP/OCI⁻ samples were further treated with OCI⁻, using the dose applied to the OCI⁻ only samples (Table 5.3). OCI⁻ was allowed to react for 24 h, then the residual was measured [19] and quenched with sodium thiosulfate.

5.2.1.5 Sample extraction, analysis and quantification

Prior to SPE extraction, the disinfected water samples were filtered through pre-baked (400 °C for 4 h) glass microfiber filters (GF/F; Whatman; particle retention >0.7 μ m, 142 mm) to remove large particles and to avoid clogging of the SPE material. The SPE extraction of the filtered samples and LC-MS/MS analysis of the extracts was described in Chapter 2. Briefly, 500 mL of a water sample, spiked with 40 ng/L of NDMA-d6, was passed through a handpacked SPE cartridge packed with 350 mg Lichrolut EN (bottom layer), 500 mg of Ambersorb 572 (middle), and glass wool (top). The SPE materials were airdried and the nitrosamines eluted using 15 mL of dichloromethane. The eluent was further concentrated to approx. 200 μ L under high purity nitrogen gas in a 40°C water bath after which the internal standard NDPA-d14 (40 ng/L) was spiked in. The extract was stored at 4°C until analysis.

Samples were analyzed using an Agilent 1100 capillary liquid chromatograph (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, U.S.A.) coupled with an API 4000 QTrap mass spectrometer (ABSciex, Concord, ON, Canada). Positive electrospray ionization combined with the multiple-reaction monitoring (MRM) mode was used to analyze the samples. A C8 capillary column (150 x 0.32 mm i.d., 3 μ m) (Phenomenex, Torrance, CA, U.S.A.) was used for separation. The sample injection volume was 1.2 μ L. The optimal ionspray parameters were: curtain gas (N₂) at 10, ion-source gas 1 at 13, and ionspray voltage at 4500 V. The declustering potential (DP), collision energy (CE), and cell exit potential (CXP) were the same as in Chapter 2 Quantification was performed using NDPhA-d14 as the internal standard. Standard solutions of 5–200 μ g/L of the nine target nitrosamines plus NDPA-d14 and NDMA-d6 were analyzed to determine the relative response factors (RRFs) for each nitrosamine. RRFs for the nine target nitrosamines and NDMA-d6 were calculated based on the ratio of peak area of individual nitrosamines to that of NDPA-d14.

The method detection limits (MDLs) and limits of quantification (LOQs) are shown in Table 5.4. The MDL and LOQ were calculated for each nitrosamine based on the analysis of seven independently prepared 10 ng/L laboratory fortified blanks. The MDL is defined as 3 times the standard deviation calculated from the seven replicate 10 ng/L laboratory fortified blanks, while the LOQ is defined as 10 times the standard deviation

MDL ^a L				
Nitrosamine	MRM ion pair	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	
NDMA	75/43	2.4	8.1	
NMEA	89/61	0.4	1.2	
NPyr	101/55	1.5	4.9	
NDEA	103/75	2.6	8.6	
NPip	115/69	0.6	2.1	
NMor	117/87	0.7	2.3	
NDPA	131/89	0.3	1.0	
NDBA	159/103	0.7	2.2	
NDPhA	199/169	0.06	0.22	
NDPA-d14	145/97	N/A ^c	N/A	
NDMA-d6	81/46			

 Table 5.4: MRM ion pairs, method detection limits and limit of quantification for the nine nitrosamine method

^aMethod detection limit

^bLimit of quantification

^cNot applicable

5.2.2 Investigation of NDPhA formation

Standard solutions of DPhA and NDPhA were obtained from Supelco (Oakville, ON, Canada). Isotopically labeled standards, NDPhA-d6 (98%) and DPhA-d6 (98%), were obtained from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories (Andover, MA, U.S.A.) and C/D/N Isotopes (Pointe-Claire, PQ, Canada), respectively. Formic acid (50% solution), ammonium chloride, sodium hypochlorite solution (available chlorine 10–15 %), L-ascorbic acid, potassium dihydrogen phosphate and sodium hydroxide were ACS reagent grade or higher and purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada). All reaction solutions were prepared using deionized water produced from a Millipore (Billerica, MA, U.S.A.) water purifying system.

5.2.2.1 SPE method

Oasis HLB cartridges (Waters, Mississauga, ON, Canada) were used to extract NDPhA and DPhA from water samples. Each packed SPE cartridge was initially rinsed with 10 mL each of dichloromethane, methanol and water. One g of sodium bicarbonate was added to 500 mL of the water sample (~pH 8). DPhAd6 (100 μ L of 50 μ g/L) was then spiked into the sample and used as the surrogate standard to assess sample loss during extraction. The 500 mL water sample was then passed through the SPE cartridge at a flow rate of 4–6 mL/min using a vacuum system. The analytes absorbed on the SPE cartridge were eluted using 10 mL of dichloromethane. The organic eluent was collected and concentrated down to 200 μ L under a high purity nitrogen stream in a 40 °C water bath. After concentration, NDPhA-d6 (100 μ L of 50 μ g/L) internal standard was added to the extract prior to the LC-MS/MS analysis and was used for quantification. The recoveries for NDPhA and DPhA are shown in Table 5.5.

extraction recoveries for the rdf hA/Dr hA specific method						
	MRM transitions	DP	CE	CXP	Recovery ± SD (%)	LOD (µg/L)
NDPhA	199/169 199/66	56 56	17 49	10 10	111 ± 5	0.10
DPhA	170/93	66	35	6	04 + 2	0.05
	170/65	76	47	10	94 ± 3	0.05

 Table 5.5: MS parameters, limits of detection (LODs) and solid phase

 extraction recoveries for the NDPhA/DPhA specific method

5.2.2.2 LC-MS/MS analysis

An Agilent 1100 HPLC (Palo Alto, CA, U.S.A.) was coupled directly to a QTrap 4000 mass spectrometer (AB Sciex, Concord, ON, Canada) with an ionspray ionization source. A Phenomenex Luna C8(2) column (100 x 2.0 mm i.d., 3 μ m; Torrance, CA, U.S.A.) was used for separation. The mobile phase was composed of solvent A (0.1% formic acid in water) and solvent B (100% methanol) with a flow rate of 0.15 mL/min. The solvent gradient program consisted of increasing solvent B from 60% to 90% over 15 min, and returning back to 60% of solvent B over 0.1 min, followed by a 10 min re-equilibration prior to the next sample injection. The sample injection volume was 10 μ L. Positive electrospray ionization combined with MRM mode was used for the analysis of DPhA and NDPhA. The selected MRM transitions, optimized MS conditions and instrument detection limits for NDPhA and DPhA are shown in Table 5.5.

5.2.2.3 Preparation of chloramine solutions

Stock solutions of chloramines were freshly prepared daily as previously described [2, 3, 6]. Briefly, ammonium chloride was dissolved in deionized water and adjusted to pH > 9.0 with sodium hydroxide. Then sodium hypochlorite was added slowly to a rapidly stirred solution until a Cl/N molar ratio of 0.7:1 was reached, at which monochloramine (NH₂Cl) is the predominant species in solution [23]. The pH was maintained above 9.0 to minimize the disproportionation of monochloramine (NH₂Cl) to dichloramine (NHCl₂). Concentrations of chloramines in stock solutions were standardized using the DPD ferrous titrimetric method [19].

5.2.2.4 NDPhA formation reactions

All glassware used in these experiments was rinsed with dichloromethane and baked at 200 °C for at least 12 h prior to use. Reactions were conducted at room temperature in 500 mL sealed amber bottles. Unless otherwise specified, all reaction solutions were buffered with the mixture of 10 mM potassium dihydrogen phosphate and sodium hydroxide (pH = 6.8). A predetermined amount of DPhA stock solution was added and fully dissolved into 500 mL of buffered Optima water. The reaction was initiated with the addition of chloramine solution. An aliquot of 500 mL of Optima water was also processed according to this procedure to serve as a control blank. During the reaction process, 0.5 mL of the reaction solutions was taken and mixed with internal standards at specified time intervals to directly measure the concentrations of DPhA and NDPhA by LC-MS/MS.

5.3 **Results and Discussion**

5.3.1 <u>Nitrosamine formation from disinfection of seven source waters with</u> <u>11 different disinfection treatments</u>

This study investigated the formation of nitrosamines, with particular interest in NDPhA, when source water was disinfected without addition of any known precursors. Each of the seven representative source waters collected was treated with 11 different disinfection treatments in parallel, allowing for the comparison of nitrosamine formation during different disinfection processes in the same source water.

The seven locations were numbered in order from lowest to highest TOC, which ranged from 2.0–23.9 mg/L (Table 5.2). UV A254 readings ranged from 0.039 to 0.933 cm⁻¹ (Table 5.2). Locations 3, 6 and 7 had increased values for UV A254, turbidity and color despite their TOC values.

NDMA, NMEA, NMor and NDPhA were detected above the MDL in some of the disinfected samples of the source waters from locations 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7. No nitrosamines were detected in any of the treated samples of the source water from location 1. Location 1 also had the lowest concentrations of TOC and UV A254, which may partially explain why no nitrosamines were formed after disinfection of this source water. In keeping with this idea, location 7 had the highest values of TOC and UV A254 and the greatest number of nitrosamine species formed. However, this study did not find a significant relationship between NDMA formation and either TOC or UV A254.

Figures 5.3 and 5.4 show the formation of NDMA with different disinfection treatments. NDMA was the most frequently detected nitrosamine

with the highest concentrations. NDMA was also detected in untreated source waters from locations 2, 3, 4, 6 and 7, indicating that its presence is frequent but not entirely due to disinfection treatment. NDMA concentrations ranged from <MDL–53.5 ng/L in raw water and <MDL–118.1 ng/L in disinfected water.

NMor was detected in O₃ and O₃/ClO⁻ disinfected water from location 6. NDPhA was detected in ClO⁻ and NH₂Cl treated samples from location 3 and in O₃ and MPUV/ClO⁻ disinfected samples from location 7. NMEA was detected in ClO⁻ and MPUV/ClO⁻ disinfected samples from location 7. The highest concentrations of NMor, NMEA and NDPhA detected were 19.1, 0.55 and 0.23 ng/L, respectively. These results demonstrate that NDMA is the most frequently detected and has the highest concentration compared to other nitrosamines, suggesting that NDMA may serve as a surrogate for nitrosamine exposure assessment.

The effect of specific disinfection treatments on nitrosamine formation are discussed below.



Figure 5.3: NDMA concentrations detected in 6 of 7 different source water samples treated with (A) OCI⁻, NH₂Cl and ClO₂ and (B) with O₃ and O₃/OCI⁻. ND = not disinfected. Error bars indicate standard error. <MDL indicates that NDMA concentrations for a particular treatment were not above the MDL. Statistical analysis was performed using a two-sided Mann-Whitney test at 95% confidence. * indicates statistical significance of a treatment compared to the control (ND). ° indicates statistical significance of O₃/OCI⁻ disinfection compared to O₃. Statistical analysis was not performed on water from location 4 due to sample loss of the ND sample.



Figure 5.4: NDMA concentrations detected in 5 of 7 different source water samples treated with LPUV, LPUV/OCF, MPUV, MPUV/OCF, AOP and AOP/OCF. ND = Not disinfected. Error bars indicate standard error. <MDL indicates that NDMA concentrations for a particular treatment were not above the MDL. Statistical analysis was performed using a two-sided two sample Mann-Whitney test at 95% confidence. * indicates statistical significance of a treatment compared to the control (ND); # indicates statistical significance of LPUV/OCF compared to LPUV; ° indicates statistical significance of MPUV/OCF, AOP or AOP/OCF compared to MPUV; ^ indicates statistical significance of AOP. Statistical analysis was not performed on water from location 4 due to some sample loss of the ND sample.

5.3.2 OCL, NH₂Cl and ClO₂

Figure 5.3A shows that chloraminated (NH₂Cl) source water from locations 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 had higher concentrations of NDMA compared to the untreated source water (ND). Chlorination (OCl⁻) also produced more NDMA compared to the untreated source water from locations 2, 5 and 7. Source waters from locations 2 and 5 produced similar amounts of NDMA after treatment with either OCl⁻ or NH₂Cl. The highest concentration of NDMA was produced with NH₂Cl disinfection of source water 6. In general, these results are consistent with previous reports that chloramination may produce more NDMA than chlorination [8].

It is interesting that ClO₂ treatment of source water from locations 3, 4, and 5 produced more NDMA compared to the untreated source waters, agreeing with the previous observation that ClO₂ treatment of reagent water containing DMA and ammonia formed NDMA [24]. Another study found that, in the absence of ammonia, ClO₂ pretreatment before chloramination reduced NDMA formation potential in reagent water containing certain NDMA precursors and in source water containing precursors of unknown identity [25]. However, this study also showed that the NDMA formation potential was not reduced when DMA and dimethylforamide (DMFA) were used as precursors, demonstrating that ClO₂ pretreatment may not remove all precursors with the same efficiency. Interestingly, ClO₂ pretreatment of water containing some tertiary amines, including trimethylamine (TMA), 3-(dimethylaminomethyl)indole (DMAI), and 4-dimethylaminoantipyrine (DMAP), resulted in an increase in DMA

concentration, suggesting that ClO_2 pretreatment can produce DMA, the NDMA precursor [25]. Our results are consistent with previous findings [24, 25] that ClO_2 can produce NDMA. Because the nature of precursors in source waters is usually not known, the effectiveness of ClO_2 to remove nitrosamines may require optimization according to source water quality.

NMEA was also detected in the OCl⁻ treated samples from source water 7, but was below the limit of quantification. OCl⁻ and NH₂Cl treated samples of source water 3 had NDPhA concentrations of <LOQ and 0.25 ± 0.05 ng/L, respectively.

5.3.3 <u>O₃ and O₃/OCl⁻</u>

O₃ treatment of source waters 2 and 7 produced higher concentrations of NDMA compared to the untreated source waters (Figure 5.3B), agreeing with some recent results that NDMA is produced from the reaction of ozone with DMA, especially at higher pH [9]. O₃ treatment of source waters 5 and 6 did not produce NDMA, whereas the combination of O₃ treatment with OCI⁻ (O₃/OCI⁻) produced significantly higher concentrations of NDMA compared to the untreated source waters 5 and 6 (Figure 5.3B). Furthermore, O₃/OCI⁻ treatment of source waters 5 and 6 produced higher concentrations of NDMA over O₃ treatment alone. These results suggest that O₃ oxidation of natural organic matter may release NDMA precursors in the source water, which may produce NDMA during OCI⁻ treatment. This is consistent with the reported observation that O₃ pretreatment can release DMA from NDMA precursors dimethylaminobenzene (DMAB), 3-(dimethylaminomethyl)indole (DMAI), and 4-

dimethylaminoantipyrine (DMAP) [25]. Source water from location 7 was interesting because O_3 disinfection produced higher amount of NDMA compared to O_3/ClO^- treatment. This may reflect the difference in precursors available in this source water and their reactivity with O_3 and OCl^- .

One previous study found that O₃ disinfection did not result in NDMA formation [8], but concluded that more work was required to confirm this result. Kinetic data has suggested that O₃ treatment should reduce NDMA formation by oxidizing any secondary amines present in source water [26]. This model relies on the assumption that O₃ treatment removes DMA by completely mineralizing the secondary amine, which is not always the case [9]. As such, recent experimental results have shown NDMA formation resulting from O₃ treatment of DMA containing water [9] and from combined O₃/chloramination treatment of water dosed with known tertiary amines [25]. Similarly to ClO₂ treatment, the efficiency of O₃ treatment for reducing/eliminating NDMA formation is influenced by the nature of the precursors in the source water. Our results and others [25] demonstrate that O₃ may produce precursors for NDMA under some conditions.

 O_3 and O_3/OCl^- treated samples of source water 6 also produced NMor at concentrations (± SE) of 12.3 ± 0.2 and 19.1 ± 0.1 ng/L, respectively. This is consistent with previous results showing the formation of NDEA and NMEA resulting from O_3 treatment of reagent water containing the respective secondary amine [9]. These results demonstrate the importance of evaluating the formation of other nitrosamines during disinfection, because of the mixed organic compounds in source water.

5.3.4 <u>Ultraviolet (UV)</u>

Various types of UV radiation, including LPUV [14], MPUV [13] and pulsed UV techniques [11], have been shown to be a potentially useful technique for removal of nitrosamines from water. This is observed in our MPUV treatment of source waters 2, 4, and 7 (Figure 5.4). UV irradiation may also degrade natural organic matter and anthropogenic organic contaminants in the source water. DMA is one of the main UV degradation products of NDMA; however, DMA itself is not broken down by UV [13]. This suggests that UV degradation products of organic compounds containing DMA may serve as precursors for NDMA formation. Here, we investigated the formation of nitrosamines when source waters were treated with UV followed by OCI⁻. Figure 5.4 shows that more NDMA was produced in the samples of source waters 2, 4, and 5 treated by LPUV/OCI⁻ than with LPUV alone. Similar results were obtained when source waters 2, 4, 5, and 7 were treated with MPUV/OCl⁻ compared to MPUV alone (Figure 5.4). This effect has also been observed from the treatment of pulsed UV irradiation followed by OCl⁻ for groundwater and NDMA spiked reagent water [11]. These results demonstrate that UV degradation products may serve as precursors that can form NDMA during subsequent chlorination steps. In addition, MPUV/OCl⁻ treatment of source water 7 also produced NMEA (<LOQ) and NDPhA (0.46 ± 0.08 ng/L). Source water 7 had the highest TOC values of the source waters studied (Table 5.2). These results suggest that the addition of chlorine to maintain a disinfectant residual following UV should be optimized to avoid nitrosamine formation, especially in cases of source water with high TOC.

5.3.5 Advanced oxidative processes (AOP)

AOP involves an oxidation (and sometimes also a reduction) step followed by UV irradiation. In the present study, AOP treatment consisted of H_2O_2 pretreatment followed by MPUV irradiation. The idea behind H_2O_2 pretreatment is to degrade nitrosamines and oxidize their precursors to reduce nitrosamine formation in subsequent disinfection steps. No NDMA was detected in the samples of source water 1 with or without AOP or AOP/CIO⁻ treatments, which could be explained by its low TOC. AOP treatment of the source waters 2 and 7 produced higher concentrations of NDMA compared to the non-treated source waters (Figure 5.4), whereas AOP did not significantly change NDMA concentration in source waters 4 and 6. Compared to MPUV alone, AOP treatment of the source waters 2 and 7 produced significantly higher amounts of NDMA over the untreated water. This implies that the H_2O_2 pretreatment may affect NDMA formation or breakdown during subsequent UV irradiation.

Similarly to the LPUV and MPUV combined with CIO⁻ treatments, the effect of chlorination following AOP treatment was also investigated. Prior to any treatment, no NDMA was detected in source water 5. AOP/OCI⁻ treatment of source water 5 clearly showed formation of NDMA (Figure 5.4). Increase of NDMA formation with AOP/CIO- was also observed in source water 4, but this was not observed in other samples. NDMA formation during AOP or AOP/CIO⁻ has not been studied in natural water. A previous AOP study of reagent water spiked with NDMA looked at combined oxidation and reduction steps of AOP (using 60Co irradiation prior to UV treatment), and the results indicated that this technology was likely to be most effective in water with low concentrations of

natural organic matter [12]. The different patterns of NDMA formation during AOP or AOP/ClO⁻ treatment of different source waters also indicate that natural organic matters and anthropogenic organic contaminants in the source water may affect NDMA removal by AOP or UV technologies. More research is needed for better understanding of AOP technologies for removal of nitrosamines.

The effect of source water quality on nitrosamine formation is clearly observed in the results described above. As in real water treatment plant situations, the identities and concentrations of organic precursors in source water are not known. TOC, UV A254, pH, turbidity, and color are common water quality parameters assessed by water treatment plants and were determined for all seven source waters in this study (Table 5.2). These parameters can affect nitrosamine formation [3, 5, 7, 9]; however, none of these parameters correlate with nitrosamine formation, likely because they do not adequately represent the chemical structures and properties of precursors. This suggests that determination of specific nitrosamine precursors may be more useful than relying on general water quality parameters.

5.3.6 Investigation of NDPhA formation

The previous results clearly show that NDPhA does not form as frequently as NDMA. However, it was the second most commonly detected nitrosamine in the above study and in the occurrence survey presented in Chapter 3. In addition, *in vitro* cytotoxicity testing showed that it is more cytotoxic than NDMA (Chapter 4). Therefore, we decided to focus on NDPhA formation separately from the other nitrosamines. Based on the structure of NDPhA (Table 5.1) and because

secondary amines have been previously shown to be nitrosamine precursors, we propose diphenylamine (DPhA) as a likely precursor of NDPhA from water chloramination.

5.3.6.1 NDPhA method development

In order to sensitively assess NDPhA and DPhA in water samples, we developed a new SPE-LC-MS/MS method specific for these analytes. The decision to develop a new method instead of using the nine nitrosamine method developed in Chapter 2 was due to a couple of factors. As method parameters had to be developed for DPhA, this provided an opportunity to improve NDPhA recoveries in the SPE step. NDPhA recoveries in the nine nitrosamine method were 56%, which was likely due to the SPE phases for the nine nitrosamine method being chosen to provide the highest NDMA recoveries. NDMA is typically the most difficult nitrosamine to extract from water due to its high hydrophilicity [27], but NDPhA is more hydrophobic meaning its retention on solid phase material will differ from that of NDMA.

The new method consisted of SPE using Oasis HLB cartridges, LC separation using a C8 column, followed by ESI-MS/MS detection using MRM. The HLB SPE cartridges provided DPhA recoveries of 94% and improved NDPhA recoveries to 111% (Table 5.5) which represented a substantial improvement over the nine nitrosamine method. MS conditions were optimized for NDPhA and DPhA (Table 5.5). NDPhA-d6 was chosen as the internal standard for sample quantification. The limits of detection were determined to be 0.05 and 0.10 µg/L for DPhA and NDPhA, respectively.
5.3.7 Identification of DPhA as a precursor of NDPhA

DPhA is likely to be a precursor for NDPhA based on their structures and on the results from other nitrosamine formation studies. DPhA is available in the environment as a precursor as it has been shown to be present in the environment as an environmental pollutant of surface and wastewater from its use as an insecticide, fruit preservative, and in the preparation of azo dyes, pharmaceuticals, rubber, and rocket fuel [28].

To confirm that environmental DPhA could act as an NDPhA precursor, we analyzed the raw water used by the drinking water treatment plant where we had detected NDPhA in the treated water in Chapter 2 [29]. DPhA was detected in the raw water at 1.3 ± 0.05 ng/L while no NDPhA was detected (Figure 5.5). When the raw water was treated with 1.0 mM of chloramines for 7 h, NDPhA was detected at a concentration of 0.37 ± 0.03 ng/L, while the DPhA concentration decreased to 0.37 ± 0.03 ng/L compared to the unchloraminated raw water.

The molar yield (Y_m) of NDPhA formation from DPhA in the raw water was calculated to be about 20% using Equation 5.1.

 $Y_m = C_{Nt}/(C_{D0} - C_{Dt}) \times 100\%$ Equation 5.1

where CD0 is the initial DPhA concentration (μ M); CDt and CNt are the concentrations (μ M) of DPhA and NDPhA in solution at a given reaction time (t), respectively. Previous studies that identified DMA as a precursor for NDMA showed a molar yield of <1% from DMA to NDMA [15, 30, 31]. Our results

suggest DPhA is converted more efficiently to NDPhA compared to the conversion of DMA to NDMA.



Figure 5.5: LC-MS/MS analysis of DPhA and NDPhA in standards, raw water, and chloraminated water.

5.3.8 NDPhA formation from DPhA during chloramination

To confirm that NDPhA forms from DPhA during chloramination, a series of experiments were performed in which DPhA was reacted with chloramines in laboratory grade water under highly controlled conditions. The first experiment involved reacting DPhA (1.0 μ M) with chloramines (1.0 mM) to monitor the consumption of DPhA and formation of NDPhA over 14 h (Figure 5.6). Over the course of the experiment, DPhA levels gradually decreased coinciding with an increase in NDPhA. After 10 h, 98% of the DPhA had been consumed producing a maximum NDPhA concentration of 0.15 μ M.



Figure 5.6: Time course of NDPhA formation from the reaction of 1.0 μM DPhA with 1.0 mM chloramines.

The molar yields from the data in Figure 5.6 ranged from 15-20% which is consistent with the molar yield calculation from the chloramination of raw water (Figure 5.5). Previous studies have determined that the molar yield of NDMA formed from DMA is less than 1% [15, 30, 31]. This is much lower than the molar yields we obtained from the formation of NDPhA from DPhA (15– 20%). This difference may be attributed to pH effects and structure-dependent reactivity, because the pK_b values of DPhA and DMA are 13.8 and 3.3, respectively. DPhA (with aromatic groups) may be more reactive than DMA (with methyl groups) with chloramines in water (around pH 7), resulting in higher yield of NDPhA from the secondary amine precursor.

5.3.9 Effect of initial DPhA and chloramine concentrations on NDPhA formation

The effect of DPhA concentration on NDPhA formation was studied by varying initial DPhA concentrations (from 0.02 to 1.0 μ M) while maintaining a fixed concentration of chloramines (1.0 mM). As expected, a linear relationship between NDPhA formation and the initial DPhA concentration was observed (Figure 5.7) after 10 h of reaction time. The molar yields of NDPhA from DPhA range from 19% to 14% when the initial DPhA concentration increases from 0.02 to 1.0 μ M.



Figure 5.7: Effect of initial DPhA concentration on NDPhA formation and residual DPhA concentration.

The effect of initial chloramine concentration on NDPhA formation was also assessed. Varying chloramine concentrations (0.05 to 2.0 mM) were reacted with a fixed DPhA concentration (0.1 μ M). Figure 5.8A shows that the rates of DPhA consumption increase with increasing initial chloramine concentration. Accordingly, the reaction time to reach equilibrium decreases from about 36 h to 4 h when the initial concentration of chloramines increases from 0.05 to 2.0 mM.



Figure 5.8: Effect of initial chloramine concentration on NDPhA formation from DPhA. (A) Residual DPhA concentration after reacting with different chloramine concentrations over time; (B) NDPhA concentrations produced at equilibrium from different initial chloramine concentrations.

The NDPhA concentrations formed during these reactions are shown in

Figure 5.8B. The highest NDPhA concentrations were observed with initial

chloramine concentrations of 0.05 and 0.1 mM, corresponding to a 500- to 1000fold molar excess of chloramines over the precursor DPhA. NDPhA concentrations did not increase significantly between initial chloramine concentrations of 0.1 to 2.0 mM. The molar yield of NDPhA remained between 15–19%. At pH 6.8, monochloramine is approximately 98% in the chloamines solution. Sufficient monochloramine in 0.1–2.0 mM solutions of chloramines to react with DPhA could explain why the yield of NDPhA remained stable.

5.3.10 Effect of chloramine speciation on NDPhA formation In general, chloramines are obtained by mixing chlorine with ammonia.
Monochloramine (NH₂Cl), dichloramine (NHCl₂), and trichloramine (NCl₃) are produced (Equations 5.2–5.5):

Equation 5.2	$Cl_2 + H_2O \rightarrow HOCl + HCl$
Equation 5.3	$\rm HOCl + NH_3 \rightarrow NH_2Cl + H_2O$
Equation 5.4	$NH_2Cl + HOCl \rightarrow NHCl_2 + H_2O$
Equation 5.5	$\rm NHCl_2 + \rm HOCl \rightarrow \rm NCl_3 + \rm H_2O$

The relative abundance of these species depends on the molar ratio of chlorine and ammonia (Cl:N) [23]. At Cl:N molar ratio < 1.5, both NH₂Cl and NHCl₂ coexist, while NH₂Cl is predominant at Cl:N < 1 and NHCl₂ is the major species at Cl:N from 1 to 1.5. At Cl:N molar ratio above 1.5, NCl₃ and free chlorine coexist. To study the effect of the Cl:N ratio on NDPhA formation from

DPhA, chloramine solutions were preformed prior to application to DPhA, as has been reported previously [5, 6].

Figure 5.9 shows NDPhA formation when a fixed concentration of DPhA (0.1 μ M) reacts with chloramines (1.0 mM) prepared at varying Cl:N molar ratios after 12 h. NDPhA was barely detectable when DPhA was treated by chlorination (OCI⁻) alone, without the addition of NH₃. NDPhA (>10 nM) was produced only by chloramination, albeit its concentration varied with different Cl:N ratios. The maximum concentration of NDPhA (20 nM, equal to a molar yield of 20%) was formed at the Cl:N molar ratio of 0.7:1, when NH₂Cl was predominant. This is different from the formation pathway that has been proposed for NDMA (Figure 5.1) where NHCl₂ is predicted to be most important [5, 6]. Therefore NDMA and NDPhA may have different mechanisms of formation.



Figure 5.9: Effect of Cl:N ratio on NDPhA formation from DPhA (0.1 μ M) after 12 h.

5.3.11 Effect of pH on chloramination DBPs

The effect of solution pH on NDPhA formation was examined when

DPhA (0.1 µM) was treated with 1.0 mM chloramines at different pH values. Figure 5.10 summarizes the concentrations of NDPhA and residual DPhA formed at equilibrium for pH 4.0–10.0. The amount of NDPhA formed increases dramatically with increasing pH; 64 times more NDPhA was produced at pH 10.0 than at pH 4.0. The molar yield of NDPhA from DPhA increased from about 1.4% to 90% over the same pH range.



Figure 5.10: Effect of pH on NDPhA formation and residual DPhA concentration. DPhA (0.1 μ M) was reacted with 1.0 mM chloramines at pH 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 for 6 h.

The solution pH also affects chloramine speciation (Equations 5.2–5.5). Monochloramine is favoured at higher pH, while dichloramine is favoured at lower pH. Figures 5.9 and 5.10 show that the pH and concentration of monochloramine strongly impact NDPhA formation. At Cl:N 0.7:1, NDPhA formation can be reduced by 50% at pH 7 compared to pH 8. This could be due to monochloramine being more stable at higher pH which increases its chance to react with DPhA to produce more NDPhA.

Figure 5.10 also shows that the residual DPhA at equilibrium also increases when the pH is increased from 4.0 to 10.0. However, the removal of

DPhA was not equal to the corresponding formation of NDPhA at pH 4–8. DPhA and NDPhA in water at pH 4–10 were stable within the experimental period, thus the concentrations of DPhA and NDPhA in Figure 5.10 were not affected due to the stability of these compounds. The mass imbalance between DPhA removal and NDPhA formation suggests that other products may be formed during chloramination of DPhA in water.

5.3.12 Identification of new DBPs

To investigate other DBPs that may be produced from chloramination of DPhA, extracts of the reaction solutions (0.1 µM DPhA with 1.0 mM chloramines) at pH 6–8 were analyzed using full scan enhanced MS (EMS) (Figure 5.11) Two new peaks, A and B, were observed in the EMS total ion chromatogram in extracts from chloramination of DPhA at pH 7, in addition to NDPhA. These two peaks were not observed in blank samples (chloramination of pure water without DPhA). The product ion spectra of Peaks A and B are shown in Figure 5.11 (insert A and B). The molecular weight of 180 Da and the LC-MS/MS spectra suggest peak A is phenazine. GC-MS analysis of the same extract determined an exact match for phenazine with GC library databases. Further LC-MS/MS experiments using a phenazine standard confirmed that the retention time and mass spectrum of Peak A match those of the phenazine standard. These results support the identification of Peak A as phenazine.



Figure 5.11: LC-MS total ion chromatogram of a chloraminated DPhA extract (pH 7). Inset A: EMS spectra of peak A. Inset B: EMS spectra of peak B. Sample prepared by reacting 0.1 μ M DPhA with 1.0 mM chloramines at pH 7. After reaching equilibrium the reaction mixture was extracted and analyzed using LC-MS with enhanced scan mode.

The molecular ion of Peak B is $m/z 216.8 ([M+H]^+)$ (Peak B, Figure 5.11),

indicating the molecular weight is 216 Da and the molecular formula as

C₁₂N₂H₉Cl. The major fragment ion at m/z 180.9 indicates a loss of 36 (HCl)

from $[M+H]^+$ m/z 216.8 and this ion corresponds to the phenazine molecular ion

 $[M+H]^+$ (Peak A, Figure 5.11). This suggests that HCl is easily lost from peak B

during MS/MS. We further examined whether the chlorine was situated on one of

the nitrogens or on the phenazine ring itself. Analysis of Peak B using GC-MS did

not produce a spectrum match with 2-chlorophenazine in the NIST mass library, suggesting that Peak B is N-chlorophenazine. Further confirmation was not performed at this time because no standard is available and there is no GC-MS spectrum of N-chlorophenazine in the library. The peak at 2.3 min (Figure 5.11) was also detected in the blank, thus it was not further characterized.

Peaks A and B (phenazine and N-chlorophenazine) were then carefully examined using LC-MS/MS (MRM) mode. Figure 5.12 shows MRM chromatograms of the extracts of reaction mixtures of 1.0 mM chloramines with 0.1 μM DPhA at pH 6–9 after 5 h. At pH 6, Peak A and NDPhA are minor products and Peak B is predominant. At pH 7, NDPhA increases and Peak B decreases compared to pH 6. At pH 8, both NDPhA and Peak B are produced at similar concentration. At pH 9, NDPhA becomes predominant while Peak B is significantly reduced and Peak A is barely detected compared to pH 7. These results indicate pH-dependent DBP formation; therefore, different DBPs could be produced during chloramination depending on the pH of the water during treatment. Figure 5.12 also explains the mass imbalance observed in Figure 5.10.



Figure 5.12: MRM chromatograms of Peaks A and B and NDPhA produced at pH 6–9. Sample prepared by reacting 0.1 µM DPhA with 1.0 mM chloramines at pH 6–9.

To confirm Peaks A and B as new DBPs, raw water used in Section 5.3.7 was treated with 1.0 mM chloramines for 12 h at pH 8.4 (without any buffer). Peak A and B are clearly detected in the treated water (Figure 5.13) but not in the source water, supporting phenazine and N-chlorophenazine as new N- and Nchloro DBPs, which have not been previously reported. The peak before Peak A was only detected in the treated source water and was not detected in reactions of DPhA with chloramines. This suggests that this peak likely results from other unknown precursor(s), not DPhA, warranting further investigation.



Figure 5.13: MRM chromatograms of NDPhA, Peak A (phenazine), and Peak B (N-chlorophenazine) in chloraminated raw water.

Based on this result, we propose a putative pathway for the production of NDPhA, phenazine and N-chlorophenazine from chloramination of DPhA (Figure 5.14). DPhA, through a number of possible intermediates, produces these three DBPs depending on the solution pH. At pH < 7, in addition to NDPhA, phenazine and its chlorinated derivative are produced. At pH>7, NDPhA formation significantly increases compared to acidic pH, while phenazine and N-chlorophenazine formation is much less. This pathway is consistent with the findings described above: 1) DPhA is a precursor; 2) NDPhA, phenazine, N-

chlorophenazine and other DBPs are formed after chloramination; and 3) water pH and chloramines are key factors in the formation of these DBPs.



Figure 5.14: Putative pathways for the formation of NDPhA and other N-DBPs from chloramination of water containing DPhA

5.4 Conclusions

This study investigated several factors related to nitrosamine formation.

The initial study aimed to systematically study the effect on nitrosamine

formation from different disinfectants on the same source water. This study found

that OCl⁻ and NH₂Cl can produce nitrosamines in the same source waters.

However, NH₂Cl has the potential to produce much higher concentrations of

nitrosamines than OCl⁻ alone, depending on the source water. Our results support

previous observations that ClO₂ can also produce NDMA. UV removal of

nitrosamines is effective in source water with low turbidity and color. Subsequent addition of OCI⁻ following alternative treatments (UV or AOP or O₃) can increase NDMA concentration and lead to formation of other nitrosamines such as NMor and NDPhA. The formation of different nitrosamines in the source waters suggest that natural organic matter and/or anthropogenic contaminants may contain different subunits for formation of various nitrosamines; therefore, determination of the precursors of various nitrosamines in source water warrant further studies.

Secondly, we sought to better understand the formation of newly identified DBP, NDPhA, by performing chloramination experiments on its secondary amine, DPhA. This study demonstrated that DPhA can form NDPhA following chloramination at much higher molar yields than formation of NDMA from DMA. In addition, NDPhA formation is higher in conditions favouring monochloramines, which is different than NDMA. Finally, chloramination of DPhA can produce different intermediates depending on water pH, resulting in formation of different DBPs. Phenazine and N-chlorophenazine have never been reported as DBPs in drinking water and their occurrence toxicity and health effects are not known.

Taken together, one major theme can be found in these two studies. The quality of source water (and by extension, the type and concentration of precursors) is very important in determining DBP formation. General indicators of raw water quality are not sufficient to predict nitrosamine formation, even for NDMA. Therefore, ensuring the cleanliness of raw water prior to disinfection is one possible strategy to reduce DBP formation during water treatment. Changing

disinfection strategies has been shown to be ineffective in preventing DBP formation; it just changes the composition of DBPs formed. This was observed in both of our studies, in which different disinfection treatments could produce other nitrosamines such as NMor or NDPhA. Even in our study of NDPhA formation from DPhA, just changing the pH (not the disinfectant type) resulted in the promotion of two other DBPs, phenazine and N-chlorophenazine. Therefore, it is extremely important for water treatment plants to understand their source water and how it reacts with disinfectants and how that will change when water treatment processes are changed. Without this understanding, changes to the water treatment train in attempts to prevent formation of certain DBPs may result in the formation of other more toxic ones.

5.5 References

- 1. Mirvish, S. S. Formation of N-nitroso compounds Chemistry, kinetics, and *in vivo* occurrence. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **1975,** *31*, (3), 325-351.
- 2. Choi, J. H.; Valentine, R. L. Formation of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from reaction of monochloramine: a new disinfection by-product. *Water Res.* **2002**, *36*, (4), 817-824.
- Mitch, W. A.; Sedlak, D. L. Formation of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from dimethylamine during chlorination. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2002, *36*, (4), 588-595.
- 4. Shah, A. D.; Mitch, W. A. Halonitroalkanes, halonitriles, haloamides, and N-nitrosamines: A critical review of nitrogenous disinfection byproduct formation pathways. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, (1), 119-131.
- 5. Schreiber, I. M.; Mitch, W. A. Nitrosamine formation pathway revisited: The importance of chloramine speciation and dissolved oxygen. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, (19), 6007-6014.
- 6. Schreiber, I. M.; Mitch, W. A. Influence of the order of reagent addition on NDMA formation during chloramination. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *39*, (10), 3811-3818.
- Choi, J. H.; Valentine, R. L. N-nitrosodimethylamine formation by freechlorine-enhanced nitrosation of dimethylamine. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2003, *37*, (21), 4871-4876.
- 8. Najm, I.; Trussell, R. R. NDMA formation in water and wastewater. J. -Am. Water Works Assoc. 2001, 93, (2), 92-99.
- 9. Andrzejewski, P.; Kasprzyk-Hordern, B.; Nawrocki, J. Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation during ozonation of dimethylamine-containing waters. *Water Res.* **2008**, *42*, (4-5), 863-870.
- 10. Schmidt, C. K.; Brauch, H.-J. N,N-dimethosulfamide as precursor for Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation upon ozonation and its fate during drinking water treatment. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *42*, (17), 6340-6346.
- Liang, S.; Min, J. H.; Davis, M. K.; Green, J. F.; Remer, D. S. Use of pulsed-UV processes to destroy NDMA. J. - Am. Water Works Assoc. 2003, 95, (9), 121-131.

- Landsman, N. A.; Swancutt, K. L.; Bradford, C. N.; Cox, C. R.; Kiddle, J. J.; Mezyk, S. P. Free radical chemistry of advanced oxidation process removal of nitrosamines in water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2007, *41*, 5818-5823.
- 13. Stefan, M. I.; Bolton, J. R. UV direct photolysis of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA): Kinetic and product study. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **2002**, *85*, (5), 1416-1426.
- 14. Lee, C.; Choi, W.; Yoon, J. UV photolytic mechanism of Nnitrosodimethylamine in water: Roles of dissolved oxygen and solution pH. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *39*, (24), 9702-9709.
- 15. Gerecke, A. C.; Sedlak, D. L. Precursors of N-nitrosodimethylamine in natural waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2003**, *37*, (7), 1331-1336.
- 16. Chen, Z.; Valentine, R. L. Formation of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from humic substances in natural water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, (17), 6059-6065.
- Wilczak, A.; Assadi-Rad, A.; Lai, H. H.; Hoover, L. L.; Smith, J. F.; Berger, R.; Rodigari, F.; Beland, J. W.; Lazzelle, L. J.; Kinicannon, E. G.; Baker, H.; Heaney, C. T. Formation of NDMA in chloraminated water coagulated with DADMAC cationic polymer. *J. - Am. Water Works Assoc.* 2003, 95, (9), 94-106.
- 18. Chen, W. H.; Young, T. M. NDMA formation during chlorination and chloramination of aqueous diuron solutions. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *42*, (4), 1072-1077.
- 19. American Public Health Association; American Water Works Association; World Environmental Federation. *Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 20th Edition.* Washington, D.C., 1998.
- Dattilio, T. A.; Pepich, B. V.; Munch, D. J.; Fair, P. S.; Kortvelyesi, Z.; Gordon, G. Determination of Chlorine Dioxide and Chlorite Ion in Drinking Water Using Lissamine Green B and Horseradish Peroxidase with Detection by Visible Spectrophotometry; U.S. EPA Method 327.0; U.S. EPA: Cincinnati, OH, 2005.
- 21. Klassen, N. V.; Marchington, D.; McGowan, H. C. E. H₂O₂ determination by the I₃⁻ method and by KMnO₄ titration. *Anal. Chem.* **1994**, *66*, (18), 2921-2925.
- 22. Liu, W. J.; Andrews, S. A.; Stefan, M. I.; Bolton, J. R. Optimal methods for quenching H₂O₂ residuals prior to UFC testing. *Water Res.* **2003**, *37*, (15), 3697-3703.

- 23. Snoeyink, V. L.; Jenkins, D. *Water Chemistry*; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1980; p 463.
- 24. Andrzejewski, P.; Kasprzyk-Hordern, B.; Nawrocki, J. The hazard of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation during water disinfection with strong oxidants. *Desalination* **2005**, *176*, (1-3), 37-45.
- 25. Lee, C.; Schmidt, C.; Yoon, J.; von Gunten, U. Oxidation of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) precursors with ozone and chlorine dioxide: Kinetics and effect on NDMA formation potential. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, (6), 2056-2063.
- von Gunten, U. Ozonation of drinking water: Part II. Disinfection and byproduct formation in presence of bromide, iodide or chlorine. *Water Res.* 2003, 37, (7), 1469-1487.
- 27. Boyd, J. M.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. F.; Richardson, S. D. Solid-phase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatography mass spectrometry analysis of nitrosamines in treated drinking water and wastewater. *Trends Anal. Chem.* **2011**, *30*, (9), 1410-1421.
- 28. Drzyzga, O. Diphenylamine and derivatives in the environment: A review. *Chemosphere* **2003**, *53*, (8), 809-818.
- 29. Zhao, Y. Y.; Boyd, J.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. F. Characterization of new nitrosamines in drinking water using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, (24), 7636-7641.
- 30. Mitch, W. A.; Gerecke, A. C.; Sedlak, D. L. A N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) precursor analysis for chlorination of water and wastewater. *Water Res.* **2003**, *37*, (15), 3733-3741.
- Chen, Z.; Valentine, R. L. Modeling the formation of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from the reaction of natural organic matter (NOM) with monochloramine. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2006, 40, (23), 7290-7297.

6 DISINFECTION BYPRODUCT FORMATION FROM BACTERIAL PRECURSORS

6.1 Introduction

In Chapter 5, we identified two new N-DBPs, phenazine and Nchlorophenazine (Table 6.1) [1]. Both of these DBPs form from the chloramination of diphenylamine (DPhA); based on their chemical structures, we hypothesize that phenazine containing chemicals should be ideal precursors for chloro-phenazine DBPs. Like DPhA, phenazine containing chemicals are readily available in the environment. Phenazines are produced commercially as dyes [2]. They are also secreted by certain bacterial species including *Pseudomonas* species, *Streptomyces* spp. and *Pantoea agglomerans* [3]. Pseudomonads are found both in the environment and in some distribution system biofilms [4]. This suggests that DBPs such as phenazine and N-chlorophenazine may use a phenazine precursor secreted by bacteria, thus indicating a bacterial source of DBP precursors.

Chemical	Structure	Formula	Charged monoisotopic mass (Da)
Phenazine		$C_{12}N_2H_8$	181.07602
N-chlorophenazine		C ₁₂ N ₂ H ₉ Cl	217.052702
N- nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA)	N ^{×O} N	$C_{12}N_2H_{10}O$	199.08659
NDPhA-d6		$C_{12}H_4D_6N_2O$	205.12425

 Table 6.1: Structure, MRM transition and charged monoisotopic mass for phenazine, N-chlorophenazine, NDPhA and NDPhA-d6

Microorganisms have been previously investigated as sources of DBP precursors. Several studies have looked at trihalomethane formation from various algae species [5]. Fang *et al.* produced a variety of DBPs including THMs, haloacetic acids (HAAs), chloral hydrate, trichloronitromethane, dichloroacetonitrile, 1,1-dichloropropanone, and haloacetonitriles from disinfection of the blue-green algae *Microcystis aeruginosa* [6]. Few studies have investigated DBP formation from bacteria, and none have looked at phenazine containing DBPs. Mitch and Sedlak examined the formation of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from chloramination of bacteria and yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Escherichia coli* and *Gordona amarae*) as precursors, but did not detect any NDMA even after 10 days[7]. Pseudomonads, like the previously investigated microorganisms, are available in the environment to serve as phenazine containing DBP precursors. In addition, they can also form biofilms on the insides of distribution system pipes and so may serve as a source of DBP precursors within the distribution system.

This study was designed to examine whether phenazine containing DBPs can form from bacteria during chlorination and chloramination. To test this, we used *Pseudomonas fluorescens*, an opportunistic Pseudomonad, as a model as it is commonly found in soil and has also been isolated from biofilms in drinking water distribution systems.

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 <u>Chemicals and standards</u>

N-nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA) was obtained from Fluka Chemicals (Sigma Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada). Formic acid (LC-MS grade) and phenazine (98% purity) were obtained from Sigma Aldrich. NDPhA-d6 (98%) was obtained from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories (Cambridge, MA, U.S.A.). All other chemicals were of analytical grade and obtained from Fisher Scientific (Nepean, ON, Canada).

6.2.2 Growth and isolation of *P. fluorescens*

P. fluorescens was revived from cold storage onto LB agar plates. These primary streak plates were incubated for 48 h at room temperature. Then colonies from these plates were restreaked onto new LB agar plates and allowed to grow for 48 h at room temperature. Once individual colonies were observed, they were

transferred to 100 mL LB broth and grown for 48 h at room temperature being shaken at 170 rpm. After 48 h, media was split between 2–50 mL conical centrifuge tubes and spun down at 4000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was collected, transferred to new 50 mL tubes and spun down again. The cells were resuspended in 1X PBS and spun down at 4000 rpm for 10 min. This step was repeated two more times to ensure all the LB broth had been removed. Cells were finally resuspended in 1X PBS.

6.2.3 <u>Preparation of disinfectant solutions</u>

Stock solutions of chloramines (100 mM) were freshly prepared daily as previously described [1]. Solutions were prepared in 100 mL volumetric flasks. Ammonium chloride (1.0698 g) was dissolved in deionized water and adjusted to pH > 9.0 with 960 µL of 6.25 M sodium hydroxide. Sodium hypochlorite (10– 15%) was then added dropwise to the solution while stirring. The final Cl:N molar ratio was 0.7:1.

Stock solutions of chlorine were freshly prepared daily by mixing sodium hypochlorite in deionized water.

6.2.4 Disinfection of bacteria

Resuspended bacteria were added to 500 mL amber bottles containing 1X PBS. Disinfectant was added and the solution was stirred for 5 min. Afterwards, the bottles were left to react at room temperature for 24 h (unless otherwise specified). After 24 h, ascorbic acid was added to each bottle to quench the disinfectant residual. Samples were stored at 4 °C until extraction.

6.2.5 <u>Sample extraction</u>

Solid phase extraction was performed as described in Chapter 5 [1]. Samples were filtered using Whatman GF/F glass filters (particle retention >0.7 μ m, 142 mm) to remove bacterial particles that would block up the SPE cartridges. Samples were extracted using Waters Oasis HLB (Waters, Milford, MA, U.S.A.) cartridges mounted onto a Supelco Visiprep manifold. The cartridges were preconditioned using washes of dichloromethane, methanol and Optima grade water. The samples were then run through the cartridges at a flow rate of 2–3 mL/min. Once the sample had been run through, one more column volume of Optima grade water was used to wash the cartridges. Then two washes of 0.5 mL methanol and 3-5 mL washes of dichloromethane were used to elute the cartridges. The eluant was concentrated to 0.1–0.2 mL using high purity nitrogen. Fifty microlitres of 200 µg/mL of NDPhA-d6 were added to each sample, followed by 0.2 mL methanol and 0.15 mL deionized water, to obtain a final composition of 70% methanol. The extracts were stored at 4 °C until analysis.

6.2.6 Sample Analysis

Sample analysis was performed using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS). LC separation was performed using an Agilent 1100 series LC system (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, U.S.A) and a Phenomenex C8(2) Luna column with a C8 guardcolumn (Phenomenex, Torrance, CA, U.S.A.). LC mobile phases were A: water with 0.1% formic acid, B: methanol. The LC gradient consisted of 60% B for 3 min, ramped to 90% B

over 15 min, returning to 60% B over 0.1 min, and hold at 60% B for 8 min for a total run time of 25 min. The flow rate was 0.150 mL/min and the injection volume was 10 μ L.

Two MS systems were used in this study. Quantitative analysis was performed using an AB Sciex 4000 QTrap (ABSciex, Concord, ON, Canada). The method consisted of an MRM survey scan followed by an information dependent acquisition-Enhanced product ion (IDA-EPI) scan. Optimized instrument dependent parameters are shown in Table 6.2. MRM transitions and compound dependent parameters for each analyte are shown in Table 6.3.

Parameter	4000 QTrap	5600 Triple TOF
Ionspray voltage (V)	5500	5500
Curtain gas	30	30
Gas 1	60	50
Gas 2	50	50
Temperature	400	400

 Table 6.2: Instrument dependent parameters for triple quadrupole MS and time-of-flight MS analysis in this study

Chemical	MRM transitions	DP	CE	СХР
N-chlorophenazine	217/181	51	33	10
	217/128	46	57	8
	219/181	51	33	10
	219/128	46	57	8
Phenazine	181/77	96	55	12
	181/154	91	45	8
N-nitrosodiphenylamine	199/169	56	17	10
	199/66	56	49	10
N-nitrosodiphenylamine- d6	205/175	46	27	10

 Table 6.3: Compound dependent parameters for the 4000 QTrap MRM method

High resolution analysis was performed using an ABSciex 5600 TripleTOF. The method consisted of a high resolution time-of-flight (TOF) scan (100–1000 Da) followed by an IDA-EPI (50–1000 Da) scan. The compound dependent parameters were as follows: declustering potential (DP) = 80, collision energy (CE) = 30, collision energy spread (CES) = 15. The instrument dependent parameters are shown in Table 6.2. The same LC method was used for both MS methods.

Some samples were run on a 5600 TripleTOF at ABSciex in Concord, Ontario. A Shimadzu UFLC XR system using a Phenomenex Kinetex C18 (10 X 2.1 mm X 2.5 μ m) column was used for separation. LC mobile phases were A: water with 0.1% formic acid, B: methanol. LC gradient consisted of 40% B to 90% B in 10 min at 0.3 mL/min. Total run time was 10 min. Injection volume was 10 μ L. MS conditions were: Positive ESI, DP = 80 V, CE = 35 V, CES = 15 V; TOF-MS mass range = 100–1000 Da; TOF-MS/MS Mass range = 50–1000 Da.

6.3 **Results and Discussion**

6.3.1 <u>Formation of N-chlorophenazine from chloramination of P.</u> <u>fluorescens</u>

In this study, we examined whether phenazine containing DBPs could form during disinfection of *P. fluorescens*. We first investigated formation during chloramination as phenazine and N-chlorophenazine formed from chloramination of DPhA. Figure 6.1 shows the MRM chromatograms (217/181) (4000 QTrap) for extracts of P. fluorescens alone (black trace) and P. fluorescens treated with chloramine (red trace). A peak was detected at 17 min in the P. fluorescens + chloramine trace, which corresponds with our N-chlorophenazine results from Chapter 5. Peaks were also observed at the same retention time in the three other MRM transitions for N-chlorophenazine (not shown) confirming the unknown peak matched the fragmentation and chlorine isotope pattern for Nchlorophenazine. This peak was a result of disinfection as no peaks were observed at the same retention time in the *P. fluorescens* alone trace. This information, taken together, supports the identification of the peak as N-chlorophenazine. Therefore, the hypothesis that N-chlorophenazine can form from bacterial precursors is confirmed.



Figure 6.1: MRM (217/181) traces of chloraminated or chlorinated *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. Disinfectant dose was 3.4 mM. *P. fluorescens* dose: 1.43e+9 cells/mL. The N-chlorophenazine peak is denoted by an arrow.

To further verify the observed peak as N-chlorophenazine, we analyzed the chloraminated *P. fluorescens* samples using high resolution mass spectrometry (Qq-TOF) to obtain accurate mass measurements of the peak. The theoretical charged accurate mass of N-chlorophenazine is 217.05270 Da (Table 6.1). The experimentally measured mass of the peak was 217.0526. Analysis using PeakView software found only one compatible formula ($C_{12}H_{10}N_2Cl$, Accuracy -0.5 ppm) (Figure 6.2) which corresponds to the [M+H]⁺ state of Nchlorophenazine. This result further supports the identification of Nchlorophenazine detected in the extract of the chloraminated *P. fluorescens* sample. This is the first evidence of N-DBP precursors originating from bacteria.



Figure 6.2: Accurate mass analysis of suspected N-chlorophenazine peak in a chloraminated *Pseudomonas fluorescens* sample.

6.3.2 <u>Factors influencing N-chlorophenazine formation during</u> <u>chloramination of *P. fluorescens*</u>

6.3.2.1 Effect of P. fluorescens concentration

Next, the effect of P. fluorescens cell numbers on the production of N-

chlorophenazine was investigated. Different P. fluorescens concentrations (1.1e+5

cells/mL to 1.1e+9 cells/mL) were disinfected with the same chloramine

concentration (100 mg/L) (Figure 6.3). As standards for N-chlorophenazine are

not available, a standard curve could not be generated for quantification. Instead,

the amount of N-chlorophenazine is expressed as a peak area ratio between N-

chlorophenazine and the internal standard (NDPhA-d6) (left y-axis). Phenazine

standards are available, therefore phenazine concentration is shown on the right yaxis.

N-chlorophenazine was detected in samples containing 1.1e+7 cells/mL of *P. fluorescens* and above. N-chlorophenazine concentrations increased with increasing phenazine concentrations. When *P. fluorescens* was not chloraminated, phenazine was detected but N-chlorophenazine was not. This indicates that chloramination is necessary for the production of N-chlorophenazine (Figure 6.3).



Pseudomonas fluorescens concentration (cells/mL)



6.3.2.2 Effect of chloramine concentration

The effect of chloramine dosing concentration on the formation of N-

chlorophenazine from P. fluorescens was investigated. P. fluorescens (1.4e+7

cells/mL) samples were dosed with three different chloramine concentrations (51,

103 and 206 mg/L) (Figure 6.4). N-chlorophenazine was produced with all three chloramine concentrations; however, the highest intensity was observed with 51 mg/L, followed by 103 mg/L. This suggests that higher chloramine concentrations may form other byproducts more favorably than N-chlorophenazine or that N-chlorophenazine is not stable at higher chloramine concentrations. Phenazine concentrations remained stable through all four treatment groups.



Figure 6.4: Effect of chloramine dosing concentration on the formation of Nchlorophenazine from *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. *P. fluorescens* dosing concentration was 1.4e+7 cells/mL

6.3.2.3 Effect of contact time length

Drinking water often sits for long periods of time in reservoirs and within the distribution system. This results in a longer period of time for disinfectants to react with precursors to form DBPs. For nitrosamines we have previously determined that concentrations increase with increasing distance from the water treatment plant (Chapter 2). To assess contact time length on formation of Nchlorophenazine, *P. fluorescens* was chloraminated at the same conditions as shown in Figure 6.1 and then left for 90 days before analysis. Following sample extraction and analysis, no N-chlorophenazine was detected indicating that any N-chlorophenazine that formed likely decayed due to the long contact time.

6.3.3 <u>DBP formation from chlorination of Pseudomonas fluorescens</u>

Formation of N-chlorophenazine from chlorination of *P. fluorescens* was also assessed, as chlorine is very commonly used as a water disinfectant in North America. Figure 6.1 shows the MRM chromatograms (217/181) for *P. fluorescens* disinfected with chlorine (blue trace) and *P. fluorescens* alone (black trace). Nchlorophenazine was not observed in the chlorinated *P. fluorescens* samples; however, three new peaks were observed. All three peaks were also observed in the 219/181 MRM chromatogram at ratios of 3:1 indicating the presence of chlorine. This suggests that these unknown peaks may also be chlorophenazines with chlorine substituted in different locations around the phenazine ring.

To investigate this possibility, chlorine was reacted with phenazine alone (Figure 6.5) to try and reproduce the three unknown peaks observed in Figure 6.1. With only one precursor available for the chlorine to react, a greater quantity of monochlorinated phenazines would be formed than by using *P. fluorescens*.



Figure 6.5: Chlorination of phenazine. MRM traces for N-chlorophenazine transitions 217/181 (blue) and 219/181 (red) are shown.

Chlorination of phenazine alone (Figure 6.5) did not produce the three unknown peaks observed following chlorination of *P. fluorescens* (Figure 6.1). However, previous research has shown that synthesis of monochlorophenazines is difficult due to the seeming low reactivity of the phenazine ring towards electrophilic substitution [8]. Chlorination of phenazine in particular has been reported to produce very low yield mixtures of singly and multiply chlorinated phenazines [8-10]. The results are not conclusive in determining if the unknown peaks are chlorophenazines. If they are chlorophenazines, then they may have been produced at concentrations too low for the method to detect.

Being unable to easily produce chlorinated phenazines via chlorination of phenazine, the identity of the unknown peaks was further investigated by analyzing chlorinated *P. fluorescens* samples using high resolution mass spectrometry. Figure 6.6 shows the extracted chromatogram of 217.0 Da +/- 1.0.
Five peaks (1-5) were observed instead of just the three observed in Figure 6.1, as all m/z 217.0 ions (+/- 1.0 Da) are shown, not just those producing m/z 181 or 128 product ions. Accurate mass spectra were obtained for peaks 1–5 (Figure 6.6B). Interestingly, four of the five peaks have an accurate mass near to 216.1. The extracted chromatograms of the determined accurate masses from peaks 1–5 are shown in Figure 6.7.



Figure 6.6: TripleTOF analysis of chlorinated *P. fluorescens* extracts. (A) XIC of 217.0 +/- 1.0 Da (B) MS spectra of peaks 1–5 focused on m/z 214.0–220.0.



Figure 6.7: TOF-MS extraction of the accurate masses identified from the 5 peaks observed in chlorinated *Pseudomonas fluorescens* samples (Figure 6.6a). Extraction windows are +/- 0.005 Da.

Based on the extracted accurate mass results (Figure 6.7) it is clear that a number of compounds are present in the spectra, some co-eluting. It is uncertain if these peaks represent chlorinated phenazines, as the charged monoisotopic mass for 1- and 2-chlorophenazine (m/z 215.03705) was not observed. However, the unknown peaks were observed in the N-chlorophenazine MRM transition window on the 4000Qtrap which does suggest that they may be chlorophenazines.

Peak 1 (Figure 6.7, chromatogram 1) is a composite of m/z 216.1220 and 217.0960. Peak 2 consists of m/z 216.1529 alone. Extraction of m/z 216.1529 showed a number of peaks within the extraction window. No clear chlorine isotope patterns were observed even though it was one of the three unknown peaks observed on the 4000QTrap. A number of MS peaks were observed for Peak 3: m/z 216.0776, 218.0724, 216.1578, and 218.1520. Peaks for m/z 216.0776 and 218.0724 were observed at the same retention time at a 3:1 ratio suggesting the presence of chlorine (Figure 6.7, chromatogram 3a). However, the peaks for m/z 216.1578 and 218.1520 had slightly different retention times, suggesting they are from different analytes; m/z 216.1578 was also observed in Peak 5. Peak 4, one of the three unknown peaks from Figure 6.1, also exhibits a chlorine isotope pattern. Ions of m/z 215.9700, 217.9300 and 219.9656 are observed at intensity ratio of approximately 3:3:1 and elute at the same time (Figure 6.7, chromatogram 4). This suggests the possible presence of three chlorines on this molecule. The major constituent of Peak 5 was m/z 216.1578. Determination of the identity of these peaks is underway. The chlorine signatures observed in these results confirm my results from the 4000Qtrap.

6.4 Conclusions

This study is the first to demonstrate formation of phenazine containing DBPs from bacterial sources. While much attention is paid to natural organic matter in source water, microorganisms themselves have not been well studied as N-DBP precursors. This could potentially be important both in source water and within the distribution system. N-chlorophenazine was produced from chloramination of *P. fluorescens*. The amount formed depended on precursor and disinfectant concentrations. However, N-chlorophenazine was not formed during chlorination. Other peaks were observed that are currently being identified. These results are useful for determining the formation of phenazine containing DBPs during water disinfection.

The toxicity of phenazine containing DBPs and their potential effect on human health is unknown. Chlorinated phenazines have been investigated as herbicides and fungicides, with mono-halogenated phenazines shown to be more toxic than di-, tri- or tetra-halogenated phenazines [11]. The substitution position of the halogen atom on the phenazine ring is also important as 1-chlorophenazine was shown to be more toxic than 2-chlorophenazine [11]. No toxicity information is available on N-chlorophenazine. More research is needed to determine the possible human health effects of the presence of these DBPs in drinking water.

6.5 References

- 1. Zhou, W.; Boyd, J. M.; Qin, F.; Hrudey, S.; Li, X. F. Formation of *N*nitrosodiphenylamine and two new *N*-containing disinfection byproducts from chloramination of water containing diphenylamine. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, (21), 8443-8448.
- 2. Drzyzga, O. Diphenylamine and derivatives in the environment: A review. *Chemosphere* **2003**, *53*, (8), 809-818.
- 3. Mavrodi, D. V.; Blankenfeldt, W.; Thomashow, L. S. Phenazine compounds in fluorescent *Pseudomonas spp.* Biosynthesis and regulation. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **2006**, *44*, 417-445.
- 4. Percival, S. L.; Walker, J. T. Potable water and biofilms: a review of the public health implications. *Biofouling* **1999**, *14*, (2), 99-115.
- 5. Graham, N. J. D.; Wardlaw, V. E.; Perry, R.; Jiang, J. Q. The significance of algae as trihalomethane precursors. *Water Sci. Technol.* **1998**, *37*, (2), 83-89.
- 6. Fang, J.; Ma, J.; Yang, X.; Shang, C. Formation of carbonaceous and nitrogenous disinfection by-products from the chlorination of *Microcystis aeruginosa*. *Water Res.* **2010**, *44*, (6), 1934-1940.
- 7. Mitch, W. A.; Sedlak, D. L. Characterization and fate of Nnitrosodimethylamine precursors in municipal wastewater treatment plants. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, (5), 1445-1454.
- 8. Guirado, A.; Cerezo, A.; Andreu, R.; Sanchez, J. I. L.; Bautista, D. An efficient method for the synthesis of 1-chlorophenazines based on the selective cathodic reduction of 3,3,6,6-tetrachloro-1,2-cyclohexanedione. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60*, (32), 6747-6755.
- 9. Maffei, S.; Pietra, S.; Cattaneo, A. Alogenazione della fenazina: Clorurazione in acido cloridrico. *Gazz. Chim. Ital.* **1953**, *83*, 327-334.
- 10. Maffei, S.; Pietra, S.; Cattaneo, A. Alogenazione della fenazine: Clorurazione in tetracloruro di carbonio e in nitrobenzolo. *Gazz. Chim. Ital.* **1953**, *83*, 812-822.
- Cross, B.; Dunn, C. L.; Payne, D. H.; Tipton, J. D. Synthesis and pesticidal evaluation of phenazines .I. Halophenazines. J. Sci. Food Agric. 1969, 20, (1), 8-12.

7 <u>CONCLUSIONS AND SYNTHESIS</u>

7.1 Introduction

Disinfection of drinking water is effective at preventing the spread of waterborne disease. However, it also produces disinfection byproducts (DBPs). The health effects of DBPs are unclear. Many DBPs have been shown to be carcinogenic in chronic rat toxicity assays; however, the effect of long-term exposure to low doses of these chemicals on humans in unknown. Epidemiology data has only been able to consistently link consumption of chlorinated drinking water with an increased risk of bladder cancer, but the DBP or DBPs responsible for this effect remain unclear. What is clear is that regulated DBPs such as trihalomethanes (THMs) and haloacetic acids (HAAs), which typically also make up the highest proportion of identified DBPs, do not have sufficient potency for causing the increased bladder cancer risk.

At the start of my Ph.D., nitrosamines were considered a possible culprit for the increased bladder cancer risk. They were much more potent rodent carcinogens than THMs or HAAs and had been identified in drinking water in California and Alberta [1, 2]. My work aimed to fill some of the research gaps in nitrosamine knowledge including improved methodology to detect a wider range of nitrosamines in drinking water (Chapter 2), investigation of the occurrence of nine nitrosamines other than NDMA (Chapter 3), development of new methodologies to rapidly screen newly identified DBPs (Chapter 4), investigation of nitrosamine formation from different disinfectants on the same source water and from suspected precursors (Chapter 5), and investigation of microbial sources of DBP precursors (Chapter 6). This chapter presents summaries of the major findings from my research (Chapters 2-6), conclusions based on my thesis work as a whole and suggestions for future research directions.

7.2 Advancements in Knowledge

7.2.1 <u>Chapter 2: Development of an SPE-LC-MS/MS method to detect nine</u> <u>N-nitrosamines in drinking water</u>

Prior to 2006, analysis of N-nitrosamines in drinking water was done almost exclusively using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) [3]. While this technique is sensitive and robust for the eight thermally stable and volatile nitrosamines included in U.S. EPA Method 521 [4], it precludes the direct detection of thermally unstable or non-volatile nitrosamines. I hypothesized that thermally unstable or non-volatile nitrosamines may form during water treatment but were not being detected by the current GC-MS methodologies. To test this hypothesis, I developed a liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method to detect eight GC-detectable and one GC non-detectable nitrosamine (NDPhA). Using electrospray ionization, I was also able to analyze for N-nitrosodiphenylamine, a thermally unstable nitrosamine that breaks down in the GC injector. Combined with a solid phase extraction (SPE) preconcentration step, this method is capable of detecting nitrosamines at low ng/L concentrations, which is comparable with GC-MS methods. Using this method, four nitrosamines were detected in treated drinking water from an Alberta water treatment plant (WTP): NDMA, N-nitrosopyrrolidine (NPyr), N-nitrosopiperidine (NPip), and NDPhA. NPip and NDPhA had not been reported as DBPs previously. The detection of NDPhA demonstrated that GC non-detectable nitrosamines also form 169 during water treatment and that LC-MS/MS based techniques can be used to sensitively detect ng/L concentrations of DBPs in drinking water samples.

7.2.2 <u>Chapter 3: Occurrence of nine N-nitrosamines in thirty-eight drinking</u> water systems in Canada and the U.S.A.

Although N-nitrosamines are potent enough to cause health effects at low ng/L concentrations and had been detected in select water systems in North America in 2006, little was known about their occurrence in drinking water. Of the two occurrence studies published, one was five years old and only investigated NDMA [5]. The other looked at eight volatile nitrosamines, but focused only on drinking water in Alberta [6]. Both of these studies used GC-MS for analysis, thus no data was available for NDPhA. Using the SPE-LC-MS/MS method developed in Chapter 2, I analyzed treated drinking water from 38 water distribution systems in North America. NDMA was the most commonly detected nitrosamine, with the highest concentrations observed in chloramination systems. Although NDMA was detected above the method detection limit in 76% of samples, only 24% were above the California Notification Limit of 10 ng/L. Higher NDMA concentrations were detected in systems using a free chlorine contact time between 0 and 1 min, compared to systems using no free chlorine contact time or >1 min contact time. Interestingly, NDPhA was the second most commonly detected nitrosamine (16% of systems). NMor was also detected once. This was the first study to investigate the occurrence of both GC-detectable and GC non-detectable nitrosamines in drinking water across North America.

7.2.3 <u>Chapter 4: RT-CES method development and application to toxicity</u> testing for emerging nitrosamine DBPs

Toxicity data is lacking for the majority of the over 600 identified DBPs.

High-throughput screening techniques are needed to prioritize these DBPs for future research. Real-time cell electronic sensing (RT-CES) monitors changes in cell numbers, size and adhesion using microelectrodes in real time. This technique is label free and can simultaneously monitor 16- or 96-well plates for several days. It has been used previously to test the toxicity of several classes of environmental contaminants [7-9] and has been included as part of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's (U.S. EPA) ToxCast program [10]. In this chapter, I developed an RT-CES method to screen the toxicity of the four nitrosamine DBPs detected in drinking water distribution systems in Chapter 2. Using this method, I screened the cytotoxicity of the four nitrosamines on a panel of four cell lines. The order of sensitivity of the four cell lines to the four nitrosamines was: T24>A549>CHO>HepG2. The differences in sensitivity are likely due to the differing P450 expression within the four cell lines. NDPhA was 10X more cytotoxic than NDMA in all four cell lines; an interesting result considering that NDMA is considered to be one of the most toxic nitrosamines. Further analysis showed that NDMA causes cytotoxicity by causing cell death whereas NDPhA causes cell cycle arrest at G0/G1. NDPhA cannot undergo alphahydroxylation like NDMA, which may account for the different mechanisms of toxicity observed for these two nitrosamines. This is the first report of the effect of NDPhA on the cell cycle.

7.2.4 <u>Chapter 5: Investigation of the formation of N-nitrosamines during</u> <u>water treatment</u>

A number of studies have investigated nitrosamine formation during water treatment. However, these studies typically focus only on NDMA and one or two disinfectants. Thus it is unknown how nitrosamine formation is affected when different disinfectants are applied to the same group of precursors. There is also almost no information on the formation of nitrosamines other than NDMA. I collected source waters from seven locations in North America, representing a range of water quality, and treated them with 11 different disinfectants alone. Using the method developed in Chapter 2, I monitored the reactions for the formation of nine different nitrosamines. Four nitrosamines were detected in the study: NDMA, NDPhA, NMor and NMEA. NDMA was by far the most commonly formed nitrosamine. In general, chloramination produced higher NDMA concentrations than chlorination but this was source water specific. In addition, treatment of precursors with UV or AOP can reduce NDMA concentrations, but application of chlorine following these treatments can re-form NDMA. This study demonstrated how important source water quality is in determining NDMA formation.

Only a few treatments produced NDPhA making it difficult to obtain any insights into its formation. Therefore I took a closer look at NDPhA formation. Based on itschemical structure, I predicted diphenylamine (DPhA) as the precursor for NDPhA formation. I first confirmed that DPhA existed in the source water, then demonstrated that DPhA is an NDPhA precursor and that monochloramine is more important for NDPhA formation than dichloramine. This

is different from NDMA formation which has been shown to form from dichloramine. Chloramination of diphenylamine also produced two other DBPs, which were identified as phenazine and N-chlorophenazine. Phenazine and Nchlorophenazine had not been reported as DBPs previously.

7.2.5 <u>Chapter 6: Formation of N-DBPs from bacterial precursors</u> Following the identification of phenazine and N-chlorophenazine in

Chapter 5, I further investigated the formation of these two DBPs. Phenazine containing compounds are likely to be precursors for these DBPs in addition to DPhA. Phenazines are available in the environment anthropogenically and are produced by some bacterial species. *Psuedomonas fluorescens* is one type of bacteria that produces phenazine-containing natural products. It is present in the environment and in distribution system biofilms possibly providing a source of precursors in the distribution system. Little is known about the formation of DBPs from microorganisms. Some studies have shown DBP formation from algae, but the effect of bacterial precursors on DBP formation is largely unknown. To investigate this, P. fluorescens was disinfected with chloramine which resulted in the production of N-chlorophenazine. This confirmed that bacteria can serve as DBP precursors. N-chlorophenazine was not observed when P. fluorescens was treated with chlorine. Instead, other peaks were observed which display a chlorine isotope pattern. This suggests the formation of other chlorinated phenazines, although their exact structures require further confirmation.

7.3 Conclusions

The N-nitrosamines are one class of DBPs with sufficient potency to cause health effects at low ng/L concentrations. My work has produced new knowledge and expanded on the existing studies in several ways. I identified a new nitrosamine DBP, NDPhA, which is not directly detectable using common GCbased screening techniques. I showed that NDPhA is 10 times more cytotoxic than NDMA in *in vitro* toxicity tests and exerts its toxicity in a manner distinct from other nitrosamines. My results show that NDPhA was the second most commonly detected nitrosamine in a study of North American drinking water, suggesting it should be taken into account when considering exposure to nitrosamines in drinking water.

My work on nitrosamine formation demonstrated that source water and the type of disinfectants are the key factors in determining nitrosamine formation. Every disinfection process creates its own suite of DBPs, and small changes in the disinfection process may reduce the concentrations of certain DBPs but will produce other DBPs which may be more or less toxic. For example, changes in chlorine contact time will affect NDMA formation; pH changes may reduce NDPhA formation but increase the concentration of phenazine containing DBPs. Changing disinfection procedures to reduce formation of a particular DBP is much easier than changing the source water. However, my results clearly demonstrate the need for individual water systems to thoroughly evaluate the effect of changes in the treatment train on DBP formation.

The precursor content of source water is also extremely important in determining DBP formation. My nitrosamine formation study showed that application of chloramines did not guarantee nitrosamine formation. However, no strong relationships were found between general source water parameters and nitrosamine formation potential. Our finding that DPhA may serve as a precursor for several different classes of DBPs (NDPhA and phenazines) further demonstrates the complicated nature of DBP formation. Identification of precursor sources, such as bacteria for N-chlorophenazine, may help to determine what types of DBPs might form during water disinfection. In addition, protection of source water contamination from agriculture, industry, and algal blooms to reduce the amount of available precursors will also help reduce DBPs in treated water.

Finally, my work has demonstrated the usefulness of utilizing new technologies for DBP research. I demonstrated that LC-MS/MS can detect a wider range of nitrosamines in drinking water at concentrations comparable to GC-MS. This will allow for better characterization of nitrosamines in drinking water which will aid exposure assessment. I also demonstrated the usefulness of high throughput cell sensing techniques in assessing the cytotoxicity of new DBPs.

7.4 Future Research

The public health concerns surrounding the presence of DBPs in drinking water are valid due to the large number of people who use tap water each day. However, the DBP or DBPs responsible for the increased risk of bladder cancer has not been identified. My results, along with other studies, indicate that

nitrosamines are not widespread enough in tap water to be solely responsible for the increased bladder cancer risk. For the select locations where nitrosamine concentrations are elevated, it will be important to monitor these locations and attempt to reduce their nitrosamine concentrations. Interest in nitrosamines remains high and many jurisdictions are in the process or have already implemented NDMA guidelines or regulations in drinking water.

The search for the DBP responsible for the observed increased bladder cancer risk will continue. Therefore a cautious outlook of reducing overall DBP formation will help until the ultimate culprit is determined. The role of distribution system biofilms in contributing to DBP formation should be investigated, as this could provide a significant source of DBP precursors. The need for rapid toxicity testing of new DBPs, including mechanistic data, is still necessary for most currently identified DBPs. Further investigation of the toxicity of DBP mixtures is also warranted as it is likely that the health effects attributed to DBPs may be part of a mixture rather than a single DBP or class of DBPs. In addition, epidemiology studies need to be generated on DBPs other than THMs and HAAs. Due to the issues with obtaining exposure data, this may mean a shift to more prospective cohort studies than case control studies.

Finally, it is important to better translate the knowledge generated within the research community to water treatment operators. If water treatment operators continue to believe that THMs in drinking water will give you cancer, then we risk increasing concentrations of more toxic DBPs in drinking water, or failure to

properly disinfect microbial threats as was seen in Walkerton. The provision of clean, microbially safe water must remain the ultimate goal of water treatment.

7.5 References

- California Department of Public Health. A brief history of NDMA findings in drinking water. <u>http://www.cdph.ca.gov/certlic/drinkingwater/Pages/NDMAhistory.aspx</u> Accessed: November 12, 2007.
- 2. Charrois, J. W. A.; Arend, M. W.; Froese, K. L.; Hrudey, S. E. Detecting *N*-nitrosamines in drinking water at nanogram per liter levels using ammonia positive chemical ionization. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, (18), 4835-4841.
- 3. Boyd, J. M.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. F.; Richardson, S. D. Solid-phase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatography mass spectrometry analysis of nitrosamines in treated drinking water and wastewater. *Trends Anal. Chem.* **2011**, *30*, (9), 1410-1421.
- 4. Munch, J. W.; Bassett, M. V. *Determination of nitrosamines in drinking water by solid phase extraction and capillary column gas chromatography with large volume injection and chemical ionization tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS)*. Method 521, Version 1; National Exposure Research Laboratory, Office of Research and Development, United States Environmental Protection Agency: Cincinnati, OH, 2004; pp 47.
- 5. Barrett, S.; Hwang, C.; Guo, Y.; Andrews, S. A.; Valentine, R. L. Occurrence of NDMA in drinking water: A North American Survey, 2001-2002. *Proceedings of the American Water Works Association Annual Conference*, Anaheim, CA, 2003.
- 6. Charrois, J. W. A.; Boyd, J. M.; Froese, K. L.; Hrudey, S. E. Occurrence of N-nitrosamines in Alberta public drinking-water distribution systems. *J. Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2007**, *6*, 103-114.
- Xing, J. Z.; Zhu, L.; Gabos, S.; Xie, L. Microelectronic cell sensor assay for detection of cytotoxicity and prediction of acute toxicity. *Toxicol. in Vitro* 2006, 20, (6), 995-1004.
- Xing, J. Z.; Zhu, L.; Jackson, J. A.; Gabos, S.; Sun, X. J.; Wang, X. B.; Xu, X. Dynamic monitoring of cytotoxicity on microelectronic sensors. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 2005, 18, (2), 154-161.
- 9. Xiao, C.; Luong, J. H. T. Assessment of cytotoxicity by emerging impedance spectroscopy. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **2005**, *206*, (2), 102-112.

Judson, R. S.; Houck, K. A.; Kavlock, R. J.; Knudsen, T. B.; Martin, M. T.; Mortensen, H. M.; Reif, D. M.; Rotroff, D. M.; Shah, I.; Richard, A. M.; Dix, D. J. *In vitro* screening of environmental chemicals for targeted testing prioritization: The ToxCast project. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 2010, *118*, (4), 485-492.